CEPHALOPODS FROM THE CRETACEOUS/TERTIARY BOUNDARY INTERVAL ON THE ATLANTIC COASTAL PLAIN, WITH A DESCRIPTION OF THE HIGHEST AMMONITE ZONES IN NORTH AMERICA. PART 2. NORTHEASTERN MONMOUTH COUNTY, NEW JERSEY

NEIL H. LANDMAN

Division of Paleontology (Invertebrates) American Museum of Natural History (landman@amnh.org)

RALPH O. JOHNSON

Monmouth Amateur Paleontologist's Society 57 Oceanport Avenue, West Long Branch, NJ 07764 (paleotrog@webtv.net)

LUCY E. EDWARDS

U.S. Geological Survey Mail Stop 926A, Reston, VA 20192 (leedward@usgs.gov)

BULLETIN OF THE AMERICAN MUSEUM OF NATURAL HISTORY CENTRAL PARK WEST AT 79TH STREET, NEW YORK, NY 10024 Number 287, 107 pp., 41 figures, 8 tables Issued October 28, 2004

Copyright © American Museum of Natural History 2004

ISSN 0003-0090

CONTENTS

Abstract	. 3
Introduction	. 3
Stratigraphic Setting	. 4
Navesink Formation	. 5
Red Bank Formation	. 5
Tinton Formation	. 6
New Egypt Formation	. 6
Hornerstown Formation	. 6
Previous Reports of Ammonites	. 7
List of Localities	. 7
Methods	. 8
Description of New Localities	. 9
Lithostratigraphic Relationships	19
Molluscan Biostratigraphy	21
Dinoflagellate Biostratigraphy	23
Background	23
Occurrences of Dinoflagellates	25
Biostratigraphic Synthesis	30
Iridium Analysis	31
Strontium Analysis	31
Cretaceous/Tertiary Boundary	32
Main Fossiliferous Laver	34
Discoscaphites iris Zone	37
Paleogeography at the K/T Boundary	39
Systematic Paleontology	39
Conventions	39
Genus Futrenhoceras Hvatt 1894	41
Futrenhoceras dekavi (Morton 1834)	41
Genus Sphenodiscus Meek 1871	50
Sphenodiscus pleurisenta (Conrad 1857)	50
Sphenodiscus Iobatus (Tuomey 1856)	51
Sphenodiscus spn	55
Genus Fuhaculitas Spath 1926	55
Fuhaculitas carinatus (Morton 1834)	55
Eubaculites latecarinatus (Brunnschweiler, 1966)	63
Genus Discoscaphitas Meek 1871	71
Discoscaphitas iris (Conrod 1858)	71
Discoscaphites minardi Londmon et al. 2004	20
Discoscaphites minural Landman et al., 2004	02
Discoscaphites guiosus (Monoli, 1654)	92
Acknowledgments	94
Deferences	93 06
Appandix 1	90 104
Appendix 1	100

ABSTRACT

The sedimentary deposits of the New Jersey Coastal Plain span the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary and reveal a complex stratigraphy in the northeastern part of their outcrop belt. Newly discovered exposures of the New Egypt Formation in northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey, indicate that a tongue of this formation, previously thought to be restricted in outcrop to southwestern Monmouth County, extends to the northeast. This formation is sandwiched between the Tinton Formation below and the Hornerstown Formation above. The upper contact is unconformable. Fossils occur in the upper part of the New Egypt Formation and the basal part of the Hornerstown Formation and are concentrated at the formational contactthis accumulation is known as the Main Fossiliferous Layer. The Discoscaphites minardi Assemblage Zone occurs in the New Egypt Formation approximately 2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation and contains Discoscaphites minardi Landman et al., 2004, Discoscaphites sp., Eubaculites carinatus (Morton, 1834), Eubaculites sp., and Eutrephoceras dekayi (Morton, 1834). Associated dinoflagellates include Deflandrea galatea (Lejeune-Carpentier, 1942) Lentin & Williams, 1973, and Thalassiphora pelagica (Eisenack, 1954) Eisenack & Gocht, 1960. The D. minardi Zone represents the middle part of the upper Maastrichtian corresponding to the upper part of calcareous nannofossil Subzone CC26a and the lower part of Subzone CC26b. The Discoscaphites iris Assemblage Zone occurs at the top of the New Egypt Formation in an interval at least 20 cm thick and contains *Discoscaphites iris* (Conrad, 1858), Discoscaphites gulosus (Morton, 1834), D. minardi, Eubaculites latecarinatus (Brunnschweiler, 1966), E. carinatus, Sphenodiscus pleurisepta (Conrad, 1857), Sphenodiscus sp., and Eutrephoceras dekayi. Associated dinoflagellates include Palynodinium grallator Gocht, 1970, and T. pelagica. The D. iris Zone represents the uppermost Maastrichtian, corresponding to the upper part of calcareous nannofossil Zone CC26b. The basal beds of the Hornerstown Formation contain a mixed assemblage of Cretaceous and Paleocene fossils. Paleocene dinoflagellates include Carpatella cornuta Grigorovich, 1969, and Senoniasphaera inornata (Drugg, 1970) Stover & Evitt, 1978, and suggest that these beds correspond to planktonic for a price for a price of the at the formational contact but a dinoflagellate specimen with pockmarked damage consistent with melting is present in the top of the New Egypt Formation. The formational contact spans the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary but probably contains a hiatus of approximately 100 k.y. All of the Cretaceous fossils in the Main Fossiliferous Layer are reworked from the upper New Egypt Formation and reflect a period of erosion and winnowing, perhaps related to changes in sea level as well as events associated with the bolide impact at the end of the Cretaceous. Subsequently and simultaneously, the sea floor experienced extensive bioturbation, which may have further reworked fossils. Elsewhere on the Gulf and Atlantic Coastal Plain, the D. iris Zone also occurs immediately below the K/T boundary and is truncated by an erosional unconformity, commonly with reworked material in the overlying beds. The geographic distribution of the D. iris Zone and cores spanning the K/T boundary on the Gulf and Atlantic Coastal Plains help approximate the coastline of North America at that time and indicate a broad Mississippi embayment. However, there is no firm evidence that the Western Interior Seaway persisted until the end of the Cretaceous.

INTRODUCTION

The Monmouth Group of New Jersey consists of a sequence of formations that crop out in a narrow northeast–southwest belt across the center of the state (fig. 1). The formations are Campanian to Maastrichtian in age and represent a transgressive-regressive cycle showing a transition from middle shelf, glauconitic clays to upper-to-lower shoreface, quartzose sands (Owens and Sohl, 1969). The classic sequence consists of, in ascending stratigraphic order, the Mount Laurel Formation, the Navesink Formation, the Red Bank Formation, and the Tinton Formation (fig. 2). The New Egypt Formation has been interpreted as the downdip equivalent of the Red Bank and Tinton formations (Koch and Olsson, 1977). The Tinton Formation is overlain unconformably by the Hornerstown Formation, the basal member of the Rancocas Group.

The Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary has been identified at the base of the Horners-





Fig. 1. Map of parts of New Jersey and Maryland showing localities mentioned in text.

town Formation using macro- and microfossils (Minard et al., 1969; Gallagher, 1993; Olsson et al., 1997). However, the precise position of this boundary has been debated. A rich fauna of vertebrates and invertebrates occurs at the base of the Hornerstown Formation and has been dubbed the "Bone Bed" (Koch and Olsson, 1977) or Main Fossiliferous Layer (Gallagher, 1993).

In this paper, the second in a series of four papers on Maastrichtian ammonites from the Atlantic Coastal Plain, we investigate the lithostratigraphic and biostratigraphic relationships among the Upper Cretaceous strata of New Jersey based on newly discovered exposures in northeastern Monmouth County. We reexamine the position of the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary and discuss the origin of the Main Fossiliferous Layer. We are particularly interested in the cephalopods in the upper part of the New Egypt Formation and the base of the Hornerstown Formation. These beds contain an unexpectedly rich fauna of *Discoscaphites*, all the more astonishing because only one specimen of this genus was known from New Jersey prior to this study (Kennedy et al., 2000). These ammonites represent the *Discoscaphites iris* Assemblage Zone, the highest ammonite zone in North America.

STRATIGRAPHIC SETTING

Doing geologic fieldwork in New Jersey today is challenging. Because of the spread of urbanization, fewer and fewer outcrops of Upper Cretaceous strata are available for study. In addition, the outcrops that exist are invariably small and discontinuous, making it very difficult to locate oneself within a section and to correlate with other, equally small, isolated outcrops. Furthermore, most of the historically important fossils described in the 19th century were collected at sites of mining operations for greensand (Gallagher, 1995). All of these sites, with one notable



Mount Laurel Fm

Fig. 2. Standard stratigraphic sequence of part of the Upper Cretaceous and Lower Tertiary succession in Monmouth County, New Jersey (reproduced from Olsson, 1987). In earlier interpretations (Olsson, 1963), the New Egypt Formation was also considered to be equivalent to parts of the Hornerstown and Navesink formations.

exception, the Inversand Pit at Sewell, Gloucester County, are now closed.

The Upper Cretaceous stratigraphy of New Jersey has been worked out over the last nearly 150 years (see Gallagher, 1993, for a list of the classic references). We review below the formations in the upper part of the Monmouth Group and lower part of the Rancocas Group to provide a background for our study (fig. 2).

NAVESINK FORMATION

The Navesink Formation crops out in a number of localities in Monmouth County, where it is a burrow-mottled, light to dark gray, glauconitic, clayey sand to sandy clay. According to Olsson (1963: 649), it is approximately 10–11.5 m thick in the northern portion of the Coastal Plain but thins south-

ward to approximately less than 3 m, disappearing altogether north of Delaware. The most common macrofossils are Exogyra costata Say, 1820, Pycnodonte convexa (Say, 1820), Agerostrea mesenterica (Morton, 1834), Choristothyris plicata (Say, 1820), and Belemnitella americana (Morton, 1830). A pervasive layer of reworked phosphatic internal molds occurs at the base of the formation (Cobban, 1974; Kennedy et al., 2000). In northeastern Monmouth County, the Navesink Formation grades upward into the Sandy Hook Member of the Red Bank Formation. In the Crosswicks Creek Drainage, southwestern Monmouth County, the Navesink Formation grades upward into the New Egypt Formation (Olsson, 1963). Gallagher (1993) identified the Navesink Formation at the Inversand Pit, Gloucester County, but pointed out that the lithology at this site is different from that of the Navesink Formation in northeastern Monmouth County. Koch and Olsson (1977), whose usage we follow, called the unit at the Inversand Pit the New Egypt Formation (see below). Olsson (1975) interpreted the Navesink Formation as a transgressive deposit that accumulated on the midshelf.

RED BANK FORMATION

The Red Bank Formation is restricted to northeastern Monmouth County. Olsson (1960) divided it into two members, the Sandy Hook Member below and the Shrewsbury Member above. The Sandy Hook Member is approximately 3-11.5 m thick and is a dark gray, micaecous, silty, fine grained, feldspathic quartz sand (Olsson, 1963). Macrofossils occur as original shells and as internal molds. Olsson (1975) interpreted this member as a regressive unit that was deposited on the inner to midshelf. The Sandy Hook Member grades downward into the Navesink Formation and upward into the Shrewsbury Member. The Shrewsbury Member is approximately 33 m thick and is a fine- to medium-grained, micaceous, feldspathic quartz sand (Olsson, 1963). It is bright yellowish to reddish brown on weathered exposures, but dark gray on fresh exposures. It contains few fossils, probably due to poor preservation.

TINTON FORMATION

The Tinton Formation is a glauconitic quartz sand. It is reddish brown to yellowish brown in weathered outcrops but blackish gray in unweathered outcrops (Minard et al., 1969). It is commonly cemented and encrusted by iron oxide. Minard et al. (1969) estimated the thickness of the Tinton Formation as approximately 6.5 m at its type locality near Tinton Falls, Monmouth County, and described it as grading downward into the Red Bank Formation. In contrast, Sugarman et al. (1995) described the lower contact as disconformable, which more closely agrees with our own observations. The Tinton Formation is well exposed in the northeastern part of Monmouth County but is also present in the Manasquan River Drainage, central Monmouth County, where it is characterized by siderite nodules in its upper part (Landman et al., in prep. a). This type of lithology extends to the northeastern reaches of the Crosswicks Creek Drainage, but the Tinton Formation is rapidly replaced toward the southwest by the New Egypt Formation (Landman et al., in prep. b). The Tinton Formation contains internal molds of molluscs, crab claws, and the trace fossil Ophiomorpha at its type locality but is much more fossiliferous in the Manasquan River Drainage (Landman et al., in prep. a). Olsson (1975) interpreted the Tinton Formation as having been deposited in an inner shelf environment.

NEW EGYPT FORMATION

The New Egypt Formation was first defined by Olsson in 1960 and described more fully by him in 1963 for outcrops in the New Egypt area along the banks of Crosswicks Creek and its tributaries. The New Egypt Formation is dark gray, glauconitic, clayey sand to sandy clay. Siderite nodules occur in certain layers and mica and lignite are common minor constituents. The formation is approximately 10-10.5 m thick in the Crosswicks Creek area and thins to the south (Olsson, 1963). It conformably overlies the Navesink Formation and unconformably underlies the Hornerstown Formation. The New Egypt Formation has not been reported in northeastern Monmouth County (but see below).

Olsson (1963) originally interpreted the New Egypt Formation as equivalent in age to the Navesink, Red Bank, Tinton, and Hornerstown formations and representing a deeper-water facies of these units. Gallagher (1986: 15) followed this interpretation and stated that the New Egypt Formation referred to "the down-dip facies of the Navesink, Redbank, Tinton, and Hornerstown formations or to the exposures along Crosswicks Creek in the New Egypt type area in southern Monmouth County." Olsson (1987: fig. 2) later restricted the New Egypt Formation to only the downdip equivalent of the Tinton and Red Bank formations (fig. 2).

Lithologically, the New Egypt Formation closely resembles the Navesink Formation, making it difficult to distinguish between these two units. However, the Navesink Formation is light gray in color, with a slightly coarser matrix and a little more glauconite than the New Egypt Formation. The New Egypt Formation is commonly brownish in color, which gives the formation its informal name of "Chocolate Marl". Siderite is restricted to the basal portion of the Navesink Formation whereas it occurs throughout much of the New Egypt Formation. Outcrops southwest of the Crosswicks Creek area closely match the lithology of the New Egypt Formation in its type locality, whereas the typical Navesink lithology appears to be limited in outcrop to Monmouth County, although scattered outcrops of it may exist to the southwest.

HORNERSTOWN FORMATION

The Hornerstown Formation is burrowmottled, glauconitic clayey sand. The abundant glauconite produces a dark greenish color, giving the formation its informal name of "Greensand Marl". The Hornerstown Formation is a persistent unit that can be traced along the entire outcrop belt from Monmouth County, New Jersey, to Maryland (Minard et al., 1969). Olsson (1963) interpreted the formation as having been deposited in midneritic depths. Minard (1969) estimated that the Hornerstown Formation is approximately 1.5–5 m thick in northeastern Monmouth County and approximately 10 m thick in the Crosswicks Creek area. Olsson (1963) stated 2004 LANDMAN ET AL.: ATLANTIC COASTAL CEPHALOPODS. PART 2

that the Hornerstown Formation unconformably overlies the Tinton Formation in northeastern Monmouth County and unconformably overlies the New Egypt Formation in the New Egypt area as well as at the Inversand Pit. The base of the Hornerstown Formation contains a concentrated fossil bed known as the "Bone Bed" (Koch and Olsson, 1977) or "Main Fossiliferous Layer" or "MFL" for short (Gallagher, 1993).

PREVIOUS REPORTS OF AMMONITES

Several ammonite species have been reported from the upper Maastrichtian strata of New Jersey. Kennedy and Cobban (1996: fig. 2.4-2.6, 2.13, 2.14, 2.19-2.21) reported fragments of Sphenodiscus lobatus (Tuomey, 1856) from the Inversand Pit near Sewell, Gloucester County. Internal molds of this species also occur in the New Egypt Formation at Crosswicks Creek, southwestern Monmouth County (Olsson, 1963; Kennedy et al., 2000), the upper part of the Navesink Formation (New Egypt Formation according to our usage) and the basal part of the Hornerstown Formation at the Florentine Pit, southwestern Monmouth County (Minard et al., 1969), and the Tinton Formation, northeastern Monmouth County (Weller, 1907: pl. 106, figs. 1, 2; Reeside, 1962: pl. 75, fig. 3; Olsson, 1963; Minard et al., 1969; Gallagher, 1993; Kennedy et al., 1995). Kennedy et al. (1995) stated that this species is also present in the Red Bank Formation, but to our knowledge, no such specimens exist.

Kennedy and Cobban (1996: figs. 2.1–2.3, 3.4–3.6) described eight specimens of Baculites spp., seven from the Inversand Pit and one from the base of the Hornerstown Formation on the west bank of Crosswicks Creek, southwestern Monmouth County. Kennedy et al. (2000: fig. 7A-F) reported three specimens of Baculites sp., two from the Inversand Pit and one from near the base of the New Egypt Formation at a nearby outcrop along the banks of Chestnut Branch Creek, near Sewell, Gloucester County. Additional baculites from the Inversand Pit are housed in the collections of the New Jersey State Museum. Kennedy and Cobban (1996: fig. 3.1-3.3, 3.7-3.12) reported three specimens of Eubaculites carinatus (Morton, 1834) from an unspecified site in New Jersey inferred by them to be from the base of the Hornerstown Formation. Olsson (1963: 646, NJT51) also reported this species from the New Egypt Formation in a south-flowing tributary of Lahaway Creek in the northern portion of the New Egypt area. Minard et al. (1969) identified *Baculites* sp. and what they called *Baculites columna* from the base of the Hornerstown Formation at approximately this same site.

Kennedy and Cobban (1996: fig. 2.7–2.12, 2.15–2.18) described fragments of *Pachydiscus* (*Neodesmoceras*) mokotibensis (Collignon, 1952) from the Main Fossiliferous Layer at the Inversand Pit. Kennedy et al. (2000: fig. 9G–I) reported a single specimen of *Discoscaphites gulosus* (Morton, 1834) from the spoil pile at the Inversand Pit, which, on the basis of its preservation, was probably derived from the lower part of the New Egypt Formation (W. Gallagher, personal commun., 2003; mistakenly listed as *Discoscaphites conradi* [Morton, 1834] in Gallagher [2002: appendix]).

LIST OF LOCALITIES

The localities mentioned in the text are shown in Figures 1 and 3 and are described below. Numbers in parentheses are U.S. Geological Survey Paleobotanical localities.

AMNH loc. 3345 (R6234A–D). Upper part of the New Egypt Formation and lower part of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, including a small side tributary, 0.3 km east of Rt. 35, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. R6234D: 5– 10 cm below the base of the Hornerstown Formation; R6234C: 0–5 cm below the base of the Hornerstown Formation; R6234A: 0– 5 cm above the base of the Hornerstown Formation; R6234B: 5–10 cm above the base of the Hornerstown Formation.

AMNH loc. 3346 (R6234E). New Egypt Formation, approximately 1.5–2.0 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, 0.1 km east of Rt. 35, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

AMNH loc. 3347. New Egypt Formation, approximately 1.5–2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, 0.3



Fig. 3. Detailed locality map of northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey, showing the areal extent of the New Egypt Formation (Kne) and its contact with the underlying Tinton formation (Kt) and overlying Hornerstown Formation (Tht). Numbers correspond to those in the list of localities.

km east of Hope Road, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

AMNH loc. 3348 (R6234H). Tinton Formation, Hockhockson Brook, 0.2 km north of the intersection of Water Street and Tinton Avenue, including a temporary construction site for widening the Garden State Parkway, approximately 1.25 km downstream, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

AMNH loc. 3349 (R6234G). Upper part of the Tinton Formation and lower part of the New Egypt Formation, Hockhockson Brook, 0.5 km southwest of the intersection of Water Street and Tinton Avenue, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

AMNH loc. 3350. New Egypt Formation, southern tributary to Hockhockson Brook, 0.7 km southwest of the intersection of Water Street and Tinton Avenue, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

AMNH loc. 3375. New Egypt Formation, east-flowing tributary to Parkers Creek, 0.3 km east of Rt. 35, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

AMNH loc. 3376. Tinton Formation, eastflowing tributary to Parkers Creek, 0.6 km east of Rt. 35, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

METHODS

Fossils were recovered at the outcrop by hand picking and by sieving. Where possible, the fossiliferous beds were exposed by creating a bench. Screwdrivers were used to break off chunks of rock about 15–20 cm in size to reveal fossils. Unproductive chunks and smaller pieces were then sieved with water using a screen with 1/4-in. mesh. In some instances, window screens were used to recover finer material. Fossils were subsequently fixed with a solution of Elmer's glue and water or Alvar and acetone.

2004

Samples for sedimentological, geochemical, and microfossil analyses were taken at 5-cm intervals across the outcrop using plastic spoons. For the sedimentological analysis, a portion of sediment was dried out and approximately 15 g were removed for weighing. The weighed sample was placed in 100 ml of calgon solution (3 g/1000 ml deionized water) and left for several days. The sample was then sonified in distilled water and rinsed through a series of three screens with 0.25-mm, 0.125-mm, and 0.0625-mm mesh. If large clumps of mud remained after screening, the sediment was further disaggregated by stirring and crushing with a plastic utensil under a binocular microscope. The process of crushing, sonifying, and rinsing was repeated until the water of the sonified sample was clear to slightly turbid-but not opaque-after several minutes of sonifying. Finally, the sediment on each of the three screens was transferred to filter paper for drying for several days and then weighed. The results are reported as mud (X < 0.0625mm), very fine sand (0.0625 mm $\leq X <$ 0.125 mm), fine sand (0.125 mm $\leq X < 0.25$ mm), and medium sand ($X \ge 0.25$ mm). For the mineralogical analysis, approximately 100 grains within each size fraction were examined under the microscope. The number of grains of glauconitic minerals, mica, and other minerals (quartz, etc.) was counted and reported as a percentage of the total.

Aliquots of dried sediment were also analyzed for total and particulate organic carbon using a Carlo Erba CHN Analyzer. Analytical error based on instrumentation blanks and replicate analyses was 2%. Carbon is expressed as a percentage of the total mass of dried sediment (mean \pm 1 standard deviation of the replicate). The total carbon includes both organic carbon and carbon in calicum carbonate. Samples were subsequently acidified, dried, and reanalyzed to determine the percentage of organic carbon.

DESCRIPTION OF NEW LOCALITIES

On the basis of small, discontinuous, but closely spaced outcrops, we assembled a composite stratigraphic section near Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County. This section was pieced together by taking into account the angle of dip (25 ft/mi for Cretaceous strata in New Jersey; Gallagher, personal commun., 2003) and walking out stream exposures over approximately 7 km². The section consists of, in ascending stratigraphic order, the Tinton Formation, the New Egypt Formation, and the Hornerstown Formation, which are approximately 6.5 m, 5-6.5 m, and 6.5–10 m thick, respectively (figs. 4, 5). We collected macrofauna and samples for dinoflagellates. None of the sites preserves nannofossils (J.M. Self-Trail, personal commun., 2003), presumably due to leaching.

The Tinton Formation is exposed at its type locality at AMNH loc. 3348 (approximately 40 ft above sea level). According to Minard et al. (1969), the Tinton Formation is approximately 6.5 m thick at this site but, based on observations of recent construction excavations, it may be slightly thicker. Specimens of Sphenodiscus lobatus and Eutrephoceras dekayi (Morton, 1834) were collected from approximately the middle of the formation. Associated dinoflagellates are moderately diverse with good preservation (table 1, figs. 6-9) and include Deflandrea galatea (Lejeune-Carpentier, 1942) Lentin & Williams, 1973, and Isabelidinium cooksoniae (Alberti, 1959) Lentin & Williams, 1977, sensu lato. No single species dominates.

The exposures at Hockhockson Brook reveal that the streambed is floored by the Tinton Formation. Approximately 0.5–1 m of the New Egypt Formation is visible above 0.5 m of the Tinton Formation at AMNH loc. 3349 (approximately 40 ft above sea level); the contact appears gradational. The dinoflagellates from the upper part of the Tinton Formation and the lower part of the New Egypt Formation are very diverse with good preservation (table 1: figs. 6–9). They include *Deflandrea galatea* and *Thalassiphora pelagica* (Eisenack, 1954) Eisenack & Gocht, 1960. No single species dominates.

In a tributary to Hockhockson Brook



Fig. 4. Comparison of stratigraphic sections at localities in northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey. Numbers correspond to those in the list of localities.

	1																	Biozon	es	
		Lithold	ogy			Ce	ept	nal	opod	s		D	inofl	age	ellate	es	Forams	Nannos	Ammonites	Age
15-	-50 -45	بالا المراجع ا مراجع المراجع ا مراجع المراجع ا	JERSTOWN FM.																	Danian
12-	- 4 0		ATION HORN	1	1 1	1	I	1	I	I	1	nuta –	nata – llator –	I	1		+ P0 – Pα	+ CC26b	+ Discoscaphites iris	~~~~
9-	-35	الم المراجع ال مواطق المراجع ال مواطق المراجع ال	PT FORM/	aphites iris	es gulosus tes minardi –	s carinatus -	tecarinatus	aculites sp	oleurisepta	us sp. –	• 	arpatella col	sphaera inor odinium gral	,	1			- CC26a/b	minardi	
	-25	1	NEW EGY	Discosc	Discoscaphil Discoscaphi	Eubaculite	ubaculites la	Eub	ohenodiscus	Sphenodisc			Senonia Palvi	•	1					ıtian
6-	-20 -15		IATION				ш		б					ra pelagica –	1					Maastrich (late)
3-	-10		ON FORM						- snos		- Seras			Thalassipho	idria – a vium –	ie s.l.		→ CC25b		
Meters	Feet	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	TINT						Sphenodi	SUDDIN	Eutrephoc			1	Deflar galate Isabalidir	cooksoni				

Fig. 5. Composite stratigraphic section of the Tinton, New Egypt, and Hornerstown Formations near Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County, showing the distribution of cephalopods and dinoflagellates (non-reworked) with respect to the standard zonation of foraminifera, nannofossils, and ammonites.

(AMNH loc. 3350), approximately 2–2.5 m of the New Egypt Formation are exposed without any trace of the Tinton Formation. A fragment of *Sphenodiscus* sp. was recovered. We estimate that the top of this exposure lies 2–2.5 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation. Approximately 100 m upstream, the lower part of the Hornerstown Formation is visible but is very weathered. (When a large government building, now abandoned, was constructed nearby, the Hornerstown Formation was abundantly exposed at this site.)

At AMNH loc. 3347, approximately 1.0 m of the New Egypt Formation is exposed; we

estimate that the base of this section is approximately 1.5–2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation but the contact is not visible, and, thus, its precise stratigraphic position is unknown. We recovered a specimen of *Discoscaphites minardi* Landman et al., 2004, from this site.

In a tributary to Parkers Creek (AMNH locs. 3375 and 3376), the Tinton Formation is exposed below the New Egypt Formation. AMNH locs. 3345 and 3346 at Parkers Creek (approximately 10 ft above sea level) reveal the upper portion of the New Egypt Formation and the lower portion of the Hornerstown Formation. AMNH loc. 3346 exposes

Occurrences of Dinocyst Laxa Irom Normea	stern Mon		unty, Ne	w Jersey			
Taxon	3348 R6234H	3349 R6234G	3346 R6234E	3345 R6234D	3345 R6234C	3345 R6234A	3345 R6234B
? Andalusiella rhombohedra of Edwards et al. (1984)	×		×				
Alisocysta circumtabulata (Drugg, 1967) Stover & Evitt, 1978				Х			
Alisogymnium/Dinogymnium sp.		×	X	Х	Х		
Amphorosphaeridium/Cordosphaeridium complex				Х			
Areoligera senonensis Lejeune-Carpentier, 1938, species complex			х				
Areoligera/Glaphyrocysta complex	×	Х					
Carpatella cornuta Grigorovich, 1969						Х	ż
Cerodinium striatum/diebelii complex	×	X	x		X		
Circulodinium distinctum (Deflandre & Cookson, 1955) Jansonius, 1986, species complex	×	Х	X				
Conneximura fimbriata May, 1980			×				
Cordosphaeridium fibrospinosum Davey & Williams, 1966		×	×				
Cribroperidinium giuseppei (Morgenroth, 1966) Helenes, 1984				Х	X	Х	x
Cribroperidinium sp.					×		
Cribroperidinium spp. (includes C. edwardsi/wetzelii/ventriosum complex)	×	X	×				
Deflandrea galatea (Lejeune-Carpentier, 1942) Lentin & Williams, 1973	×	Х	x	×	X	Х	×
Disphaerogena carposphaeropsis Wetzel, 1933 (= Cyclapophysis monmouthensis)				Х	Х	Х	×
Fibradinium aff. F. annetorpense Morgenroth, 1968		Х					
Fibradinium annetorpense Morgenroth, 1968				X			
Fibrocysta axialis (Eisenack, 1965) Stover & Evitt, 1978				X			
Fibrocysta/Damassadinium intergrades					X	X	×
Fromea fragilis (Cookson & Eisenack, 1962) Stover & Evitt, 1978		X	x				
Glaphyrocysta spp.			×				
Glaphyrocysta expansa (Corradini, 1973) Roncaglia & Corradini, 1997							
(? = G. perforata sensu Schiøler et al., 1997)	×		Х	×	X	Х	×
Hafniasphaera fluens Hansen, 1977		Х			×		×
Hafniasphaera sp.				Х			
Histiocysta ? variornata Slimani, 1994				×			
Hystrichosphaeridium tubiferum (Ehrenberg, 1838) Deflandre, 1937	×	ė	X				
Impagidinium cristatum (May, 1980) Lentin & Williams, 1981				×			
Impagidinium sp.		×	×				
Isabelidinium cooksoniae (Alberti, 1959) Lentin & Williams, 1977, sensu lato ^c	x						
Kallosphaeridium sp.			x				
Kleithriasphaeridium truncatum (Benson, 1976) Stover & Evitt, 1978					×		

	3348	3349	3346	3345	3345	3345	3345
Tàxon	R6234H	R6234G	K6234E	K6234D	R6234C	K6234A	K6234B
Manumiella seelandica (Lange, 1969) Bujak & Davies, 1983				РX		×	
Membranigonyaulax wilsonii Slimani, 1994		×					
Membranosphaera maastrichtica Samoilovich & Mtchedlishvili, 1961	×	Х					
Microdinium marheineckei Slimani, 1994		X					
Operculodinium/Fibrocysta axialis complex		X	X	X		×	×
Palaeocystodinium australinum (Cookson, 1965) Lentin & Williams, 1976, species complex			Х		X		
Palaeocystodinium sp.	×	X					
Paleoperidinium sp.		X					
Palaeotetradinium caudatum (Benson, 1976) Stover & Evitt, 1978		X					
Palynodinium grallator Gocht, 1970				×	X	×	×
Pervosphaeridium tubuloaculeatum Slimani, 1994				X			
Phelodinium magnificum (Stanley, 1965) Stover & Evitt, 1978, species complex					X		×
Piercites pentagonum (May, 1980) Habib & Drugg, 1987		X	X	Х	×		
Pithonella ? sp. (cf. Hultberg's)							×
Senoniasphaera inornata (Drugg, 1970) Stover & Evitt, 1978							×
Spinidinium ? clavus Harland, 1973	×			Х			
Spinidinium echinoideum (Cookson & Eisenack, 1960) Lentin & Williams, 1976		X					
Spiniferites sp.	×	Х	X	X	×		x
Systematophora placacantha (Deflandre & Cookson, 1955) Davey et al., 1969		Х					
Tanyosphaeridium xanthiopyxides (Wetzel, 1933) Stover & Evitt, 1978		Х					
Thalassiphora pelagica (Eisenack, 1954) Eisenack & Gocht, 1960		Х	Х	X	×	×	
Trithyroidinium sp.				×			
Trithyroidinium striatum Benson, 1976	×						
Turnhosphaera hypoflata (Yun, 1981) Slimani, 1994			Х				
Xenikoon australis Cookson & Eisenack, 1960	×	Х					
Yolkinigynnium elongatum (May, 1977) Lentin & Vozzhennikova, 1990					×		
miscellaneous cladopyxidiaceans	Xe	X°	Х		×		Xe
miscellaneous small peridiniceans	X	X	x	X	×	x	X
åQaa liet of honalitiae in tavt							

F TABLE 1

^aSee list of localities in text. ^bOperculum only.

^cIncluding smooth and verrucate forms. ^dIncluding specimen with distinctive star-pocked damage. ^eIncluding *Microdinium* sp. A of Slimani (1994).



Fig. 6. Dinoflagellates from USGS Paleobotan. loc. R6234H, Tinton Formation, Hochhockson Brook, 0.2 km north of the intersection of Water Street and Tinton Avenue, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey. A–E. Isabelidinium cooksoniae (Alberti, 1959) Lentin & Williams, 1977 sensu lato.

approximately 1 m of the New Egypt Formation; we estimate that the base of this section is approximately 1.5–2.0 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation by reference to the exposure containing the formational contact 100 m downstream. AMNH loc. 3345 exposes 0.2 m of the New Egypt Formation below 0.6 m of the Hornerstown Formation.

The formational contact at AMNH loc. 3345 is sharp and unconformable and consists of an uneven, highly burrowed surface bounding the chocolate brown of the New Egypt Formation and the dusky green of the Hornerstown Formation (fig. 10). Both the top of the New Egypt Formation and bottom of the Hornerstown Formation are bioturbated. Patches below the contact represent large burrows that have penetrated down into the New Egypt Formation. These burrows are part of an anastomozing three-dimensional network, although only parts of the burrows are exposed in cross section, giving the false impression that they are clasts. The burrows are purple when freshly exposed and dry to a dark greenish black (figs. 10C, 11). They consist of concentrations of large, black to very dark green, shiny, botryoidal glauconite grains, mostly in the form of fecal pellets.

Analysis of the sediments from AMNH locs. 3345 and 3346 indicates a preponderance of mud in both the top of the New Egypt Formation and bottom of the Hornerstown Formation (fig. 12A). At approximately 2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, mud comprises 56% of the sediments with the rest mostly medium sand. The mud fraction remains nearly the same until just below the base, where it drops to 45% and the medium sand fraction increases proportionally. This reflects an increase in the incidence of burrows filled with large glauconite grains near and at the base. Thereafter, the mud fraction increases again, reaching a maximum of nearly 88% at 10-15 cm above the base.

Glauconitic minerals are dominant in the section (fig. 12B). They comprise 70-80% of the sand fraction in the New Egypt Formation and as much as 95% in the Hornerstown Formation. The glaucony is slightly different in the two formations. In the New Egypt Formation, the glauconite grains are mostly black to very dark green but some are yellowish brown. They range in morphology from botryoidal to accordion in shape and show well developed cracking. In contrast, the glauconite grains in the Hornerstown Formation are light to dusky green with smooth surfaces. Mica comprises a maximum of 11% of the sand fraction in the New Egypt Formation but is insignificant in the Hornerstown Formation. The percentage of quartz in the sand fraction is higher in the New Egypt Formation (5-12%) than in the Hornerstown Formation (4–8%). Quartz comprises a maximum of 36% of the very fine sand fraction 30 cm below the base of the Hornerstown Formation. In the New Egypt Formation, the mud component (X <0.0625 mm) is grayish brown in color whereas it is dusky green in the Hornerstown Formation.

Aliquots of dried sediment from 0–5 cm below the base of the Hornerstown Formation and 0–5 cm above it were analyzed for total and particulate organic carbon, as described in the Methods Section. The value of total carbon is 0.69% \pm 0.04 below the base and 0.24% \pm 0.02 above the base. The value of organic carbon (after acidification) is 0.49% \pm 0.04 below the base and 0.18% \pm 0.01 above the base.

We recovered fossils at approximately 1.5–2 m below the formational contact at AMNH loc. 3346. The thickness of this fossil-bearing interval is unclear, and its lower limit is unknown. The fossils are rare, scattered, and poorly preserved. They are internal molds composed of the same material as the matrix itself. Five to 10% of the specimens are phosphatized. The faunal diversity is relatively

 \leftarrow

F, G. Spinidium? clavus Harland, 1973. H–J. Trithyroidinium striatum Benson, 1976. K, L, O, P. Glaphyrocysta spp. M. Circulodinium distinctum (Deflandre & Cookson, 1955) Jansonius, 1986 species complex. N. Xenikoon australis Cookson & Eisenack, 1960. Q. Tanyosphaeridium xanthiopyxides (Wetzel, 1933) Stover & Evitt, 1978.



Fig. 7. Dinoflagellates from northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey. **A**, **B**, **H**, **I**. USGS Paleobotan. loc. R6234E, New Egypt Formation, approximately 1.5–2.0 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, 0.1 km east of Rt. 35, northwest of Eatontown. **C**, **F**, **G**. USGS Paleobotan.

high. The species are listed in table 2 and consist mostly of molluscs including *Discoscaphites minardi* Landman et al., 2004. Dinoflagellates from this interval are moderately abundant with fair to good preservation (table 1; figs. 6–9). No single species dominates. The species include *Deflandrea galatea* and *Thalassiphora pelagica*.

Fossils occur in the top of the New Egypt Formation in an interval at least 20 cm thick at AMNH loc. 3345 (fig. 11). This fossilbearing unit may actually be thicker but the rest of the formation is not exposed at this site. The majority of fossils occur at the formational contact, which constitutes the Main Fossiliferous Layer (MFL) at the base of the Hornerstown Formation, although even here, the fossils are not extremely abundant. Fossils are rare in the basal Hornerstown Formation up to approximately 20 cm above the contact. Most fossils were collected in place but some were found as float in the streambed and may have come from either the top of the New Egypt Formation or the bottom of the Hornerstown Formation.

The diversity of Cretaceous molluscs from the top of the New Egypt Formation and the basal part of the Hornerstown Formation is approximately the same as in the assemblage 1.5–2 m below the contact. The species are listed in table 3 and include *Discoscaphites iris* (Conrad, 1858). The most common fossils in the MFL are baculites and snails. The MFL also contains sharks' teeth and turtle fragments.

All of the molluscs are preserved as internal molds with New Egypt Formation lithology. This applies to specimens from the top of the New Egypt Formation, the MFL, and the basal part of the Hornerstown Formation. There are commonly burrows inside the internal molds composed of concentrations of large glauconite pellets. All of the scaphites and baculites are incomplete. The largest baculite fragment is 75 mm in length but most are smaller. Some baculites retain shell material on their septa and some scaphites retain a very thin layer of shell material on their outer surface. Specimens of *Cucullaea vulgaris* Morton, 1830 generally occur as double valves but never in life position. None of the specimens of *Pycnodonte convexa* is preserved with original shell, contrary to the situation in other exposures of the upper part of the New Egypt Formation (Landman et al., in prep. b).

The fossils in the upper part of the New Egypt Formation show a range in preservation. For example, there are phosphatic nodules with scaphite and baculite impressions. In contrast, the fossils in the MFL and basal part of the Hornerstown Formation show a uniformly robust preservation with only three-dimensional fossils. All of the fossils in the MFL and the basal part of the Hornerstown Formation are phosphatized, whereas only 5–10% of the fossils in the upper part of the New Egypt Formation are phosphatized.

The molluscan species show slightly different vertical distributions above and below the formational contact (fig. 11). The sphenodiscids, mostly fragments, occur as low as 2 cm below the contact, at the contact, and as high as 4.5 cm above the contact. The baculites occur as low as 16 cm below the contact, mostly at the contact, and as high as 4.5 cm above the contact. The discoscaphites occur as low as 18 cm below the contact, at the contact, but not above the contact. *Eutrephoceras dekayi* occurs as low as 8 cm below the contact, mostly at the contact, and as high as 6 cm above the contact. *Cucullaea vulgaris* occurs as low as 17 cm below the con-

 $[\]leftarrow$

loc. R6234D, upper part of the New Egypt Formation, 5–10 cm below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, northwest of Eatontown. **D**, **E**, **J**–L. USGS Paleobotan. loc. R6234C, upper part of the New Egypt Formation, 0–5 cm below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, northwest of Eatontown. **A**, **B**. *Turnhosphaera hypoflata* (Yun, 1981) Slimani, 1994. **C**. *Piercites pentagonum* (May, 1980) Habib & Drugg, 1987. **D**. *Alisogymnium/Dinogymnium* sp. **E**. *Kleithriasphaeridium truncatum* (Benson, 1976) Stover & Evitt, 1978. **F**. *Palynodinium grallator* Gocht, 1970. **G**. *Thalassiphora pelagica* (Eisenack, 1954) Eisenack & Gocht, 1960. **H**, **I**. *Deflandrea galatea* (Lejeune-Carpentier, 1942) Lentin & Williams, 1973. **J–L**. *Disphaerogena carposphaeropsis* Wetzel, 1933.



Fig. 8. Dinoflagellates from USGS Paleobotan. loc. R6234, upper part of the New Egypt Formation and lower part of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, 0.3 km east of Rt. 35, northwest of

tact, at the contact, and as high as 13 cm above the contact.

2004

Some of the discoscaphites in the top of the New Egypt Formation occur in clusters. One cluster consists of 68 specimens (AMNH 47321-47361, 47364, 47380-1,-2,-3, 47381-47396, 47402, 51057-51059, and 51061-51063) and occurs at approximately 13-18 cm below the contact. Of the 68 specimens, 2 are nearly complete, 47 are fragments of body chambers, 4 are pieces of phragmocones, and 16 are chunks of matrix with scaphite impressions. Of this total, 28 specimens are identified as Discoscaphites iris whereas the rest are considered Discoscaphites spp., mostly because they are too fragmentary for specific identification. It is difficult to assess the actual number of adults in the cluster because some pieces may fit together in theory, but this is not evident in practice. A minimum estimate is 20 adults, represented by those specimens complete enough to identify the dimorph. A maximum estimate is more than double that (49 adults), represented by all specimens with body chamber fragments. The actual number is probably midway between these two estimates (35), assuming that some pieces of body chambers fit together and that they all belong to the same species.

Another cluster of discoscaphites consists of five pieces of body chambers, all microconchs of *Discoscaphites iris* (AMNH 47308, 47363, 51055, and MAPS A2060a2 and A2060a3), and occurs 1–3 cm below the contact. Both of these clusters may have originated due to burrowing activities of other organisms after the death of the scaphites or as shell accumulations due to predatory activity.

The dinoflagellates in the top 10 cm of the New Egypt Formation are moderately diverse with good preservation (table 1; figs. 6–9). No single species dominates. The species include *Palynodinium grallator* Gocht, 1970, and *Thalassiphora palagica*. A specimen of *Manumiella seelandica* (Lange, 1969) Bujak & Davies, 1983, is preserved with pockmarked damage. This type of preservation suggests melting based on similarly preserved dinocysts presumed to have melted in the Chesapeake meteorite impact (Edwards and Powars, 2003). Alternatively, it may be the result of fungal degradation.

The basal 10 cm of the Hornerstown Formation at AMNH loc. 3345 include a mixture of Maastrichtian and Paleocoene dinoflagellates (table 1, figs. 6–9). Maastrichtian species include *Palynodinium grallator*. The diversity of Paleocene dinoflagellates is moderately low. No single species dominates. Paleocene species include *Carpatella cornuta* Grigorovich, 1969, *Fibrocysta/Damassadinium* intergrades, and *Senoniasphaera inornata* (Drugg, 1970) Stover & Evitt, 1978.

LITHOSTRATIGRAPHIC RELATIONSHIPS

In northeastern Monmouth County, the Hornerstown Formation is traditionally portrayed as resting on the Tinton Formation (fig. 2). At our sites, however, the Hornerstown Formation overlies the New Egypt Formation, which in turn overlies the Tinton Formation (fig. 5). The presence of the New Egypt Formation in northeastern Monmouth County indicates that a tongue of this formation protrudes into this area. This supports the interpretative fence diagram of Olsson (1963: fig. 4), although the New Egypt Formation extends much farther northeast than Olsson supposed.

The New Egypt Formation apparently decreases in thickness to the northwest. At AMNH locs. 3345 and 3346, the New Egypt

 \leftarrow

Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey. A–C, G. R6234D, 5–10 cm below the base of the Hornerstown Formation. D–F. R6234C, 0–5 cm below the base of the Hornerstown Formation. I–K. R6234A, 0–5 cm above the base of the Hornerstown Formation. H. R6234B, 5–10 cm above the base of the Hornerstown Formation. A–C. *Manumiella seelandica* (Lange, 1969) Bujak & Davies, 1983, with pockmocked damage. D, E. *Fibrocysta/Damassadinium* intergrades. F. *Yolkinigymnium elongatum* (May, 1977) Lentin & Vozzhennikova, 1990. G. *Pervosphaeridium tubuloaculeatum* Slimani, 1994. H. *Hafniasphaera* sp. I–K. *Glaphyrocysta expansa* (Corradini, 1973) Roncaglia & Corradini, 1997.

NO. 287



Fig. 9. Dinoflagellates from USGS Paleobotan. loc. R6234, lower part of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, 0.3 km east of Rt. 35, northwest of Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County,

Formation is approximately 6.5 m thick, whereas in Hockhockson Brook (AMNH locs. 3349 and 3350), it is approximately 5 m thick.

There are several exposures in northeastern Monmouth County in which the Hornerstown Formation has been reported as overlying the Tinton Formation (e.g., Beers Hill, Holmdel Road, 0.8 km north of Crawford Corner [Weller, 1907: loc. 110; Olsson, 1963: loc. NJK120; Gallagher, 1993: 140]; pits on either side of Rt. 36 just east of Atlantic Highlands [Minard et al., 1969]; and exposures on the bluffs along the north side of the Navesink River west of Sea Bright [Minard et al., 1969]). Most of these exposures are very weathered or no longer accessible. In the Manasquan River Drainage, central Monmouth County (approximately 100 ft above sea level), the Hornerstown Formation unconformably overlies the Tinton Formation (Landman et al., in prep. a). The implication is that in downdip sections, the Hornerstown Formation overlies the New Egypt Formation, whereas in updip sections, the New Egypt Formation disappears altogether, leaving the Hornerstown Formation resting directly on the Tinton Formation.

Both the New Egypt and Hornerstown Formations are mostly composed of glauconitic minerals. However, the glaucony is slightly different in the two formations. In the New Egypt Formation, the glauconitic grains are very dark green or yellowish brown whereas in the Hornerstown Formation, they are dusky green. In addition, the New Egypt Formation contains more mica and quartz than the Hornerstown Formation, although the siliciclastic component is low in both units. These differences suggest a change in the environment of deposition. This interpretation is consistent with the decrease in total carbon as well as organic carbon in passing from the New Egypt into the Hornerstown Formation. This decrease may

reflect changes in the productivity and rate of sedimentation in the two environments or differences in the diagenetic history since deposition.

MOLLUSCAN BIOSTRATIGRAPHY

The lowest occurrence of ammonites in the study area is in the Tinton Formation, which yields nearly complete specimens of Sphenodiscus lobatus. Elsewhere in New Jersey, this species is known from the top of the Tinton Formation near Freehold, central Monmouth County (Landman et al., in prep. a), the upper part of the Navesink Formation and the lower part of the New Egypt Formation, southwestern Monmouth county (Landman et al., in prep. b), and the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Gloucester County (Gallagher, 1993; Kennedy et al., 1995; Kennedy and Cobban, 1996). This species also occurs in other parts of the Atlantic Coastal Plain (Kennedy et al., 1997; Landman et al., 2004), the Gulf Coastal Plain (Kennedy and Cobban, 1993; Cobban and Kennedy, 1995; Kennedy et al., 1997), Trans-Pecos Texas and northern Mexico (Stephenson, 1941, 1955), and the Western Interior (Landman and Waage, 1993; Kennedy et al., 1998). It is generally interpreted as late Maastrichtian in age (Kennedy et al., 1997).

The assemblage of *Discoscaphites minardi*, *Discoscaphites* sp., and *Eubaculites carinatus* in the upper part of the New Egypt Formation 1.5–2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation at AMNH locs. 3346 and 3347 represents the *D. minardi* Zone. The associated bivalves and gastropods are listed in table 2 and include *Cucullaea neglecta* Gabb, 1861. The *D. minardi* Zone has not been reported elsewhere in New Jersey but is present in the Severn Formation in Kent County, Maryland (Landman et al., 2004). This zone represents the middle

 \leftarrow

New Jersey. A, G–I. R6234A, 0–5 cm above the base of the Hornerstown Formation. B–F, J–L. R6234B, 5–10 cm above the base of the Hornerstown Formation. A. *Carpatella cornuta* Grigorovich, 1969. B, C. *Fibrocysta/Damassadinium* intergrades. D–F. *Senoniasphaera inornata* (Drugg, 1970) Stover & Evitt, 1978. G–I. *Manumiella seelandica* (Lange, 1969) Bujak & Davies, 1983. J–L. *Palynodinium grallator* Gocht, 1970, reworked.



Fig. 10. Formational contact between the New Egypt and Hornerstown Formations at AMNH loc. 3345, Parkers Creek, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey. A. Close-up of contact (0 cm) pre-

part of the upper Maastrichtian, corresponding to the upper part of calcareous nannofossil Subzone CC26a and the lower part of Subzone CC26b.

The assemblage of fossils containing Discoscaphites iris in the upper 20 cm of the New Egypt Formation at AMNH loc. 3345 indicates the D. iris Zone. This zone may actually be thicker but the rest of the formation is not exposed at this locality. In addition to D. iris, the other ammonites are Eubaculites carinatus, E. latecarinatus, and Sphenodiscus pleurisepta. The D. iris Zone is the highest ammonite zone in North America (Landman et al., 2004). Elsewhere on the Gulf and Atlantic Coastal Plains it occurs immediately below the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary. The D. iris Zone corresponds to the upper part of calcareous nannofossil Subzone CC26b.

Fossils from the *D. iris* Zone occur up to 13 cm above the formational contact, indicating reworking. These fossils are preserved as internal molds with New Egypt Formation lithology. They are surrounded, however, by sediments of the Hornerstown Formation.

Cucullea vulgaris is present in the top 20 cm of the New Egypt Formation and as reworked material at the base of the Hornerstown Formation. This species has traditionally been considered an index fossil for the Hornerstown Formation but actually is derived from the upper part of the New Egypt Formation.

DINOFLAGELLATE BIOSTRATIGRAPHY

BACKGROUND

To evaluate the biostratigraphic significance of the Cretaceous dinoflagellates in our samples, we relied on the biostratigraphic zonation established by Firth (1987) and Edwards et al. (1999) for the Atlantic Coastal Plain. The Santee Coastal Reserve (SCR) core from Charleston County, South Carolina, includes the Maastrichtian Peedee Formation and contains nannofossils and dinoflagellates, permitting a correlation between the two fossil groups (Edwards et al., 1999). The core is also calibrated with strontium isotope- and magnetostratigraphy. By regressing the age-calibrated paleomagnetic data and the ranges of calcareous nannofossils against depth in the SCR core, Edwards et al. (1999: fig. 11; reprinted with modification as fig. 13) calculated numerical ages for key dinoflagellate datums.

Landman et al. (2004) reviewed the use of the SCR core for correlating Upper Cretaceous sections on the Atlantic Coastal Plain. The occurrences of key dinoflagellate species in the Cretaceous part of the SCR core are listed below starting from the top downward (Edwards et al., 1999: fig. 5):

- Lowest occurrence of *Palynodinium grallator* (370.3 ft in SCR core)
- Lowest occurrence of *Disphaerogena carpo-sphaeropsis* (389.3 ft in SCR core)
- Lowest occurrence of *Thalassiphora pelagica* (390.8 ft in SCR core)
- Highest occurrence of *Isabelidinium cooksoniae* (436.4 ft in SCR core)
- Lowest occurrence of *Deflandrea galatea* (436.4 ft in SCR core)
- Highest occurrence of *Alterbidinium acutulum* (474.2 ft in SCR core)

Based on studies of dinoflagellates from the North Sea (Schiøler and Wilson, 1993), the lowest occurrence of Palynodinium grallator defines the base of the P. grallator Zone, which is the uppermost Maastrichtian dinoflagellate zone. The P. grallator Zone in the North Sea is divided into two subzones based on the lowest occurrence of Thalassiphora pelagica partway through the zone. Because the lowest occurrence of T. pelagica in the SCR core is below that of *P. grallator*, this distinction cannot reliably be made in the United States. Therefore, if P. grallator is present in our samples, we state uppermost Maastrichtian P. grallator Zone. If P. grallator is absent, but T. pelagica is present, we state upper, but probably not uppermost

 \leftarrow

served in a peel. **B.** Overview of contact showing the high degree of bioturbation. The red marks on the tape indicate 10 cm intervals. **C.** Close-up of a burrow (preserved in the peel) in the top of the New Egypt Formation filled with large glauconite grains (arrow).



Fig. 11. Diagram of the contact between the New Egypt and Hornerstown Formations at AMNH loc. 3345, Parkers Creek, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey, showing the distribution of cephalopods and bivalves. Vertical scale = 35 cm; horizontal scale = 13 m. Not all of the fossils collected are shown nor do the symbols imply that the specimens are whole. The diagram is intended to provide an overview of the distribution of molluscan fossils, documenting that most of them occur at the formational contact.

Maastrichtian. The *P. grallator* Zone approximately correlates with the upper part of calcareous nannofossil Subzone CC26b.

Nannofossil workers cite the base of calcareous nannofossil Subzone CC25b, which is close to, but not exactly coincident with, the highest occurrence of the dinocyst *Alterbidinium acutulum*, to mark the base of the upper Maastrichtian. *Alterbidinium acutulum* is absent in our stratigraphically lowest samples, but *Deflandrea galatea* is present. The lowest occurrence of *D. galatea* in the SCR core is well above the base of calcareous nannofossil Subzone CC25b. Thus, the presence of *D. galatea* in these samples indicates that they are upper Maastrichtian. The occurrence of *Isabelidinium cooksoniae sensu lato* further indicates that they are lower upper Maastrichtian. This interpretation agrees with dinoflagellate data from the ENCI quarry in the Netherlands, where Schiøler et al. (1997) placed their entire section in the upper



Fig. 12. **A.** Grain size analysis of the composite section at AMNH locs. 3345, 3346, and 3349, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey. The New Egypt/Hornerstown formational contact is plotted at 0. The percentage is by weight. **B.** Mineralogy of the same samples as percentage of grains of glauconite, mica, and other (e.g., quartz, heavy minerals).

Maastrichtian *Lithraphidites quadratus* (Zone CC25) and *Nephrolithus frequens* (Zone CC26) calcareous nannofossil zones.

Evaluation of the Paleocene dinoflagellate biostratigraphy relies on interpretations of the ranges of Senoniasphaera inornata, Carpatella cornuta, and Tectatodinium rugulatum Hansen (1977). The ranges of these three species have been documented in numerous Cretaceous/Tertiary sections around the world including New Jersey (Olsson et al., 1997, 2002), Alabama (Habib et al., 1996), Georgia (Firth, 1987, 1993), the western North Atlantic (Habib and Drugg, 1987), the Danish Basin (Hansen, 1977, 1979; Hultberg, 1986; Brinkhuis et al., 1998), the Carpathians (Grigorovich, 1969), northern Germany (Stover and Evitt, 1978), and Tunisia (Brinkhuis et al., 1998).

Hansen (1977) recognized the biostratigraphic significance of these species in the Danish Basin and defined the *Damassadinium californicum* (= *Danea mutabilis*) Zone, which is approximately equivalent to the entire Danian. He divided this zone into the lower *Senoniasphaera inornata* (= *Chiropteridium inornatum*) Subzone and the upper *Hafniasphaera cryptovesiculata* Subzone. He further subdivided the *S. inornata* Subzone into three zonules: in ascending stratigraphic order, the *Carpatella cornuta* Zonule, the *Tectatodinium rugulatum* (= *Xenicodinium rugulatum*) Zonule, and the *Xenicodinium lubricum* Zonule. This biostratigraphic zonation has since been modified by Hultberg (1986, fig. 6).

OCCURRENCES OF DINOFLAGELLATES

We describe below the occurrences of dinoflagellates at each of our localities and discuss the biostratigraphic significance (table 1; figs. 6–9, 14).

• AMNH 3348 (R6234H), Tinton Formation, Hochhockson Brook, near Tinton Falls, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

Species include Deflandrea galatea and Isabelidinium cooksoniae sensu lato. By comparison with the reported occurrences of these species in the SCR core, this sample represents the lower part of the upper Maastrichtian. It is approximately correlative with material from 436.4 ft in the SCR core, which coincides with calcareous nannofossil Zone CC25b (Edwards et al., 1999). Trithyroidinium striatum Benson, 1976, is also present. This species is better known from older material, but has been reported in the lower part of the upper Maastrichtian in the Netherlands (Schiøler et al., 1997). Campanian forms are conspicuous in their absence. By comparison with the SCR core, this sample is 68.2-67.4 Ma.

 AMNH loc. 3349 (R6234G), upper part of the Tinton Formation and lower part of the New Egypt Formation, Hockockson Brook, 0.5 km southwest of the intersection of Water

TABLE 2

Invertebrate Fossils at AMNH Locality 3346, Upper New Egypt Formation, 1.5-2.0 m Below the Base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, Northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey

CEPHALOPODA Discoscaphites minardi Landman et al., 2004 Discoscaphites sp. Eubaculites carinatus (Morton, 1834) Eubaculites sp. Sphenodiscus sp. Eutrephoceras dekayi (Morton, 1834)

PELECYPODA

Pyncnodonte convexa (Say, 1820) Exogyra costata Say, 1820 Agerostrea nasuta (Morton, 1834) Cucullaea neglecta Gabb, 1861 Panope decisa Conrad, 1853 Veniella conradi Morton, 1833 Chlamys venustus Morton, 1833 Gastrochaena whitfieldi Weller, 1907 Xylophagella irregularis (Gabb, 1860)

GASTROPODA

Gyrodes sp. Turritella sp. Pyropsis sp. Arrhoges lobata (Wade, 1926) numerous unidentified snails

ARTHROPODA

Protocallianassa mortoni (Pilsbry, 1901) Hoploparia gabbi Pilsbry, 1901 two unidentified crabs

PORIFERA

Cliona microtuberum Stephenson, 1941

Street and Tinton Avenue, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

Species include *Deflandrea galatea* and *Thalassiphora pelagica*. However, *Disphaerogena carposphaeropsis* Wetzel, 1933, and *Palynodinium grallator* are absent, suggesting that this sample is upper, but not uppermost Maastrichtian. It is approximately correlative with material from 390.8 ft in the SCR core, which lies within the *Nephrolithus frequens* calcareous nannofossil Zone spanning the upper part of Subzone CC26b (Edwards et al., 1999). By comparison with the SCR core, this sample is 66.4–66.0 Ma.

• AMNH loc. 3346 (R6234E), New Egypt For-

TABLE 3

Invertebrate Fossils at AMNH Locality 3345, Uppermost 20 cm of the New Egypt Formation and Basal 15 cm of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, Northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey

CEPHALOPODA Discoscaphites iris (Conrad, 1858) Discoscaphites minardi Landman et al., 2004 Discoscaphites gulosus (Morton, 1834) Discoscaphites spp. Eubaculites carinatus (Morton, 1834) Eubaculites latecarinatus (Brunnschweiler, 1966) Sphenodiscus pleurisepta (Conrad, 1857) Sphenodiscus spp. Eutrephoceras dekayi (Morton, 1834) PELECYPODA Cucullaea vulgaris Morton, 1830 Pyncnodonte convexa (Say, 1820) Crassatella vadosa Morton, 1834 Postigata crenata Wade, 1926 Solyma lineolatus Conrad, 1870 Gervilliopsis ensiformis (Conrad, 1858) Pinna laqueata Conrad, 1858 Lithophaga carolinensis (Conrad, 1875) GASTROPODA Xenophora leprosa (Morton, 1834) Gyrodes sp. Turritella sp. Pyropsis sp. Euspira sp. ARTHROPODA Protocallianassa mortoni (Pilsbry, 1901) PORIFERA Cliona microtuberum Stephenson, 1941

mation, approximately 1.5–2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, 0.1 km east of Rt. 35, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

Similar to the sample from the upper part of the Tinton Formation and lower part of the New Egypt Formation at AMNH loc. 3349, the dinoflagellates from this site include *Deflandrea galatea* and *Thalassiphora pelagica*. *Disphaerogena carposphaeropsis* and *Palynodinium grallator* are absent, implying that this sample is upper, but not uppermost Maastrichtian. It is approximately correlative with material from 390.8 ft in the SCR core, which lies within the *Nephrolithus frequens* calcareous nannofossil Zone span-



Fig. 13. The relationship between age and depth in the Santee Coastal Reserve (SCR) core, Charleston, South Carolina (Edwards et al., 1999), based on calcareous nannofossil and magnetostratigraphic datums. Symbols: \bigcirc = First Appearance Datum; + = Last Appearance Datum; • = Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary; I = paleomagnetic datum.

ning the upper part of Subzone CC26a and the lower part of Subzone CC26b (Edwards et al., 1999). *Turnhosphaera hypoflata* (Yun, 1981) Slimini, 1994, is also present. This species is known from the ENCI quarry, the Netherlands, where it is restricted to the lower part of the upper Maastrichtian (Schiøler et al., 1997); it is known to range lower, but not higher.

• AMNH loc. 3345 (R6234D), New Egypt Formation, 5–10 cm below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, 0.3 km east of Rt. 35, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey.



Fig. 14. Correlation of the samples from northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey, with the Santee Coastal Reserve (SCR) core based on the distribution of dinoflagellates. The magnetochron below 468 ft is indeterminate.

The dinoflagellates include *Palynodinium* grallator and *Thalassiphora pelagica*. These species represent the uppermost Maastrichtian *P. grallator* Zone, probably the Tpe (*T. pelagica*) Subzone of Schiøler and Wilson (1993), correlative with the upper part of calcareous nannofossil Zone CC26b. By comparison with the SCR core, this sample is 65.6–65.0 Ma. This sample includes a specimen of *Manumiella seelandica* with distinctive pockmarked damage.

 AMNH loc. 3345 (R6234C), New Egypt Formation, 0–5 cm below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, 0.3 km east of Rt. 35, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

Similar to the sample immediately below, the dinoflagellates include *Palynodinium* grallator and *Thalassiphora pelagica*, indicating the uppermost Maastrichtian *P. grallator* Zone, probably the Tpe Subzone of Schiøler and Wilson (1993), correlative with the upper part of calcareous nannofossil Zone CC26b. None of the specimens recorded as "*Fibrocysta/Damassadinium* intergrades" is unquestionably identified as *Damassadinium californicum* (Drugg, 1967) Fensome et al., 1993, which is a marker of the basal Danian, but many are obviously part of the *D. californicum* lineage.

• AMNH loc. 3345 (R6234A), 0–5 cm above the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, 0.3 km east of Rt. 35, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

The most notable species is *Carpatella* cornuta. The lowest occurrence of this species on the Atlantic Coastal Plain is at the base of the Clayton Formation (above an unfossiliferous sandstone bed 2.1 m thick) in the Albany core, Dougherty County, Georgia, where it indicates the lower Danian (Firth, 1987, 1993). On the Gulf Coastal Plain, this species occurs in calcareous nannofossil Zone NP1 in the basal beds of the Clayton Formation at three sites in southcentral Alabama (Braggs, Mussel Creek, and a well near Braggs), where it also indicates the basal Danian (Moshkovitz and Habib, 1993). The lowest occurrence of C. cornuta at Miller's Ferry, Alabama, is 1.23 m above the K/T boundary in the lower half of foraminiferal Zone Pa; it ranges upward into foraminiferal Zone Pla (Habib et al., 1996). The lowest occurrence of this species at Moscow Landing, Alabama, is 1.69 m above the base of the Clayton Formation; this horizon correlates with calcareous nannofossil Zone NP1 and the middle part of foraminiferal Zone P α (Habib et al., 1996).

Elsewhere, *Carpatella cornuta* occurs in Denmark in the *C. cornuta* Zonule in the lower part of the Danian (Hansen, 1977). The lowest occurrence of *C.* cf. *cornuta* (with a spongy thick outer wall) is in foraminiferal Zone PO? at Stevns Klint, Denmark, and the lowest occurrence of more typical representatives of this species at Stevns Klint is in foraminiferal Zone Plc? (Brinkhuis et al., 1998: fig. 4). The lowest occurrence of this species at El Kef, Tunisia, is in the upper half of foraminiferal Zone PO (Brinkhuis et al., 1998: fig. 2). Williams et al. (2004), in their global survey of dinoflagellate biostratigraphy, recorded the range of *C. cornuta* as 64.75–59.95 Ma in northern midlatitudes and 64.75–60? Ma in northern low latitudes.

The absence of *Tectatodinium rugulatum* in our sample suggests that it is below the *T. rugulatum* Zone of Hansen (1977). The lowest occurrence of *T. rugulatum* is just below the base of calcareous nannofossil Zone NP2 (Stover et al., 1996: text-fig. 31), which approximately corresponds to the base of foraminiferal Zone Plb, according to Berggren et al. (1995: fig. 1).

Reworked material in our sample includes uppermost Maastrichtian *Palynodinium grallator* and *Rugubivesiculites* sp. pollen. None of the specimens recorded as "*Fibrocysta/ Damassadinium* intergrades" is unquestionably identified as *Damassadinium californicum*, but many are obviously part of the *D. californicum* lineage.

• AMNH loc. 3345 (R6234B), 5–10 cm above the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, 0.3 km east of Rt. 35, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

In addition to questionable specimens of Carpatella cornuta, this sample also contains Senoniasphaera inornata, which is not present in the underlying sample and, thus, is presumably not reworked. The lowest occurrence of S. inornata in the Bass River borehole, New Jersey, is immediately above the spherule layer in foraminiferal Zone PO (Olsson et al., 1997, 2002). The lowest occurrence of this species in the Albany core, Georgia, is at the base of the Clayton Formation (Firth, 1987, 1993). The lowest occurrence of this species at Mussel Creek, Alabama, is 25 cm above the base of the Clayton Formation (Moshkovitz and Habib, 1993), which according to the biostratigraphy of Olsson and Liu (1993), approximately corresponds to foraminiferal Zone PO. At Braggs, Alabama, S. inornata ranges from the base of calcareous nannofossil Zone NP1 to the lower part of Zone NP2 (Moshkovitz and Habib, 1993: fig. 7). At Miller's Ferry, Alabama, S. inornata ranges from foraminiferal Zone PO to Pla (Habib et al., 1996: fig. 2). The lowest occurrence of S. inornata at Moscow Landing, Alabama, is 81 cm above

the base of the Clayton Formation in foraminiferal Zone PO (Habib et al., 1996).

As previously noted, Hansen (1977, 1979) recorded *Senoniasphaera inornata* from the Danish Basin and defined the *S. inornata* Subzone as the lower of two subzones comprising the *Damassadinium californicum* Zone. The range of *S. inornata* extends slightly into the overlying Subzone of *Hafniasphaera cryptovesiculata*. According to Hansen (1977, 1979), *S. inornata* also ranges into the uppermost Maastrichtian *T. pelagica* Subzone of the *P. grallator* Zone, but this conclusion was probably based on a misidentification (Hultberg and Malmgren, 1985; Hultberg, 1986; Schiøler and Wilson, 1993).

Elsewhere, the lowest occurrence of Senoniasphaera inornata is in the middle of foraminiferal Zone PO at El Kef, Tunisia, in the lower part of foraminiferal Zone PO at Barranco del Gredero, near Caravaca, Spain, and in the middle of foraminiferal Zone PO? at Stevns Klint, Denmark (Brinkhuis et al., 1998: figs. 2-4). Brinkhuis et al. (2003) reported this species in samples from the K/T boundary on the East Tasman Plateau, where it also occurs below the K/T boundary, a fact that these authors attributed to downward reworking. Williams et al. (2004) recorded the range of S. inornata as 64.95-62.6 Ma in northern midlatitudes, 64.95-62? Ma in northern low latitudes, and 64.7-63? Ma in southern high latitudes.

The absence of *Tectatodinium rugulatum* in our sample suggests that it is below the *T. rugulatum* Zone. The lowest occurrence of this species is just below the base of calcareous nannofossil Zone NP2 (Stover et al., 1996: text-fig. 31), which approximately corresponds to the base of foraminiferal Zone Plb (Berggren et al., 1995: fig. 1). However, the moderately low diversity of our sample means that this interpretation must be qualified.

Reworked material includes uppermost Maastrichtian *Palynodinium grallator* and *Rugubivesiculites* sp. pollen. None of the specimens recorded as *"Fibrocysta/Damassadinium* intergrades" is unquestionably identified as *Damassadinium californicum*, but many are obviously part of the *D. californicum* lineage.

BIOSTRATIGRAPHIC SYNTHESIS

The dinoflagellate and molluscan data imply the following biostratigraphic relationships.

1. The presence of *Deflandrea galatea* and *Isabelidinium cooksoniae sensu lato* in the Tinton Formation, in association with *Sphenodiscus lobatus*, indicates calcareous nannofossil Subzone CC25b. This approximately correlates with the *Discoscaphites conradi* Assemblage Zone (Landman et al., 2004). Elsewhere in New Jersey, this zone is present in the upper part of the Navesink Formation and lower part of the New Egypt Formation in the Crosswicks Creek Basin, southwestern Monmouth County (Landman et al., in prep. b).

2. The beds extending from the lower part of the New Egypt Formation to approximately 1.5–2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation contain *Deflandrea galatea* and *Thalassiphora pelagica* and correspond to the *Nephrolithus frequens* calcareous nannonfossil Zone (upper part of calcareous nannofossil Subzone CC26a and lower part of Subzone CC26b). The upper part of this section contains *Discoscaphites minardi*, indicating the *D. minardi* Assemblage Zone.

3. The beds in the uppermost 20 cm of the New Egypt Formation contain *Palynodinium* grallator and Thalassiphora pelagica, indicating the P. grallator Zone, probably the Tpe Subzone, corresponding to the upper part of calcareous nannofossil Subzone CC26b. These beds also yield *Discoscaphites* iris indicating the D. iris Assemblage Zone. Elsewhere in New Jersey, the D. iris Zone occurs at the top of the New Egypt Formation (and as reworked material at the base of the Hornerstown Formation) in the Crosswicks Creek Drainage, southwestern Monmouth County (Landman et al., in prep. b), and at the top of the Tinton Formation (and as reworked material at the base of the Hornerstown Formation) in the Manasquan River Drainage, central Monmouth County (Landman et al., in prep. a). Discoscaphites iris is absent at the Inversand Pit, Gloucester County, although other species representative of this zone are present (Kennedy and Cobban, 1996).

31

4. The basal 5 cm of the Hornerstown Formation at Parkers Creek contain Carpatella cornuta as well as reworked Maastrichtian ammonites, nautilids, bivalves, gastropods, and dinoflagellates. The overlying 5 cm additionally contain Senoniasphaera inornata. Based on published studies, C. cornuta and S. inornata occur in foraminiferal Zones PO-Pla. The absence of Tectatodinium rugulatum in our samples lends further support to this interpretation. Within this biostratigraphic interval, we are inclined to assign our samples to Zones PO-P α , which corelates with the lowest occurrences of C. cornuta and S. inornata on the Gulf and Atlantic Coastal Plains. This assignment is also consistent with the position of the upper boundary of the Navesink Sequence in New Jersey (called the Navesink II Sequence by Miller et al. [2004]). Olsson et al. (2002: fig. 3) placed the upper boundary of the Navesink Sequence between foraminiferal zones Pla and Plc; Zone Plb is missing at the Bass River borehole. This sequence boundary is 1.5-2 m above the base of the Hornerstown Formation in the Crosswicks Creek Drainage (although this relationship has not been observed in the same outcrop). This implies that the base of the Hornerstown Formation in this area, and, by extension, at Parkers Creek, is well below foraminiferal Zone Pla and probably in Zones PO–P α .

IRIDIUM ANALYSIS

We performed an iridium analysis of eight samples from AMNH loc. 3345. The samples consisted of sediments from 5 cm intervals starting from 15 cm below the formational contact to 25 cm above it. The analysis was performed commercially by XRAL Laboratories, Toronto, Ontario, using NiS fire assay with a detection limit of 0.1 ppb. The concentration of iridium in all eight samples was below the detection limit.

Elsewhere in New Jersey, Gallagher (1992) investigated the presence of iridium in the upper part of the New Egypt Formation and lower part of the Hornerstown Formation at Sewell, Gloucester County. He sampled 10 cm intervals starting from 10 cm below the formational contact to 3 m above it. He defined the K/T boundary at the top

of the Main Fossiliferous Layer (MFL), following the interpretation of Koch and Olsson (1977).

The values of iridium at Sewell are low and less than 0.1 ppb. They are expressed in ppt (parts per trillion; misstated as ppb, parts per billion, in Gallagher, 1993). All of the values are less than 200 ppt and are much lower than iridium concentrations at other K/ T boundary sections, which vary from 0.5-60 ppb (Ganapathy et al., 1981; Kiessling and Claeys, 2002). Gallagher (1992) did not detect any anomaly at the horizon he identified as the K/T boundary. The values immediately below and above this horizon are 110 and 40 ppt, respectively. Gallagher detected three peaks of 100-200 ppt at approximately 10 cm below this horizon, 140 cm above it, and 300 cm above it. He concluded that these slightly elevated values could represent the reworking of an originally more enriched, stratigraphically restricted layer due to subsequent bioturbation. Alternatively, he speculated that these peaks could reflect multiple events.

Olsson et al. (2002) reported an iridium concentration of approximately 2.4 ppb just below the spherule bed at the Bass River borehole, Burlington County, New Jersey. They attributed this anomaly to a postdepositional downward diffusion of iridium from an originally enriched layer. An elevated concentration of iridium (≈ 800 ppt) is also present near the top of the Tinton Formation in the Manasquan River Drainage, central Monmouth County (Landman et al., in prep. a).

STRONTIUM ANALYSIS

We investigated the strontium isotopic value of shell material from the New Egypt/ Hornerstown formational contact at AMNH loc. 3345. We compared this value to that of shell material from the Owl Creek Formation, Owl Creek, Mississippi, representing the uppermost Maastrichtian *Discoscaphites iris* Zone.

The material from New Jersey consisted of septa from five specimens of *Eubaculites latecarinatus* associated with specimens of *Discoscaphites iris*. The material was scraped off the specimens and sonified to remove adhering matrix. Because there was so little material, it was all combined into a single sample. Under the light microscope, the material appeared iridescent with a golden metallic luster, indicative of the mineral bornite. Many of the surfaces exhibited tiny black particles, which were impossible to completely remove. Under scanning electron microscopy (SEM), the shell surfaces appeared weathered. The nacreous microstruc-

ture was visible in cross section but many of the nacreous plates were fused together. For comparison, we analyzed two samples of shell material from the body chambers of each of two specimens of *Discoscaphites iris* from U.S. Geological Survey loc. 25421 from the Owl Creek Formation, Owl Creek, near Ripley, Tippah County, Mississippi. In contrast to the New Jersey material, this material appeared pristine under both light mi-

croscopy and SEM. The samples were analyzed commercially at the MIT TIMS Laboratory, Cambridge, Massachusetts by F.O. Dudas. The values of the two samples from the Owl Creek Formation are identical, with slightly different standard errors: 0.707928 (% SE = 0.0007and 0.0006). The value of the sample from New Jersey is higher: 0.707973 (% SE = 0.0006).

These high values are consistent with elevated values of ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr reported from Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary sections elsewhere. Martin and Macdougall (1991) reported values of 0.707920 in foraminifera from four sedimentary cores in the Atlantic and Pacific oceans. Even higher values of 0.707980 were reported by Hess et al. (1986). The similarity of these values to ours is consistent with the hypothesis that both the Mississippi and New Jersey material is from near or at the K/T boundary.

On the other hand, McArthur et al. (1998) argued that the high values reported by Martin and Macdougall (1991) and Hess et al. (1986) were erroneous due to analytical and diagenetic artifacts, notably recrystallization. McArthur et al. (1998) did not observe an excursion in ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr at the K/T boundary in their study of two sections in Denmark and Antarctica. Subsequent studies (MacLeod et al., 2001) have argued for a more modest increase in the ratio of strontium isotopes at the boundary.

Of the samples we analyzed, those from the Owl Creek Formation are more likely to be unaffected by diagenesis because they are very well preserved. In contrast, it is entirely possible that the value of the Parkers Creek material is erroneously high due to diagenetic overprinting, but it is difficult to estimate the extent of this effect. Gallagher (2002) cited secondary mineralization, probably bornite, as the explanation for anomalously high values of ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr in the oysters *Pycnodonte dissimilaris* from the MFL at the Inversand Pit (Gallagher and Parris, 1996).

Elsewhere in New Jersey, Olsson et al. (2002) reported fluctuations in the ratio of strontium isotopes reaching a maximum of 0.707915 just below the spherule layer in the Bass River borehole. They noted that their values were higher than those reported from France and Tunisia by Vonhof and Smit (1997), and attributed the discrepancy to contamination of the New Jersey samples by clay minerals adhering to the carbonates.

CRETACEOUS/TERTIARY BOUNDARY

The beds comprising the uppermost New Egypt/Tinton Formation and basal part of the Hornerstown Formation in New Jersey have long been regarded as spanning the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary (Fox and Olsson, 1955; Minard et al., 1969; Owens and Sohl, 1969; Gaffney, 1975; Gallagher et al., 1986; Gallagher, 1995). However, the exact position of the boundary has been disputed. In addition, the formational contact represents an unconformity and it is difficult to assess the length of the time gap, or more properly, the thickness of the chronostratigraphic interval, missing from the section.

Koch and Olsson (1977) investigated the formational contact using dinoflagellates. They reported the *Deflandrea cretacea* [= *Manumiella? cretacea*] Subzone in the upper part of the New Egypt Formation and in the Main Fossiliferous Layer (MFL) at the base of the Hornerstown Formation in the Crosswicks Creek Drainage as well as at the Inversand Pit. According to them, this dinoflagellate subzone corresponds to the foraminiferal *Abathomphalus mayaroensis* Zone, indicating the upper Maastrichtian. They, therefore, concluded that the formational contact is approximately the same age in both areas and does not mark a major diachronous surface with progressively more erosion to the southwest, as previously proposed by Minard et al. (1969) and Owens and Sohl (1969).

2004

Based on the presence of Deflandrea cretacea in the MFL, Koch and Olsson (1977: fig. 4) assigned the basal beds of the Hornerstown Formation to the upper Maastrichtian and placed the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary at the top of the MFL. Gaffney (1975) and Gallagher (1992) followed this interpretation and drew the K/T boundary in the Inversand Pit at the top of the MFL. However, it is possible that the specimens of D. cretacea recorded by Koch and Olsson (1977) were reworked from underlying sediments. Furthermore, Koch and Olsson (1977) did not define what they meant by the MFL and did not specify the position of their sample within this interval. The definition of the MFL varies among authors. For example, our definition of the MFL with respect to the formational contact differs from that of Gallagher (2002). If Koch and Olsson defined the MFL the same way that Gallagher did, and sampled from the bottom of the MFL, their sample would have come from the upper part of the New Egypt Formation, according to our usage (see below).

In a recent paper on the K/T boundary at the Inversand Pit, Gallagher (2002: 295) referred to the presence of late Maastrichtian dinoflagellates in the uppermost part of the New Egypt Formation and basal part of the Hornerstown Formation. He argued that "at most any erosional interval was probably confined to the very latest Maastrichtian and the PO-P α zone of the earliest Paleocene [implying that] the missing interval ... is at least 100 k.y., the length of the absent earliest Paleocene planktonic foraminiferal zones"

The formational contact at Parkers Creek spans the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary. The dinoflagellates at the top of the New Egypt Formation indicate the uppermost Maastrichtian (upper part of calcareous nannofossil Subzone CC26b). The concentration of fossils (the MFL) at the base of the Hornerstown Formation includes reworked material from the New Egypt Formation, implying that part of the Cretaceous section must have been eroded away. However, the reworked ammonites and dinoflagellates are the same species as those present in the underlying New Egypt Formation, so that the missing interval does not exceed an ammonite or dinoflagellate zone.

The nonreworked dinoflagellates in the basal beds of the Hornerstown Formation indicate the lowermost Danian. As previously noted, the lowest occurrences of these dinoflagellates on the Gulf and Atlantic Coastal Plains are in foraminiferal Zones PO-Pa. In addition, the upper boundary of the Navesink Sequence in New Jersey is between foraminiferal zones Pla and Plc (Olsson et al., 2002). This boundary is not exposed at Parkers Creek but is present in the Crosswicks Creek Drainage where it occurs approximately 1.5-2 m above the base of the Hornerstown Formation. Therefore, the base of the Hornerstown Formation in the Crosswicks Creek Drainage and, by implication, at Parkers Creek, is probably in Zones PO–P α .

The section at Parkers Creek is, nevertheless, demonstrably incomplete. Neither an enriched layer of iridium (≥ 0.1 ppb) nor a bed of spherules is present (although a dinocyst with pockmarked damage occurs 5–10 cm below the formational contact). Thus, the actual moment marking the K/T boundary is not preserved in the sediments at Parkers Creek. The amount of time missing is difficult to estimate but is probably less than 100 k.y. equal to part of the late Maastrichtian and early Danian, according to the time scale of Berggren et al. (1995).

In contrast, Olsson et al. (1997) described a complete K/T boundary section at Bass River, Burlington County. Using foraminifera, nannofossils, and dinoflagellates, they established that the New Egypt Formation is uppermost Maastrichtian, corresponding to the *Abathomphalus mayaroensis* foraminiferal Zone, and that the Hornerstown Formation is basal Danian, corresponding to planktonic foraminiferal zones PO and P α . There is a 6-cm-thick layer of spherules capping the New Egypt Formation with an iridium anomaly (2.4 ppb) immediately below it.

MAIN FOSSILIFEROUS LAYER

The Main Fossiliferous Layer (MFL) in the basal Hornerstown Formation occurs all along strike from Monmouth to Salem counties, New Jersey, and lies above various lithologies (Minard et al., 1969). It is not present downdip at the Bass River borehole (Olsson et al., 2002). The MFL is roughly similar at all localities but the details appear to vary depending on the site. We refer to several localities where the MFL has been described, but our interpretations principally bear on the Parkers Creek site.

The MFL has been reported in the Crosswicks Creek Drainage, central Monmouth County. Gallagher (1993: 142) described the fossil accumulation as consisting of "a lower thoroughly bioturbated zone . . . topped by a zone with abundant vertebrate remains. This vertebrate fauna is correlative to the vertebrate assemblages found in the basal Hornerstown all along strike. Generally the vertebrates lay on top of a layer rich with invertebrates dominated by *Cucullaea vulgaris*, *Turritella mortoni*, and the oyster *Pycnodonte dissimilaris*."

Our observations of the MFL at Crosswicks Creek are similar to those of Gallagher (1993) and are more fully described in Landman et al. (in prep. b). The MFL consists of a layer of Cucullaea vulgaris, not in life position, as well as gastropods, baculites, and vertebrates. All of the molluscs are preserved as internal molds with New Egypt Formation lithology. The MFL lies immediately above a heavily bioturbated, purplish weathering section of the New Egypt Formation, which is 10-25 cm thick, containing scattered internal molds and poorly preserved specimens of Pycnodonte dissimilaris with original shell material. We recovered Discoscaphites iris, Eubaculites carinatus, and E. latecarinatus from approximately 1-1.3 m below the formational contact.

The most thoroughly studied exposure of the MFL is at the Inversand Pit, Gloucester County. Gallagher (1993: 143) described the MFL at this site as a heavily bioturbated, complex shell bed approximately 30 cm thick. He noted that the base of the MFL is characterized by a layer of *Pycnodonte dissimlaris* approximately 10 cm above the formational contact. The specimens are poorly preserved with original shell material and form a densely packed pavement consisting mostly of jumbled up, single valves. According to Gallagher (1993), the top of the MFL is marked by a concentrated layer of molluscan and vertebrate fossils approximately 20 cm above the P. dissimilaris accumulation. The molluscs, mostly Cucullaea vulgaris, are preserved as internal molds with New Egypt Formation lithology. This layer is a mixture of Cretaceous and Paleocene fossils (Gaffney, 1975; Gallagher, 2002). It contains sharks' teeth and fragments of crocodiles, turtles, and mosasaurs, as well as a bird specimen with a partially articulated wing (Gallagher, 1993: 98). This layer also contains small, rare clasts of light tan clay that are apparently different in lithology from either the New Egypt or Hornerstown Formation. Gallagher (1992) did not report any enrichment of iridium in this layer.

The MFL at Parkers Creek is more straightforward and consists of a concentrated layer of molluscan internal molds at the formational contact (figs. 10, 11). Fossils occur below and above the contact, but mostly at the contact, although even here, they are not extremely abundant. All of the molluscs are internal molds with New Egypt Formation lithology. The contact is heavily burrowed but is sharper than in either the Crosswicks Creek Basin or the Inversand Pit. Purplish patches at and just below the contact represent cross sections of burrows infilled with large glauconite grains. This network of burrows is analogous to a sponge with the holes of the sponge representing the burrows. There is no enriched layer of iridium or spherules.

There are two competing hypotheses to explain the processes involved in the formation of the MFL: condensation with little or no sedimentation on the one hand and reworking on the other. Gallagher and his colleagues have argued strongly in favor of a condensed section, partly as a response to earlier arguments by Minard et al. (1969) claiming a major episode of reworking. Gallagher (1993: 116, fig. 12) pointed out a decrease in stratigraphic thickness toward the southwest indicating a "condensation of the section away from the primary source of terrestrial clastic deposition in the northeast, where the Redbank and Tinton were laid down as nearshore deltaic deposits "

2004

Gallagher and Parris (1985: C10) suggested that "there was some protracted period of low sedimentation rate usually associated with glauconitic deposition before and during accumulation of the MFL fossil assemblage. This interval argues against the reworking of fossils from underlying Cretaceous units into the basal Hornerstown, since the MFL fossils are not strictly at the bottom of the formation but are separated from it." Gallagher (1995: 325, 326) speculated that the MFL accumulated over approximately 250,000 years and called it a "time-averaged taphocoenosis" resulting from the accumulation of "skeletal remains undiluted by rapid large-volume deposition of sediment." He emphasized that the presence of a partially articulated bird wing strongly argues against reworking and in favor of low sedimentation rates with little or no disturbance of organic remains. In a recent publication, Gallagher (2002: 296) expanded on this theme by suggesting that "One possible way to interpret the basal Hornerstown MFL is a condensed section lag, an accumulation of remanié fossils that represent protracted time averaging over the K/T boundary."

The alternative hypothesis in support of reworking was originally proposed by Minard et al. (1969). Kennedy and Cobban (1996: 799) invoked this hypothesis to explain the concentration of ammonites in the MFL at the Inversand Pit. They concluded that because all of the ammonites are phosphatic fragments of internal molds and are ostensibly absent in the underlying New Egypt Formation, the fossils were reworked from "an underlying unit, or from some now-eroded unit, or have been concentrated by in-situ winnowing."

There are several pieces of evidence against the hypothesis of condensation and in favor of reworking.

1. The single most persuasive piece of evidence is that all the internal molds of cephalopods, bivalves, and gastropods in the MFL at the Inversand Pit, the Crosswicks Creek Drainage, and Parkers Creek are composed of New Egypt Formation lithology. At Parkers Creek, late Maastrichtian fossils occur in the uppermost New Egypt Formation, at the formational contact, and up to 13 cm above it. The material in the MFL exhibits a uniformly robust preservation, presumably representing those fossils that survived reworking. That the New Egypt Formation is the source of these fossils is evident not only in their lithology, but by the fact that the same species occur in the top of the New Egypt Formation below the formational contact.

2. Not all vertebrate fossils in the MFL experienced the same taphonomic history. Gallagher (2002) reported differences in the state of preservation of the vertebrates at the Inversand Pit. For example, mosasaur teeth, which are Cretaceous, show more abrasion, presumably due to more reworking, than Paleocene vertebrates. (See Staron et al. [2001] for a discussion of the use of Rare Earth Element [REE] signatures to sort out the taphonomic history of the vertebrate fossils in the MFL at the Inversand Pit.)

3. Gallagher and Parris (1985) stated that the base of the MFL at the Inversand Pit is 10 cm above the formational contact and presented this piece of evidence as an argument against reworking. However, the formational contact may be higher than Gallagher and Parris (1985) supposed. The poorly preserved specimens of Pycnodonte dissimilaris are probably in the New Egypt Formation and the accumulation of molluscan internal molds and vertebrates 20 cm above this layer may mark the formational contact and constitute the MFL. This alternative interpretation is consistent with our observations at Crosswicks Creek and Parkers Creek and paves the way for reworking as an explanation for the MFL.

4. Even if the entire unit at the Inversand Pit is interpreted as the MFL, the different layers imply a sequence of different processes to account for their accumulation, not a single process. For example, the layer of *Pycnodonte dissimilaris* with original shell material may be the result of one kind of taphonomic process whereas the layer of molluscan internal molds approximately 20 cm above it may represent another taphonomic process, such as reworking. It is also important to take into account differences in the mineralogy and microstructure of the various fossils, producing differences in preservational potential.

5. While the presence of an articulated bird wing in the MFL clearly argues against reworking, it also argues against slow sedimentation. An articulated bird wing could not have survived intact on the sea floor over hundreds of thousands of years in a relatively shallow shelf environment (P.J. Harries, personal commun., 2004). It is more likely to have been buried relatively rapidly subsequent to the reworking of other fossils. This is probably true of most Paleocene vertebrates in the MFL, including crocodiles and turtles.

6. The absence of an enriched layer of iridium at Parkers Creek and Sewell is consistent with the hypothesis of reworking and bioturbation spanning the K/T boundary, which would have destroyed any iridium spike. The data are less consistent with the notion of slow, steady, undisturbed sedimentation through the end of the Cretaceous and into the Paleocene. As pointed out by Claeys et al. (2002), an original layer of iridium can be modified by reworking, bioturbation, diagenesis, chemical diffusion, and sediment dilution.

In summary, the sections at the Inversand Pit, Crosswicks Creek, and Parkers Creek indicate the importance of erosion and winnowing to produce a fossil lag deposit. Paleocene vertebrates may have accumulated during the deposition of the sediments covering reworked fossils. Subsequent to the exhumation of the New Egypt Formation fossils, and simultaneously with and subsequent to the deposition of the Paleocene fossils, the sea floor must have experienced extensive bioturbation, which would have produced additional reworking. Burrows filled with large particles can result from the direct activities of burrowing organisms, which ingest fine sediments and leave a residue of larger particles. Alternatively, relict burrows can be passively infilled with larger grains as well as shells (see Aller and Aller, 1986, for modern examples). The high incidence of burrows at the formational contact may reflect the intensified activity of Paleocene animals burrowing into the relatively carbon-rich New Egypt Formation.

The various exposures of the MFL may

represent different levels of chronostratigraphic completeness due to different rates of sedimentation and reworking at each site. More reworking and removal of sediment may have occurred at the Inversand Pit as indicated by the absence of ammonites from the top of the New Egypt Formation, whereas they are present at the top of the New Egypt Formation at Crosswicks Creek and Parkers Creek. Alternatively, these differences may reflect the general scarcity and localized nature of fossils as well as the original distribution of the organisms themselves (see below).

To fully explain the stratigraphic sections in New Jersey, it is necessary to take into account the events inferred to have occurred at the end of the Cretaceous. The best record of what happened in this region at that time is the Bass River borehole, as documented by Olsson et al. (1997, 2002). This site represented a midshelf environment, approximately 100 m deep. An enriched layer of iridium is preserved below a thin bed of spherules (6 cm thick). The spherule bed is capped with a 10-cm-thick layer of glauconitic silty clay with calcareous clay clasts. The clay clasts contain Maastrichtian foraminifera and calcareous nannofossils and the matrix contains Danian foraminifera and dinoflagellates.

Olsson et al. (2002) reconstructed sea level changes at this site and, by implication, on the entire New Jersey coast, by analyzing the sequence of foraminiferal biofacies in the core. They documented a gradual decline in sea level through the late Maastrichtian with a steeper decline starting approximately 22,000 years before the K/T boundary. They estimated that sea level was approximately 50 m above the present level at the K/T boundary and increased slightly thereafter in the early Danian.

These changes in sea level parallel global changes in temperature. Olsson et al. (2001, 2002) studied the biogeographic distribution of planktonic foraminifera in the late Maastrichtian and analyzed the oxygen isotopic composition of their shells. On the basis of these data, they documented a warming trend starting approximately 500,000 years and ending approximately 22,000 years before the K/T boundary. This warming trend co-
incides with the development of the *P. grallator* and *D. iris* zones (R.K. Olsson, personal commun., 2003).

2004

The Bass River core provides evidence for a bolide impact and subsequent tsunami. Olsson et al. (2002) interpreted the spherule layer as fallout from a ballistic vapor cloud produced by a bolide impact. They interpreted the layer of clay clasts above the spherule layer as the result of a tsunami generated by slope failure on the New Jersey margin, following the bolide impact. Because the lithology of these clasts does not match that of the New Egypt Formation, they argued that the clasts were transported shoreward from a deeper water setting. However, it is unclear why such a tsunami would not have destroyed the underlying, fragile layer of spherules.

Bralower et al. (1998), Norris et al. (2000), and Norris and Firth (2002) have also cited evidence for mixing and disturbance of sediment, associated with slumping and mass wasting along the Atlantic continental shelf, produced by an impact at the K/T boundary. These authors hypothesized a catastrophic failure of the western margin of the North Atlantic due to earthquakes associated with the impact, producing composite mass wasting and gravity flows leading to remobilization of sediments.

Gallagher (2002: 296) reinterpreted the MFL at the Inversand Pit in light of these new data: "The MFL fossil bed is the product of tsunami mixing and erosion, creating the formational contact and producing a lag of Cretaceous fossils, over which the remains of Paleocene survivors accumulated during protracted mortality in the wake of the K/T environmental disturbance." He cited evidence of "clay rip-up clasts, small quartz pebbles, and stacked imbricated clusters of single oyster valves at the base of the MFL ... indicative of sediment disturbance."

In contrast, there are few indications that definitely link the Parkers Creek site with a bolide impact. The section lacks an enriched layer of iridium and no spherules characteristic of the ejecta layer at Bass River have been recovered at the formational contact or in the basal Hornerstown Formation. The only piece of evidence of a bolide impact is a dinoflagellate with pockmarked damage consistent with melting. However, this damage could equally have been produced by fungal degradation.

The MFL at Parkers Creek is the result of a complex series of events. Winnowing and reworking probably began at Parkers Creek prior to the end of the Cretaceous, coincident with the relatively steep decline in sea level cited by Olsson et al. (2002). The environment at Parkers Creek was shallower than that at the Bass River borehole, approximately 50 m deep, suggesting that it would have been more affected by a drop in sea level. The catastrophic failure of the Atlantic Coastal margin after impact, as documented by Norris et al. (2000) and Norris and Firth (2002), would have caused further remobilization of sediments and reworking, destroying any spherules that may have originally been laid down from the impact. A gradual rise in sea level in the early Danian coincident with the deposition of the Hornerstown Formation would have further reworked, redistributed, and redeposited Cretaceous fossils, at the same time as Paleocene fossils accumulated, producing a mixed assemblage. In this respect, the MFL is similar to lag deposits characteristic of a "transgressive surface of erosion" in a transgressive systems tract (Becker et al., 1996, 1998; Hwang and Heller, 2002). Subsequent burrowing by Paleocene animals would have caused large scale bioturbation.

In summary, there is no unique evidence at Parkers Creek that links the fossil accumulations at this site to the catastrophic events at the end of the Cretaceous. However, the record of these events at the Bass River borehole clearly argues that they must have played a role in producing the fossil deposits at Parkers Creek. The evidence of these events at Parkers Creek may well have been obliterated by erosion and reworking, perhaps associated with the events themselves and subsequent transgression.

DISCOSCAPHITES IRIS ZONE

The *Discoscaphites iris* Zone in New Jersey is not equally fossiliferous everywhere. The ammonites and associated invertebrate fauna are most abundant in the Manasquan River Drainage, central Monmouth County

NO. 287

(Landman et al., in prep. a). The discoscaphites are larger and more numerous at this site than anywhere else. Ammonites are much less abundant at Parkers Creek, Crosswicks Creek, and the Inversand Pit.

This difference in ammonite abundance may reflect preservational factors, notably degree of reworking, as previously noted. However, it may also reflect the preferred habitat of the living organisms in terms of water depth. If we assume that sea level was 50 m above the present level at the K/T boundary (Olsson et al., 2002), we can calculate the approximate water depth at each site in New Jersey by subtracting out its present elevation, assuming that there has been little tectonic movement in the region since the end of the Cretaceous (Miller et al., 2004) and neglecting such factors as sediment loading and compaction. According to these calculations, the Manasquan River Drainage was 20 m deep, whereas all the other sites were 30-50 m deep. Ammonites and other invertebrates may have preferred a shallow water habitat.

In New Jersey, the *D. iris* Zone occupies the uppermost Maastrichtian and is truncated on top by an unconformity spanning the K/ T boundary. Fossils from the *D. iris* Zone are reworked into the overlying Paleocene strata. This same pattern appears on the Gulf Coastal Plain.

Kennedy et al. (2001) described the ammonites in the Brazos River section in Falls County, Texas. These ammonites represent the D. iris Zone and consist mostly of Eubaculites carinatus and Discoscaphites sphaeroidalis Kennedy and Cobban, 2000, which is closely related to D. iris. These ammonites range through the upper 11 m of the Corsicana Formation and are preserved with their original aragonitic shell. In contrast, the basal part of the Kincaid Formation yields phosphatic, glauconitic fragments of Eubaculites and Discoscaphites, which were presumably reworked from the underlying Corsicana Formation. According to Hansen et al. (1987), the formational contact marks the K/ T boundary (although see Kennedy et al., 2001, for alternative viewpoints on the position of the boundary).

The *D. iris* Zone is present at the classic locality of the Owl Creek Formation on Owl

Creek, Tippah County, Mississippi (Kennedy and Cobban, 2000). The Owl Creek Formation at this site consists of dark greenish gray, micaceous, calcareous, argillaceous, slightly glauconitic sand and is unconformably overlain by the Paleocene Clayton Formation, the base of which is a hard, fossiliferous, sandy limestone (Sohl, 1960: 39). The base of the Clayton Formation contains reworked fossils of Cretaceous age, including Discoscaphites. In Hardeman County, Tennessee, the base of the Clayton Formation consists of approximately 1.5 m of marl containing Paleocene fossils as well as reworked fossils from the Owl Creek Formation (Sohl, 1960: 23).

Stephenson (1955) and Campbell and Lee (2000) described the Owl Creek Formation from Crowley's Ridge in Stoddard and Scott counties, southeastern Missouri. The formation at this site consists of yellowish brown and greenish gray, glauconitic, finely micaceous sand or sandy clay and yields *Sphenodiscus pleurisepta*, *Eubaculites carinatus*, and *Discoscaphites iris*. The formation is unconformably overlain by the Clayton Formation, the base of which consists of palegreen, sandy, very glauconitic clay containing a mixture of Cretaceous and Paleocene fossils.

In the Western Interior, the D. iris Zone correlates with the dinosaur-bearing strata of the Lance and Hell Creek formations and their equivalents. The confirmed highest occurrence of Jeletzkytes nebrascensis, and hence the top of the J. nebrascensis Zone, is in the lowermost part of the Hell Creek Formation. South Dakota (Hartman and Kirkland, 2002; Cochran et al., 2003). All of the ammonites above the basal Hell Creek Formation are fragmentary specimens and lie well below the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary. Hoganson and Murphy (2002) reported a fragment of Discoscaphites cf. D. conradi or Jeletzkytes cf. J. nebrascensis from the Breien Member of the Hell Creek Formation in south-central North Dakota, the top of which is 46-61 m below the Hell Creek/Fort Union formational contact. Hartman and Kirkland (2002: 292) reported a fragment of Hoploscaphites? from the Fort Rice unit in the middle of the Hell Creek Formation above the Breien Member, and speculated

2004

that this specimen was probably the youngest ammonite in the Western Interior. Jeletzky and Clemens (1965) reported a fragment of the early whorls of a scaphite from the Lance Formation approximately 330 m above the top of the Fox Hills Formation in eastern Wyoming. These occurrences of fragmentary scaphites could represent an extension of the *J. nebrascensis* Zone or evidence of a higher, as yet poorly documented zone (Kennedy et al., 1998). However, even these occurrences are probably below the *D. iris* Zone on the Gulf and Atlantic Coastal Plains.

PALEOGEOGRAPHY AT THE K/T BOUNDARY

Knowledge of the paleogeography of North America at the end of the Cretaceous helps in understanding the distribution of ammonite communities at that time as well as informing discussions about the possible consequences of a bolide impact. We reconstruct the paleogeography of the eastern half of North America based on the distribution of the D. iris Zone and the location of stratigraphic sections that span the K/T boundary, representing both marine and terrestrial settings (fig. 15, appendix). Some marine sections are stratigraphically complete, with layers of iridium and spherules (e.g., Bass River core, Burlington County, New Jersey; Olsson et al., 1997), indicating that the water was relatively deep or that the site was reflectively far from shore. Most marine sections, however, contain an unconformity at the boundary (e.g., Moscow Landing, Sumter County, Alabama; Habib et al., 1996), but it is generally difficult to assess how much, if any, of the section is missing. Such unconformities, if significant, may indicate that the water was relatively shallow or that the site was relatively close to shore, especially if terrestrial fossils are also present (e.g., Savannah River Site, southwestern South Carolina; Hargrove and Engelhardt, 1997).

The reconstructed paleogeographic map shows the general outline of the eastern half of North America (fig. 15). It is similar to the map prepared by Sohl and Koch (1986, fig. 5.10) for the *Haustator bilira* Assemblage Zone, by Lehman (1987) for the late Maastrichtian, and by Kennedy et al. (1998) for the *Jeletzkytes nebrascensis* Zone. The shoreline approximately parallels the Fall Line on the Atlantic Coastal Plain and forms a broad embayment on the Gulf Coastal Plain cutting across Mississippi, Tennessee, and Missouri.

The Western Interior Seaway is not shown on the map because of lack of direct evidence. There are no known marine K/T boundary sections in the Western Interior. The site recently described by Terry et al. (2001) in southwestern South Dakota is actually much lower and occurs in the *Hoploscaphites nicolletii* or *Jeletzkytes nebrascensis* Zone (Harries et al., 2002; Palamarczuk et al., 2003). In contrast, Johnson et al. (2002: 504) hypothesized that a marine K/T boundary section may exist in the subsurface in the eastern part of the Williston Basin in central North Dakota.

There is, however, indirect evidence that a portion of the Western Interior Seaway may have persisted until the end of the Cretaceous. The Cantapeta Tongue in the upper one-third of the Hell Creek Formation in North south-central Dakota contains Ophiomorpha burrows and sedimentary structures indicative of a marine or brackish water environment (Murphy et al., 2002: 25, 26). Pearson et al. (2002: 164) also reported the presence of sharks and rays tolerant of marine conditions in the top of the Hell Creek Formation up to 3-4.5 m below the K/T boundary in southwestern North Dakota. They also noted the presence of shore birds (Hesperornithiformes) up to 10 m below the boundary at these same sites, implying that a marine body of water may have been nearby at the time of deposition. In addition, Wroblewski (2004) described sharks' teeth from the upper Maastrichtian Ferris Formation in southern Wyoming, in association with marine trace fossils and tidally induced sedimentary structures. He reported that the richest assemblage of sharks' teeth was collected 5 m below the K/T boundary in what he interpreted as an interdistributary bay fill as part of a brackish water estuarine system.

SYSTEMATIC PALEONTOLOGY

CONVENTIONS

The ammonites described in this paper are reposited in the Academy of Natural Scienc-





Fig. 15. Paleogeographic map showing the position of the shoreline of the eastern half of North America at the end of the Cretaceous based on stratigraphic sections spanning the K/T boundary. Circles are marine sections; boxes are terrestrial sections; circles within boxes are mixed marine/terrestrial sections. Explanations for 1–27 are in the appendix. 28, 29 = Raton Basin, New Mexico and Colorado (Izett, 1990); 30 = Denver Basin, Colorado (Brown, 1943; Nichols and Fleming, 2002); 31 = Lance Creek area, Wyoming (Bohor et al., 1987); 32 = Powder River Basin, near Sussex, Johnson County, Wyoming (Nichols et al., 1992); 33 = Slope and Bowman Counties, North Dakota (Nichols and Johnson, 2002); 34 = Makoshika State Park, Dawson County, Montana (Lund et al., 2002); 35 = Hell Creek area, Montana (Bohor et al., 1987).

es of Philadelphia (ANSP); the American Museum of Natural History (AMNH); the Monmouth Amateur Paleontologist's Society (MAPS), Long Branch, New Jersey; the University of Iowa (SUI); and the U.S. National Museum (USNM). Dimensions of the specimens are expressed in millimeters. Measurements of the nautilids, baculites, and scaphites are illustrated in figure 16. Arrows on the photos indicate the base of the body chamber,





Fig. 16. **A.** Measurements of nautilids. **B.** Definition of taper angle of baculites. **C.** Terminology and measurements of scaphites.

where visible. All specimens were photographed in the conventional manner (with the aperture on top) except for the nautilids, scaphites, and sphenodiscids, which were oriented with the aperture on the bottom, approximating their position in life. Suture terminology is that of Wedekind (1916), as reviewed by Kullmann and Wiedmann (1970). The term "rib index" as applied to baculites is the number of ribs in a distance equal to the whorl height at the midpoint of the interval over which the ribs were counted. The value of the rib index can be an integer or a fraction, although a fractional part of a rib does not make any sense from a practical point of view.

In discoscaphites with multiple rows of tubercles, we report the distance between tubercle rows at midshaft. The distance is also given, if possible, between outer ventrolateral tubercles on either side of the venter. These measurements involve several approximations: (1) the measurements are taken from the tips of the tubercles or, if the tubercles are elongate, from midway on the swellings; (2) the measurements do not take into account the curvature of the flanks (sometimes the tubercles occur on an inflated surface, sometimes on a flat surface); and (3) the measurements are taken to the nearest 0.25 mm.

CLASS CEPHALOPODA CUVIER, 1797

SUBCLASS NAUTILOIDEA AGASSIZ, 1847

ORDER NAUTILIDA AGASSIZ, 1847

SUPERFAMILY NAUTILITACEAE DE BLAINVILLE, 1825

FAMILY EUTREPHOCERATIDAE MILLER, 1951

Genus Eutrephoceras Hyatt, 1894

TYPE SPECIES: *Nautilus Dekayi* Morton, 1834, p. 291, pl. 8, fig. 4, by original designation by Hyatt, 1894, p. 555.

Eutrephoceras dekayi (Morton, 1834) Figures 17–21

- Nautilus Dekayi Morton, 1834: 291, pl. 8, fig. 4.
- *Nautilus Dekayi* Morton. Whitfield, 1892: 243, pl. 37, figs. 1–6; pl. 38, figs. 1–4.
- *Eutrephoceras Dekayi*. Hyatt, 1894: 556, pl. 13, figs. 4–8; pl. 14, fig. 1.
- *Eutrephoceras dekayi* (Morton). Gardner, 1916: 372, pl. 13, fig. 9.
- *Eutrephoceras dekayi* (Morton). Miller and Garner, 1962: 102, figs. 1, 2; pl. 65, figs. 1–6; pl. 66, figs. 1, 2; pl. 67, figs. 1–9 (with complete synonymy).

TYPE: The holotype ANSP 19484 is the



Fig. 17. *Eutrephoceras dekayi* (Morton, 1834). A–D. AMNH 47440, uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County,

ell with a r

original of Morton, 1834, pl. 8, fig. 4, from the "marls of Monmouth and Burlington counties, New Jersey", by subsequent designation by Whitfield (1892: 213, pl. 37, figs. 2, 3) and illustrated (uncoated) in figure 17E-G. It is labeled as being from Burlington or Monmouth County but Whitfield (1892: 244) identified it as being from Monmouth County. Miller and Garner (1962: fig. 1E) referred to it as being from "the Navesink marl of Monmouth or Burlington County, New Jersey." It was refigured by Meek (1876: text-fig. 67), Whitfield (1892: pl. 37, figs. 2, 3; pl. 38, fig. 1), Miller (1947: pl. 6, figs. 4, 5), and Miller and Garner (1962: pl. 65, figs. 5, 6). It is a large fragment, one-half whorl long, of a body chamber 80.8 mm in diameter. The apertural margin is slightly flared, suggesting it is an adult. It is gray in color with some preserved shell. On the basis of its preservation, it probably does not come from the Merchantville, Marshalltown, or Tinton formations, nor from the basal Navesink Formation at Atlantic Highlands, nor from the MFL at the base of the Hornerstown Formation. It is probably derived from the upper part of the Navesink Formation in Monmouth County.

MATERIAL: Twenty-eight specimens: MAPS A2012h1 and A2012h2 from AMNH loc. 3346 from the top of the New Egypt Formation 1.5-2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation at Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey; MAPS A2012h3-6 and AMNH 47124-27, 47440-43, and 47463-75 from the top of the New Egypt Formation and the base of the Hornerstown Formation at AMNH loc. 3345 at Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey; and MAPS A2012f7 from the Tinton Formation at Tinton Falls, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

DESCRIPTION: All of the specimens are internal molds without any trace of original shell. Most of them are phragmocones. The measurements are listed in table 4 and indicate a relatively globose shell with a ratio of whorl width to height of 1.39–1.57. The siphuncle is midwhorl to slightly dorsal of midwhorl. The suture is weakly sinuous with low ventral and lateral lobes (fig. 21).

MAPS A2012h2 is one-half whorl of a large body chamber and the last chamber of the phragmocone (fig. 18D–F). The maximum diameter is 101.1 mm. The whorl section at the base of the body chamber is depressed reniform. The ratio of whorl width to height is 1.50. The impressed zone is 0.42 times the whorl height. The siphuncle is relatively central.

MAPS A2012h6 is one-third whorl of a phragmocone 30.0 mm in length consisting of four chambers (fig. 18A–C). The whorl section at the adoral end is depressed reniform with maximum width at one-quarter whorl height. The ratio of whorl width to height is 1.41. The umbilical wall is slightly convex and the umbilical shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded. The flanks and venter are well rounded. The sutures are evenly spaced at distances of approximately 10 mm on the midventer. There are loose fragments of the siphuncle showing the swollen portions between septa and the constricted areas at septal necks.

MAPS A2012h4 is a small, subglobular phragmocone 32.6 mm in diameter (fig. 19H-K). There are 16 chambers. The three most adoral chambers are missing parts of their flanks. The whorl section at the third to last suture is depressed reniform with maximum width at one-third whorl height. The outer flanks and venter are well rounded. The ratio of whorl width to height is 1.46. The umbilicus is tiny, 1.7 mm in diameter. The ratio of umbilical to shell diameter at the third to last suture is 0.06. The sutures are spaced at equal angular increments and are slightly sinuous with weak lateral lobes (fig. 21A). The distance between sutures on the midventer increases gradually from 3.5 mm on the adapical end to 8 mm on the adoral end of the specimen.

New Jersey. A, Right lateral; B, apertural; C, ventral; D, left lateral. E–G. ANSP 19484, holotype, "marls of Monmouth and Burlington counties, New Jersey" (Morton, 1834). E, Apertural; F, ventral; G, left lateral. All figures are $\times 1$.



Fig. 18. *Eutrephoceras dekayi* (Morton, 1834). A-C. MAPS A2012h6, uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County,

MAPS A2012h3 is one-third whorl of a phragmocone 58.2 mm in length (fig. 20E–H). There are eight chambers but the specimen is worn away at the adoral and adapical ends. The whorl section is depressed reniform. The ratio of whorl width to height in the middle of the specimen at the third to last suture (where most of the specimen is still intact) is 1.48. The suture shows weak lateral lobes.

2004

AMNH 47442 is one-half whorl of a phragmocone 53.6 mm in diameter (fig. 20A–D). It consists of 11 chambers plus a small part of another chamber. The whorl section at the adapical end of the specimen is depressed reniform with maximum width at one-third whorl height. The ratio of whorl width to height is 1.50. The siphuncle is slightly dorsal of central. The suture is slightly sinuous.

AMNH 47440 is one-third whorl of a phragmocone 39.0 mm in diameter (fig. 17A–D). It is irregularly broken on the adoral end and consists of parts of nine chambers. Interestingly, five segments of the siphuncle are preserved on the middorsum although this was clearly not their original position in life.

AMNH 47441 is a fragment of the adoral end of a phragmocone and adapical part of the body chamber of a small juvenile 24.3 mm in diameter (fig. 19E–G). It consists of three phragmocone chambers and approximately 0.2 whorls body chamber. The whorl section at the adapical end is depressed reniform but the ratio of whorl width to height cannot be measured because of adhering matrix. The body chamber exhibits the midventral line characteristic of nautilids.

AMNH 47443 is a small phragmocone 20.1 mm in diameter consisting of 13 chambers (fig. 19A–D). The umbilicus is small with a diameter of 0.95 mm at a shell diameter of 17.3 mm (ratio of umbilical diameter to shell diameter = 0.05). The ratio of whorl width to height near the adoral end is 1.39. The sutures are slightly sinuous with

weak ventral and lateral lobes and are spaced at equal angular increments.

MAPS A2012h5 (not illustrated) consists of four septate fragments all belonging to the same individual. The composite diameter is 59.5 mm and represents approximately onehalf whorl consisting of seven chambers. The whorl width at the adapical and adoral ends is approximately 37.3 and 59.8 mm, respectively, implying an increase in whorl width of 1.6 times.

AMNH 47475 (not illustrated) is one-half whorl of a phragmocone 28.3 mm in length. It consists of two pieces representing a total of six chambers. The suture is slightly sinuous with weak lateral and ventral lobes. The venter bears a distinct midline. The siphuncle is dorsal of center on the fifth to last septum.

MAPS A2012f7 from the Tinton Formation is a globular specimen 84.6 mm in diameter (fig. 19L–N). The last one-half whorl is body chamber. The interior of the phragmocone is filled with fecal pellets. The surface of the phragmocone shows longitudinal ornamentation. The body chamber exhibits a flattened venter.

DISCUSSION: Whitfield (1892) figured five specimens from New Jersey in addition to the type: (1) a small phragmocone from Marlboro, New Jersey (pl. 37, fig. 1), reillustrated by Weller (1907, pl. 100, figs. 2, 3), undoubtedly from the Navesink Formation near Big Brook; (2) a large nearly complete specimen from "Hillsboro, New Jersey" (pl. 37, figs. 5, 6), reinterpreted by Miller and Garner (1962: 110) as probably from "Hillsdale, Monmouth County, where the Red Bank formation occurs", but whose locality is still unknown; (3) another large specimen from an unidentified locality (pl. 37, fig. 4), then in the collections of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia, but now apparently lost; (4) approximately one-half whorl of a phragmocone from Marlboro, New Jersey (pl. 38, fig. 2), reillustrated by Weller (1907: pl. 100, fig. 4), and undoubtedly from the Navesink Formation near Big

New Jersey. **A**, Right lateral; **B**, apertural; **C**, ventral. **D–F.** MAPS A2012h2, top of the New Egypt Formation, 1.5-2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3346, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. **D**, Apertural; **E**, ventral; **F**, left lateral. All figures are $\times 1$.



Fig. 19. Eutrephoceras dekayi (Morton, 1834). A-K. Uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

Brook; and (5) a large piece of a phragmocone, approximately one-half whorl, from the "Middle Marls at J. S. Cook's pits, near Tinton, New Jersey" (pl. 38, figs. 3, 4), reillustrated by Weller (1907: pl. 100, fig. 5), who gave the locality as the "Hornerstown marl; Cook's pits near Tinton Falls, New Jersey", and again by Miller (1947: pl. 6, figs. 1–3), who gave the locality as "the Hornerstown marl near Tinton Falls, New Jersey", and probably from the top of the New Egypt Formation or base of the Hornerstown Formation in this area.

Several other specimens of Eutrephoceras dekayi have been illustrated from New Jersey. Weller (1907: pl. 100, fig. 1) figured an internal mold of an incomplete specimen of a phragmocone and body chamber from the "Red Bank sand; Shrewsbury River". Miller and Garner (1962: pl. 67, figs. 4, 5) figured a small broken juvenile (SUI 8741) from "the Navesink marl at Glassboro, N.J." and called it Eutrephoceras dekayi perlatum. Miller and Garner (1962: pl. 65, figs. 1, 2) also illustrated a larger, broken adult (ANSP 19680) from "Burlington County, N.J.," as the same variety. It appears to be the same specimen figured by Whitfield (1892: pl. 37, fig. 4).

Our specimens, with the exception of MAPS A2012f7, all occur in the upper 2 m of the New Egypt Formation and as reworked material in the basal 6 cm of the Hornerstown Formation. There is little variation in the suture among specimens, which is not unexpected for *Eutrephoceras*. A comparison of the suture of MAPS A2012h4 with another specimen of *E. dekayi* (AMNH 50381) from the basal Navesink Formation at Atlantic Highlands reveals no differences (fig. 21).

On the basis of material from the U.S. Western Interior and Gulf and Atlantic Coastal Plains, Miller and Garner (1962) subdivided *Eutrephoceras dekayi* into three varieties: the nominate variety *E. dekayi dekayi*; *E. dekayi perlatum* after *N*[*autilus*] *per-*

latus originally proposed by Morton (1834: 33, pl. 13, fig. 4) for specimens from the Prairie Bluff Chalk of Alabama; and *E. dekayi alcesense* after *Eutrephoceras alcesence* originally proposed by Reeside (1927: 7, pl. 1, figs. 1–3; pl. 2, fig. 1; pl. 3, figs. 1–5; pl. 5, figs. 1, 2) for specimens from the Eagle Sandstone of Montana, Wyoming, Utah, and New Mexico. Miller and Garner (1962) distinguished these varieties on the basis of degree of whorl compression, degree of involution (= depth of impressed zone), and the position of the siphuncle.

We measured the drawings of the whorl sections of the eight specimens figured by Miller and Garner (1962: figs. 1, 2) to obtain a more quantitative understanding of these varieties (table 5). Eutrephoceras dekayi dekavi is the most globose of the three varieties with a ratio of whorl width to height of 1.46– 1.53. It is moderately involute and the siphuncle is just dorsal of center. The ratio of whorl width to height ranges from 1.18 to 1.26 in E. dekayi perlatum but this variety resembles the nominate variety in the other two features. Eutrephoceras dekayi alcesense is the most compressed variety with a ratio of whorl width to height of 1.04 to 1.18. It is also the least involute and is characterized by a siphuncle midway between the center and the dorsum.

On the basis of these measurements, the specimens in our study clearly fall in the variety *Eutrephoceras dekayi dekayi*. However, we hesitate to use the varietal names until we perform a more thorough analysis of the variation within a large sample of specimens from a single horizon at one locality. It is possible that the range of variation exhibited by these three varieties is characteristic of a single population. Differences in the degree of whorl compression may reflect sexual dimorphism, as documented in Recent *Nautilus* by Saunders and Spinosa (1978). The position of the siphuncle changes during ontogeny (Stumbur, 1975), and it is important to

A–D. AMNH 47443. **A**, Right lateral; **B**, apertural; **C**, ventral; **D**, left lateral. **E–G.** AMNH 47441. **E**, Apertural; **F**, ventral; **G**, left lateral. **H–K.** MAPS A2012h4. **H**, Right lateral; **I**, apertural; **J**, ventral; **K**, left lateral. **L–N.** MAPS A2012f7, Tinton Formation, AMNH loc. 3348, near Tinton Falls, Monmouth County, New Jersey. **L**, Apertural; **M**, ventral; **N**, left lateral. All figures are $\times 1$.



Fig. 20. *Eutrephoceras dekayi* (Morton, 1834). Uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. A–D. AMNH 47442. A, Right lateral; B, apertural; C, ventral; D, left lateral. E–H. MAPS A2012h3. E, Right lateral; F, apertural; G, ventral; H, left lateral. All figures are $\times 1$.



Fig. 21. *Eutrephoceras dekayi* (Morton, 1834). **A.** Suture of MAPS A2012h4 at a diameter of 25.7 mm, AMNH loc. 3345, uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. **B.** Suture of AMNH 50381 at a whorl width of 43.8 mm, basal Navesink Formation, Atlantic Highlands, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

take such information into account in collecting data.

OCCURRENCE: This species occurs in the top 2.0 m of the New Egypt Formation and as reworked material in the basal 6 cm of the Hornerstown Formation, near Eatontown, and in the Tinton Formation, near Tinton Falls, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey. It also occurs in the upper part of the Navesink Formation and lower part of the New Egypt Formation in the Crosswicks Creek Drainage, central Monmouth County (Landman et al., in prep. b). It is rare in the Merchantville and Marshalltown formations but relatively common at the base of the Navesink Formation at Atlantic Highlands. Miller and Garner (1962: 109) reported that "In the Cretaceous of New Jersey this species is not abundant, but it occurs in the Navesink marl and the Red Bank sand." They listed six localities from the Navesink Formation in Monmouth, Burlington, Camden, and Gloucester counties and one locality from the Red Bank Sand in Monmouth County (as originally reported by Weller, 1907). They speculated that the specimen from the Hornerstown Formation near Tinton Falls, illustrated by Whitfield (1892: pl. 38, figs. 3, 4) and Weller (1907: pl. 100, fig. 5) but unavailable to them for study was a different species. Gallagher (1993: 92) reported that Eutrephoceras dekayi is not common in New Jersey but occurs "from the Navesink up into the Hornerstown" and argued that a fragment from the upper part of the Hornerstown Formation at the Inversand Pit probably belongs to this species. Outside of New Jersey, E. dekayi is widespread in Campanian to Maastrichtian strata on the Gulf and Atlantic Coastal Plains and in age-equivalent strata in the Western Interior.

	A REAL PROPERTY OF A READ		and the second			The second s	and the second
	AMNH loc.	D	WW	WH	WW/WH	Depth/WH	Position
MAPS A2012h2	3346	101.1	68.1	45.5	1.50	0.42	0.51
MAPS A2012h3	3345		50.4	34.0	1.48		
MAPS A2012h4	3345	32.6	22.0	15.1	1.46		
MAPS A2012h6	3345		30.1	21.4	1.41	_	
MAPS A2012f7	3348	78.8	69.0 ^b	50.5 ^b	1.37 ^b		
AMNH 47442	3345	53.6	28.5	19.0	1.50		0.46
AMNH 47443	3345	20.1	15.6	11.2	1.39		
AMNH 47475	3345		20.3	12.9	1.57		0.37

 TABLE 4

 Measurements (mm) of Eutrephoceras dekayi (Morton, 1834)^a

^aD, maximum diameter (not necessarily where WW and WH were measured); WW, whorl width; WH, whorl height; Depth, depth of impressed zone; Position, relative position of the siphuncle between the dorsum and venter with respect to the dorsum. See figure 16 for an explanation of measurements.

^bEstimate.

Specimen	Locality	Source	Variety	WW/WH	Depth/WH	Position
SUI 4227	Prairie Bluff Chalk, MS	M&G, 1962, fig. 1C	dekayi	1.46	0.36	0.47
SUI 4230	Pierre Shale, MT	M&G, 1962, fig. 1D	dekayi	1.50	0.37	0.39
ANSP 19484 ^b	Navesink Marl, NJ	M&G, 1962, fig. 1E	dekayi	1.53	0.39	0.42
SUI 4232	Pierre Shale, MT	M&G, 1962, fig. 2A	perlatum	1.18	0.38	0.43
ANSP 19680	Navesink Marl, NJ	M&G, 1962, fig. 2B	perlatum	1.25	0.39	0.46
SUI 4233	Prairie Bluff Chalk, MS	M&G, 1962, fig. 2C	perlatum	1.26	0.38	0.43
SUI 4234	Pierre Shale, MT	M&G, 1962, fig. 1A	alcesense	1.04	0.33	0.22
SUI 8740	Navesink Marl, NJ	M&G, 1962, fig. 1B	alcesense	1.18	0.29	0.18

 TABLE 5

 Measurements of Eutrephoceras dekayi (Morton, 1834) Described by Miller and Garner (1962: figs. 1, 2)^a

*See table 4 for explanation of abbreviations. Localities are as reported in Miller and Garner (1962). Sources are figures from Miller and Garner (1962).

^bHolotype.

ORDER AMMONOIDEA ZITTEL, 1884

SUBORDER AMMONITINA HYATT, 1889

SUPERFAMILY ACANTHOCERATACEAE DE GROSSOUVRE, 1894

FAMILY SPHENODISCIDAE HYATT, 1900

Genus Sphenodiscus Meek, 1871

TYPE SPECIES: Ammonites lenticularis Owen, 1852: 579 (non Young and Bird, 1828: 269, fig. 5), by original designation, = Ammonites lobata Tuomey, 1856: 168.

Sphenodiscus pleurisepta (Conrad, 1857) Figure 22

- Ammonites pleurisepta Conrad, 1857: 159, pl. 15, fig. 1.
- *Sphenodiscus lenticularis* (Owen). Kellum, 1962: 68, pl. 4, figs. 3, 4; pl. 5, fig. 1; pl. 6, figs. 1, 2.
- Sphenodiscus pleurisepta (Conrad, 1857). Cobban and Kennedy, 1995: 12, fig. 8.5 (with full synonymy).
- Sphenodiscus pleurisepta (Conrad, 1857). Kennedy et al., 1996: 11, figs. 4A, 5–12.

TYPE: The holotype is USNM 9888, said



Fig. 22. Sphenodiscus pleurisepta (Conrad, 1857). AMNH 47118, uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County. A, Right lateral; **B**, left lateral. All figures are $\times 1$.

to be from "Jacun, 3 miles below Laredo", but probably from the Escondido Formation in the Rio Grande Region, Maverick County, Texas (Stephenson, 1941, 1955).

2004

MATERIAL: AMNH 47118 from the New Egypt/Hornerstown formational contact, AMNH loc. 3345, Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, Monmouth County.

DESCRIPTION: AMNH 47118 is a phragmocone 69.8 mm in diameter with part of the innermost flanks missing and most of the venter worn off (fig. 22). The specimen is involute with a very small umbilicus. The umbilical wall is steep and convex and the umbilical shoulder is sharply rounded on the adapical end of the specimen. The inner flanks are concave and the middle and outer flanks are broadly rounded on the adapical end of the specimen. Rectiradiate, straight, broad ribs are visible on the adapical onehalf of the specimen. There is a row of five radially elongated nodes on the midflanks with a distance of approximately 12 mm between the two most adoral nodes. Two nodes are preserved on the outer flanks on the right side.

DISCUSSION: The presence of two rows of nodes on the flanks distinguishes *Sphenodiscus pleurisepta* from the widely occurring *Sphenodiscus lobatus*. Cobban and Kennedy (1995) discussed the synonymy of *S. pleurisepta* and its differences from congeneric species. Because this species has an unusually long range (the entire upper Maastrichtian), it is possible that more than one species is masquerading under this name. It is probably a good idea to closely compare samples of this species from opposite ends of its stratigraphic range.

OCCURRENCE: New Egypt/Hornerstown formational contact, Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, Monmouth County. *Sphenodiscus pleurisepta* has not previously been reported from New Jersey. It also occurs in the Crosswicks Creek Drainage in southwestern Monmouth County (Landman et al., in prep. b). Elsewhere on the Gulf and Atlantic Coastal Plains, this species is known from the Owl Creek Formation in Missouri, Mississippi, and Tennessee (Kennedy and Cobban, 2000), the Prairie Bluff Chalk in Mississippi (Cobban and Kennedy, 1995), the Corsicana Formation in northeast Texas (Kennedy and Cobban, 1993), and the Severn Formation, Prince Georges and Kent counties, Maryland (Kennedy et al., 1997; Landman et al., 2004). It is known from the Escondido Formation in Trans-Pecos Texas and northern Mexico (Stephenson, 1941, 1955). In the Western Interior, this species occurs in the Hoploscaphites birkelundae Zone of the Pierre Shale in Meade and Pennington counties, South Dakota (Kennedy et al., 1996; Larson et al., 1997), the Fox Hills Formation in Niobrara County, Wyoming (Kennedy et al., 1996), and the upper part of the Pierre Shale and Fox Hills Formation in Weld County, Colorado (Kennedy et al., 1996; Landman and Cobban, 2003).

Sphenodiscus lobatus (Tuomey, 1856) Figures 23–25

- Ammonites lenticularis Owen, 1852: 579, pl. 8, fig. 5.
- Ammonites lobatus Tuomey, 1856: 168.
- *Sphenodiscus lobatus* (Tuomey, 1856). Cobban and Kennedy, 1995: 12, figs. 6.2, 6.3, 8.4, 8.6– 8.11, 12.18, 12.19, 16.16, 16.17 (with full synonymy).
- *Sphenodiscus lobatus* (Tuomey, 1856). Kennedy and Cobban, 1996: 802, fig. 2.4–2.6, 2.13, 2.14, 2.19–2.21.
- *Sphenodiscus lobatus* (Tuomey, 1856). Kennedy et al., 1997: 4, figs. 3–8, 9A–I, 10.

TYPE: The holotype, from Noxubee County, Mississippi, is lost (*fide* Stephenson, 1941: 434).

MATERIAL: There are two specimens: MAPS A2002a8 and A2002a9 from the Tinton Formation, AMNH loc. 3348, 0.2 km north of the intersection of Water Street and Tinton Avenue, Tinton Falls, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

DESCRIPTION: MAPS A2002a9 is one-third whorl of a large phragmocone (not illustrated). The whorl width and height at the adoral end of the specimen are approximately 66.6 mm and 164.0 mm, respectively; the ratio of whorl width to height is 0.41. The flanks are very broadly rounded and converge to an acute venter. Part of the suture on the adapical end of the specimen is illustrated (fig. 25A).

MAPS A2002a8 is a large specimen, 285 mm in diameter, with the adoral end slightly crushed in (figs. 23, 24). Most of the speci-



Fig. 23. *Sphenodiscus lobatus* (Tuomey, 1856). MAPS A2002a8, Tinton Formation, AMNH loc. 3348, Tinton Falls, Monmouth County, New Jersey, left lateral. Note the circular depressions near the base of the body chamber on the adoral end of the specimen. Figure reduced $\times 0.62$.

men is phragmocone with barely less than one-eighth whorl of body chamber attached. However, part of the rest of the body chamber was still present but was not collected in the field because it was too crushed. Three oval to circular depressions appear on the midflanks of the body chamber on the left side, the largest of which is approximately 16 mm in diameter. The inner flanks are nearly flat and slightly divergent, the midflanks are very broadly rounded and subparallel, and the outer flanks are nearly flat and



Fig. 24. *Sphenodiscus lobatus* (Tuomey, 1856). **A, B.** MAPS A2002a8 (same specimen as in fig. 23). **A,** Apertural; **B,** ventral. Figure reduced $\times 0.70$.



Fig. 25. *Sphenodiscus lobatus* (Tuomey, 1856), Tinton Formation, AMNH loc. 3348, Tinton Falls, Monmouth County, New Jersey. **A.** MAPS 2002a9, suture at the adapical end of the specimen at a whorl height of approximately 139 mm. **B.** MAPS A2002a8, suture at a whorl height of approximately 91 mm.

converge to an acute venter. The whorl width and height near the base of the body chamber are approximately 35.2 mm and 170 mm, respectively, although the whorl width is underestimated due to crushing; the ratio of whorl width to height is 0.21. The flanks are smooth without any nodes. The suture has a very broad and shallow external lobe with a low, little incised median saddle (fig. 25B).

DISCUSSION: These specimens lack the two rows of nodes characteristic of *Sphenodiscus pleurisepta* and are referred to *Sphenodiscus lobatus*. Cobban and Kennedy (1995) fully discussed *S. lobatus* and the differences with congeneric species. The shallow circular depressions and crushed body chamber may indicate predation.

OCCURRENCE: Tinton Formation, near Tinton Falls, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey (Weller, 1907; Reeside, 1962; see also Gallagher, 1993). Sphenodiscus lobatus has also been reported in New Jersey from the MFL at the Inversand Marl Pit, Gloucester County (Gallagher, 1993; Kennedy et al., 1995; Kennedy and Cobban, 1996). Elsewhere on the Gulf and Atlantic Coastal Plains, this species is known from the Corsicana Formation in northeast Texas (Kennedy and Cobban, 1993); the upper part of the Ripley Formation in Mississippi; the Prairie Bluff Chalk in Alabama and Mississippi (Cobban and Kennedy, 1995); the Providence Sand in the Chattahoochee River area, Alabama and Georgia; the upper part of the Peedee Formation in North Carolina (Landman et al., 2004); and the Severn Formation in Prince Georges County, Maryland (Kennedy et al., 1997). It is known from the Escondido Formation in Trans-Pecos Texas and northern Mexico (Stephenson, 1941, 1955). In the Western Interior, this species occurs in the *Hoploscaphites nicolletii* and *Jeletzkytes nebrascensis* Zones of the Fox Hills Formation in north-central South Dakota (Landman and Waage, 1993) and in the *J. nebrascensis* Zone of the Pierre Shale in southeastern South Dakota and northeastern Nebraska (Kennedy et al., 1998).

Sphenodiscus spp. Figure 26

MATERIAL: There are four specimens that are too fragmentary for specific determination: AMNH 47119, 47122, and 50382 from the New Egypt/Hornerstown formational contact, AMNH loc. 3345, Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey; and AMNH 47170 from the upper part of the New Egypt Formation, approximately 2–2.5 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3350, a tributary of Hockhockson Brook, 0.7 km southwest of the intersection of Water Street and Tinton Avenue, Tinton Falls, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

DESCRIPTION: AMNH 47119 (fig. 26) and 47122 (not illustrated) are pieces of phragmocones. Both specimens are badly worn with etched sutures. Neither specimen bears any trace of nodes. AMNH 47119 consists of two fragments with a preserved whorl height of 86 mm. It is broken in half and shows an oxyconic whorl section. Part of the left side is covered with botryoidal swellings, possibly due to a parasitic infestation or more probably a diagenetic phenomenon. AMNH 47122 consists of four pieces, the largest of which has a preserved whorl height of 77 mm.

AMNH 47170 is a fragment of an internal mold of a large body chamber with most of the venter missing (not illustrated); it is 230 mm in maximum length. The whorl section is oxyconic with a sharply rounded venter. The specimen is poorly preserved but exhibits a weak swelling on the outer flanks.

DISCUSSION: These specimens are too fragmentary for specific identification. AMNH 47170 shows a weak swelling on the outer flanks indicating that it may be related to *Sphenodiscus pleurisepta*. The other specimens do not show any evidence of nodes, suggesting kinship with *S. lobatus*.

OCCURRENCE: These specimens occur at the New Egypt/Hornerstown formational contact, AMNH loc. 3345, Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, and 2–2.5 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3350, near Tinton Falls, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

SUBORDER ANCYLOCERATINA WIEDMANN, 1966

SUPERFAMILY TURRILITACEAE GILL, 1871

FAMILY BACULITIDAE GILL, 1871

[= EUBACULITINAE BRUNNSCHWEILER, 1966]

Genus Eubaculites Spath, 1926

TYPE SPECIES: *Baculites vagina* Forbes var. *ootacodensis* Stoliczka, 1866: 199, pl. 90, figs. 14, ?15, by original designation by Spath, 1926: 80.

Eubaculites carinatus (Morton, 1834) Figures 27–29, 30A, B, 33U–Y

Baculites carinatus Morton, 1834: 44, pl. 13, fig. 1. *Baculites lyelli* d'Orbigny, 1847: pl. 1, figs. 3–7. *Baculites tippaensis* Conrad, 1858: 334, pl. 3, fig. 27.

- *Baculites spillmani* Conrad, 1858: 335, pl. 35, fig. 24.
- Baculites sheromingensis Crick, 1924: 139, pl. 9, figs. 1–3.
- *Eubaculites lyelli* (d'Orbigny, 1847). Kennedy, 1987: 195, pl. 27, figs. 5–8; pl. 32, figs. 13, 14 (with full synonymy).
- *Eubaculites carinatus* (Morton, 1834). Klinger and Kennedy, 1993: 218, text-figs. 7a–e, 21–30, 31a–g, 32–35, 36e, f, 37, 38, 42a, 52g, h.
- *Eubaculites carinatus* (Morton, 1834). Kennedy and Cobban, 2000: 180, pl. 2, figs. 1–23, 27, 28; text-figs. 3, 4 (with additional synonymy).
- *Eubaculites carinatus* (Morton, 1834). Kennedy et al., 2001: 168, fig. 4a, e.

TYPE: The holotype, by monotypy, is ANSP 72866, the original of Morton, 1834: pl. 13, fig. 1, from the Maastrichtian Prairie Bluff Chalk of Alabama.

MATERIAL: There are 77 specimens, 5 of which are float, from the upper part of the New Egypt Formation and basal part of the Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, Parkers Creek, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey, and 1 specimen



Fig. 26. *Sphenodiscus* sp. AMNH 47119, uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. **A**, Left lateral of phragmocone fragment; **B**. apertural of part of specimen. All figures are $\times 1$.

(AMNH 47159) from 1.5–2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3346, just upstream from AMNH loc. 3345. All of the specimens are internal molds of fragments less than 75 mm in length. A few specimens retain the original shell material of the septa. There are many more body chamber pieces than phragmocone pieces there are only four completely septate fragments (5% of the total). DESCRIPTION: The collection includes both robust and slender forms, presumably macroconchs and microconchs, respectively. These differences are expressed in the angle of taper, although this is also very dependent on ontogenetic stage (table 6). The dorsal onehalf of the flanks are covered with broad, asymmetrically crescentic ribs with a rib index of 2–3. The narrow tabulate venter is serrated with a rib index of 6–8. We describe and illustrate 15 specimens to convey the range of variation of our material.

AMNH 47418 is a piece of body chamber 49.7 mm long with whorl heights of 15.1 and 17.1 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 27F–H). The angle of taper is 3.2°. The whorl section at the adoral end is ovoid with maximum width at one-third whorl height both costally and intercostally; the intercostal ratio of whorl width to height is 0.60. The dorsum is very broadly rounded and the dorsolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded. The flanks are broadly rounded and converge to the venter. The narrow, flat venter is bordered by a faint longitudinal groove.

The dorsum shows low, convex folds spaced at distances of approximately 5 mm near the adoral end. There are four large, slightly crescentic nodate swellings on the inner two-thirds of the flanks. The swellings become progressively more widely spaced adorally; the distance between the two most adoral swellings is approximately 14 mm; the rib index is approximately 2. The nodes are strongest just ventral of the dorsolateral margin. The venter is covered by coarse, swollen ribs that show a slight forward projection. They gradually become more widely spaced adorally so that the distance between rib crests at the adoral end of the specimen is approximately 4 mm; the rib index is 6.

AMNH 47506 is a body chamber fragment 56.9 mm long with whorl heights of 11.7 mm and 13.4 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 27Q–T). The angle of taper is 3.0°. The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.70. There are low folds on the dorsum. The inner two-thirds of the flanks bear strong crescentic ribs spaced at distances of approximately 10 mm at the adoral end; the rib index is 2.5. The narrow, tabulate venter is ornamented with strong, transverse ribs with a slight adoral projection, producing a serrated appearance; the rib index is 5.

AMNH 47409 is a large fragment of a body chamber 58.2 mm long with whorl heights of 16.7 mm and 19.0 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 28H–K). The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.72. The whorl section is ovoid with maximum width at one-third whorl height. The dorsum is flat and the dorsolateral margin is fairly sharply rounded. The inner flanks are broadly rounded and the outer flanks converge toward the venter. The venter is set off by a weak, longitudinal furrow and the ventrolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded; the venter is narrow and flat.

Weak swellings occur on the dorsal onehalf of the flanks with a distance of 13.5 mm between the two most adoral swellings; the rib index is approximately 2.5. The venter is covered with swollen ribs that show a slight forward projection. The ribs are spaced at distances of 4 mm so that the rib index is approximately 6.5.

AMNH 47412 is the adapical part of a body chamber 48.4 mm long (fig. 28L-P). The whorl heights are 14.1 mm and 15.7 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively. The whorl section at the adoral end is pyriform with an intercostal ratio of whorl width to height of 0.73. The angle of taper is 2.2° . The dorsum is nearly flat to very broadly rounded and the dorsolateral margin is fairly abruptly rounded. The flanks are broadly rounded with maximum width at one-third whorl height. The outer flanks converge to the venter. The venter is flat and narrow and is bordered by a ventrolateral furrow producing a keel. The ventrolateral shoulder is abruptly rounded.

There are very faint, convex folds on the dorsum. Broad, crescentic ribs cover the dorsal one-half of the flanks. On the left side, these ribs are of variable strength and spacing with a rib index of 4, whereas on the right side, these ribs are more nodate with a rib index of 2. Ribs slant strongly forward to the ventrolateral margin. The venter is covered with fairly coarse ribs, which show a weak forward projection, producing a serrated appearance; the rib index is 8.

AMNH 47416 is a fragment of a body chamber 45.6 mm long with whorl heights of 13.9 mm and 17.5 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 28Q–T). The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.69. Broad, weak crescentic swellings cover the dorsal one-half of the flanks with a rib index of approximately 3. The left side shows a dent near the adapical end, which is probably the result of an injury. The venter

NO. 287



Fig. 27. *Eubaculites carinatus* (Morton, 1834). Uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. A-E.

is mostly eroded away but shows three swollen transverse ribs on the adoral end. The ribs are spaced at distances of 2 mm so that the rib index is approximately 10.

2004

MAPS A2058a4 is a strongly ribbed fragment of a body chamber 59.7 mm long with whorl heights of 15.6 mm and 16.4 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 29A-E). The intercostal ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.70. The angle of taper is 1.2°. There is a shallow, longitudinal groove on either side of a fastigiate to tabulate venter. The dorsum is covered with low folds that show a relatively strong adoral projection. There are broad, asymmetrically crescentic ribs on the dorsal one-half of the flanks with a rib index of 3. The venter is notched with swollen ribs showing a slight adoral projection; the rib index is 5.5.

AMNH 47410 is a body chamber fragment with some iridescent shell on the adapical end; the angle of taper is 3.8° (fig. 29F–I). It is 46.5 mm long with whorl heights of 13.4 mm and 15.7 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively. The intercostal ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.73. The whorl section is pyriform with a broadly rounded to flat dorsum and fairly sharply rounded dorsolateral margin. The inner flanks are broadly rounded and the outer flanks converge to the venter. The venter is bordered by a faint longitudinal groove. The ventrolateral shoulder is fairly steeply rounded and the venter is narrow and tabulate. Swollen, concave ribs cover the inner onehalf of the flanks. The distance between rib crests is approximately 8 mm near the adoral end so that the rib index is approximately 3. Ribs weaken and break down into riblets on the outer one-third of the flanks. They slant strongly forward at an angle of approximately 20°. The ribs strengthen on the venter and

are spaced every 2 mm near the adoral end, so that the rib index is approximately 7.

AMNH 47511 is a coarsely ornamented fragment of the adapical part of a body chamber 38.8 mm long with whorl heights of 12.5 mm and 15.0 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 29J-M). The intercostal ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.72. The angle of taper is 4.2° . There are low folds on the dorsum. The inner two-thirds of the flanks bear strong, crescentic ribs spaced at distances of approximately 10 mm at the adoral end, so that the rib index is 2.5. The venter is narrow and tabulate and ornamented with strong, transverse ribs that show a slight adoral projection, producing a serrated appearance; the rib index is 5.

AMNH 47415 is a small specimen of a body chamber 35.6 mm long, with relatively coarse ornament (fig. 29N-R). The whorl heights are 12.3 mm and 14.1 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively. The intercostal ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.75. The angle of taper is 3.6°. The inner one-half of the flanks are covered with four slightly crescentic nodelike swellings with the interspaces between them as broad as the swellings themselves. The distance between node crests is 9 mm, so that the rib index is approximately 2.5. The ribs slant strongly forward on the outer one-half of the flanks at an angle of approximately 20°. The narrow tabulate venter is covered with swollen, convex ribs spaced at distances of 2.5–3.0 mm, yielding a rib index of 6.

AMNH 47413 is a small piece of the adoral part of a phragmocone and the adapical part of a body chamber of a specimen 35.9 mm long (fig. 29V–X). The whorl heights at the adapical and adoral ends are 9.2 mm and 11.9 mm, respectively. The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.75. The

MAPS A2058a1. **A**, Right lateral; **B**, dorsal; **C**, ventral; **D**, left lateral; **E**, whorl cross section at adoral end. **F–H.** AMNH 47418. **F**, Right lateral; **G**, dorsal; **H**, ventral. **I–L.** MAPS A2058a2. **I**, Dorsal; **J**, ventral; **K**, left lateral; **L**, whorl cross section at adoral end. **M–P.** AMNH 51064. **M**, Right lateral; **N**, dorsal; **O**, ventral; **P**, left lateral. **Q–T.** AMNH 47506. **Q**, Right lateral; **R**, dorsal; **S**, ventral; **T**, right lateral. **U–Y.** MAPS A2058a3. **U**, Right lateral, **V**, ventral; **W**, dorsal; **X**, left lateral; **Y**, whorl cross section at adoral end. All figures $\times 1$.



Fig. 28. *Eubaculites carinatus* (Morton, 1834). Uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. A-C. AMNH 47508. A, Left lateral; B, ventral; C, dorsal. D–G. AMNH 47272. D, Left lateral; E, ventral; F, dorsal; G, right lateral. H–K. AMNH 47409. H, Right lateral; I, ventral; J, dorsal; K, whorl cross

angle of taper is 5.2° . The inner one-half of the flanks are covered with broad, crescentic ribs with the interspaces between them as broad as the ribs themselves. The distance between rib crests at the adoral end of the specimen is 6 mm; the rib index is approximately 3. The narrow tabulate venter is smooth.

AMNH 47504 is a fragment of a body chamber 35.3 mm long with whorl heights of 9.7 mm and 11.0 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 29Y–b). The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.79. The angle of taper is 4.0°. The dorsal one-half of the flanks bear nodelike swellings with a rib index of approximately 2. The ribs weaken and slant strongly forward on the outer one-half of the flanks. They are transverse on the venter, with a rib index of 6.

AMNH 47270 (not illustrated) is a body chamber fragment 55.8 mm long with a whorl height of 22.6 mm at the adoral end. The whorl section is compressed ovoid at the adoral end with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.75. The dorsum is broad and nearly flat and the dorsolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded. The inner flanks are broadly rounded and nearly parallel and the outer flanks converge toward the venter. The venter is narrow and tabulate and the ventrolateral shoulder is abruptly rounded. There is a shallow longitudinal groove that borders the venter. The dorsum is covered with low, convex folds. The venter is nearly smooth and the dorsal one-half of the flanks bear widely spaced nodelike swellings with a rib index of approximately 2.5.

AMNH 47444 is one of the smallest fragments in our collection, a piece of phragmocone, 13.6 mm in length, with whorl heights of 9.9 mm and 10.6 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (not illustrated). The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.74. There are two nodelike swellings on the inner flanks with a rib index of 2. The ribs are very weak on the tabulate venter with a rib index of 4.5 based on a distance of 3 mm between the two most adoral ribs.

MAPS A2058a6 (not illustrated) is a completely septate fragment 63.0 mm long with whorl heights of 16.0 mm and 18.7 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively. The whorl section at the adoral end is compressed ovoid with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.75. The dorsum is very broadly rounded and the dorsolateral margin is well rounded. The flanks are broadly rounded and converge toward the venter with maximum width at midwhorl height. The venter is bordered by a shallow, longitudinal depression and the ventrolateral shoulder is fairly sharply rounded; the venter is broadly rounded to flat. The inner one-half of the flanks are smooth except for weak, nodelike swellings with a rib index of approximately 2. Broad, transverse ribs cover the venter with a rib index of 7. Parts of the last and next to last suture are illustrated in figure 30B. The sutures are worn but show a bifid L/U, a broad, bifid U, and a narrow I.

AMNH 47159 is a fragment of the adapical end of a body chamber 43.4 mm long with whorl heights of 11.2 mm and 13.4 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 33U–Y). The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.74. The venter is narrow and nearly flat and is bordered by a longitudinal furrow. There are weak crescentic swellings on the dorsal one-half of the flanks with a rib index of approximately 3. The venter is ornamented with weak, transverse ribs with a rib index of approximately 8.

DISCUSSION: This species is characterized by a narrow, tabulate venter ornamented with ribs producing a serrated appearance, and broad, asymmetrically crescentic ribs on the dorsal one-half of the flanks. The full range of variation of this species has been recently discussed by Klinger and Kennedy (1993),

section at adoral end. L–P. AMNH 47412. L, Right lateral; M, ventral; N, dorsal; O, left lateral; P, whorl cross section at adoral end. Q–T. AMNH 47416. Q, Right lateral; R, ventral; S, dorsal; T, left lateral. U–Y. AMNH 47420. U, Right lateral; V, ventral; W, dorsal; X, left lateral; Y, whorl cross-section at adoral end. All figures $\times 1$.



Fig. 29. *Eubaculites carinatus* (Morton, 1834). Uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. A– E. MAPS A2058a4. A, Right lateral; B, dorsal; C, ventral; D, left lateral; E, whorl cross section at

Cobban and Kennedy (1995), and Kennedy and Cobban (2000).

2004

OCCURRENCE: This species occurs in New Jersey in the upper part of the New Egypt Formation and as reworked material at the base of the Hornerstown Formation, near Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County; at the top of the New Egypt Formation in the Crosswicks Creek Basin, southwestern Monmouth County (Landman et al., in prep. b); and in the New Egypt Formation at the Inversand Pit, near Sewell, Gloucester County (Kennedy and Cobban, 1996). It also occurs at the top of the Tinton Formation and as reworked material at the base of the Hornerstown Formation near Freehold, central Monmouth County (Landman et al., in prep. a). Kennedy and Cobban (1996: fig. 3.1–3.3, 3.7-3.12) recorded three specimens of this species (USNM 12691a-c), ex J.B. Marcou collection, labeled "New Jersey", which they inferred to be from the base of the Hornerstown Formation. This species is reported elsewhere on the Gulf and Atlantic Coastal Plains from the top of the Corsicana Formation and as reworked material at the base of the Kincaid Formation, Falls County, Texas (Kennedy et al., 2001); the Owl Creek Formation, Mississippi, Missouri, and Tennessee (Kennedy and Cobban, 2000); the Prairie Bluff Chalk, Alabama and Mississippi (Cobban and Kennedy, 1995); and the Severn Formation, Maryland (Kennedy et al., 1997; Landman et al., 2004). It is also reported from southeast France, Austria, the Netherlands, Zululand (South Africa), Mozambique, Madagascar, southern India, Western Australia, Chile, Argentina, and California. It ranges from the upper lower to the upper upper Maastrichtian (Klinger et al., 2001).

Eubaculites latecarinatus (Brunnschweiler, 1966)

Figures 30C, D, 31, 32

- *Eubaculites otacodensis* (Stoliczka). Spath, 1940: 49 (pars), text-fig. 1c.
- *Giralites latecarinatus* Brunnschweiler, 1966: 33, pl. 3, figs. 13, 14; pl. 4, figs. 1–5; text-figs. 17, 18.
- *Giralites quadrisulcatus* Brunnschweiler, 1966: 35, pl. 4, figs. 11–14; text-fig. 20.
- *Eubaculites ambindensis* Collignon, 1971: 18, pl. 646, fig. 2393.
- *Eubaculites latecarinatus* (Brunnschweiler). Klinger, 1976: 91, pl. 40, fig. 1; pl. 41, fig. 3; pl. 42, figs. 2, 6; pl. 43, figs. 3, 4; text-figs. 11d, e.
- *Eubaculites latecarinatus* (Brunnschweiler). Klinger and Kennedy *in* Klinger et al., 1980: 296, figs. 2a–c, 3a–d, 4a–c, 5b.
- *Eubaculites latecarinatus* (Brunnschweiler, 1966). Henderson et al., 1992: 159, figs. 22L–N, 23N–P.
- *Eubaculites latecarinatus* (Brunnschweiler, 1966). Klinger and Kennedy, 1993: 238, figs. 26A, 39–41, 42B, C, 43–49, 50A, 52A.
- *Eubaculites latecarinatus* (Brunnschweiler, 1966). Kennedy et al., 1997: 20, figs. 15A–D, K, L, 16G, H, 19.
- *Eubaculites latecarinatus* (Brunnschweiler, 1966). Klinger and Kennedy, 2001: 234.
- *Eubaculites latecarinatus* (Brunnschweiler, 1966). Klinger et al., 2001: 287, pl. 10, figs. 4–9; text-fig. 6.

TYPE: The holotype, by original designation, is the original of Brunnschweiler (1966: pl. 4, figs. 2–4) from the Maastrichtian of western Australia.

MATERIAL: There are 94 specimens, 4 of which are float, from the upper part of the New Egypt Formation and basal part of the Hornerstown Formation on Parkers Creek, AMNH loc. 3345, near Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey. All of the specimens are internal molds of fragments less than 75 mm in length; some of

adoral end. F–I. AMNH 47410. F, Right lateral; G, dorsal; H, ventral; I, whorl cross section at adoral end. J–M. AMNH 47511. J, Right lateral; K, dorsal; L, ventral; M, left lateral. N–R. AMNH 47415. N, Right lateral; O, dorsal; P, ventral; Q, left lateral; R, whorl cross section at adoral end. S–U. MAPS A2058a5. S, Dorsal; T, ventral; U, left lateral. V–X. AMNH 47413. V, Right lateral; W, dorsal; X, ventral. Y–Z, a, b. AMNH 47504. Y, Right lateral; Z, dorsal; a, ventral; b, whorl cross section at adoral end. g–j. AMNH 47421. c, Right lateral; h, dorsal; i, ventral; j, whorl cross section at adoral end. k– m. AMNH 47423. k, Right lateral; I, dorsal; m, ventral. All figures are ×1.



Fig. 30. **A**, **B**. *Eubaculites carinatus* (Morton, 1834). Uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. **A**. AMNH 47253, last suture at a whorl height of approximately 12.9 mm. **B**. MAPS A2058a6, parts of the last and next to last suture at a whorl height of approximately 19.1 mm. **C**, **D**. *Eubaculites latecarinatus* (Brunnschweiler, 1966), same locality as A, B. **C**. AMNH 47493, last suture and parts of third and fourth to last sutures, at a whorl height of approximately 11.4 mm. **D**. AMNH 47501, at a whorl height of approximately 12.2 mm.

them preserve the original shell material of the septa. Most of the specimens are fragments of body chambers—there are 14 completely septate pieces (15% of the total).

DESCRIPTION: The collection consists of ro-

bust and slender forms that are distinguished, in part, by their angle of taper, although this measurement is very dependent on ontogenetic stage (table 7). These two forms may represent dimorphs, but without better infor-

	L (mm)		Taper angle (degrees)	Rib index	
Specimen		WW/WH		Flanks	Venter
AMNH 47159	43.4	0.74	2.8	3	8
AMNH 47270	55.8	0.75	_	2.5	S
AMNH 47409	58.2	0.72	2.2	2.5	6.5
AMNH 47410	46.5	0.73	3.8	3	7
AMNH 47411	38.8	0.72	4.2	2.5	5
AMNH 47412	48.4	0.73	2.2	2	8
AMNH 47413	35.9	0.75	5.2	3	S
AMNH 47415	35.6	0.75	3.6	2.5	6
AMNH 47416	45.6	0.69	5.8	3	10
AMNH 47418	49.7	0.60	3.2	2	6
AMNH 47421	20.4	0.68	2.6	3	7
AMNH 47444	13.6	0.74		2	4.5
AMNH 47448	27.2	0.74	2.2	3	S
AMNH 47504	35.3	0.79	4.0	2	6
AMNH 47506	56.9	0.70	3.0	2.5	5
AMNH 47508	60.2		1.4	2	6
AMNH 47509	38.4	0.72	5.2	3.5	8.5
MAPS A2058a6	63.0	0.75	3.2	2	7
MAPS A2058a1	73.1	0.73	2.2	3	7
MAPS A2058a2	33.5	0.79	2.0	2	8.5
MAPS A2058a4	59.7	0.70	1.2	3	5.5
MAPS A2058a3	38.3	0.73	2.8	3	8.5

 TABLE 6

 Measurements of Eubaculites carinatus (Morton, 1834)^a

^aL, maximum length; WW/WH, intercostal ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end of the specimen; S, smooth. See figure 16 for an explanation of taper angle; if the specimen was partly broken, the length measurement used to calculate the taper angle was less than L.

mation on the ontogenetic stage of the specimens, this conclusion is difficult to prove. We provide descriptions of 15 specimens to cover the range of variation in our collection.

AMNH 47273 is a fragment of the adoral part of a phragmocone and the adapical part of a body chamber of a specimen 56.4 mm long (fig. 31A–E). The whorl heights at the adapical and adoral ends are 15.7 mm and 18.8 mm, respectively. The whorl section at the adoral end is compressed ovoid with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.66. The angle of taper is 2.8° . The dorsum is covered with weak, broad folds with a strong adoral projection. Ribs are asymmetrically crescentic on the inner one-half of the flanks with a rib index of 7, and slant strongly forward on the outer one-half of the flanks. Ribs are weak and swollen on the venter with a rib index of 6.

AMNH 47414 is a small piece of a body chamber 38.0 mm long with whorl heights

of 15.9 mm and 17.3 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 31F–I). The flanks are smooth and the right side is partly covered by a bryozoan colony. The venter is narrow and tabulate without any trace of ribs.

AMNH 47411 is a body chamber fragment 43.4 mm long with whorl heights of 13.4 mm and 15.3 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 31J–N). The intercostal whorl section at the adoral end is pyriform with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.76. The angle of taper is 3.4°. The dorsum is smooth. The inner one-half of the flanks bear crescentic, swollen ribs; the two most adoral ribs on the right side are 6.5 mm apart; the rib index is 4. The ribs slant sharply forward on the outer one-half of the flanks at an angle of approximately 20°. The ribs are faint on the narrow, tabulate venter, with an index of 7.

AMNH 47417 is a fragment of a body chamber 45.7 mm long with whorl heights of 13.7 mm and 14.8 mm at the adapical and



Fig. 31. *Eubaculites latecarinatus* (Brunnschweiler, 1966). Uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. A–E. AMNH 47273. A, Right lateral; B, dorsal; C, ventral; D, left lateral; E, whorl cross section

С

d

e

adoral ends, respectively (fig. 310-S). The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.74. The venter is narrow and flat and set off by a narrow ventrolateral furrow. Ribs are very weak on the dorsum and show a strong adoral projection. The inner one-half of the flanks bear weak, crescentic ribs with very faint riblets or striae between them. The distance between consecutive ribs is approximately 9 mm, yielding a rib index of 2.5. Ribs slant strongly forward on the outer onehalf of the flanks. The venter is covered with barely perceptible ribs, although this may be due in part to poor preservation. The spacing between consecutive ribs is 3.5 mm, yielding a rib index of 5.

AMNH 47422 is a fragment of a body chamber 39.6 mm long with whorl heights of 15.1 mm and 16.4 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 31T–W). The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.74. The outer flanks are nearly smooth with very faint, low crescentic ribs; the rib index is 3. The venter, which is set off by a deep ventrolateral groove, is mostly covered by matrix.

AMNH 47425 is a fragment of the adoral part of a phragmocone and the adapical part of the body chamber (fig. 31X–Z, a,b). It is 36.0 mm long with some iridescent shell material on the dorsum. The whorl heights at the adapical and adoral ends are 13.5 mm and 14.8 mm, respectively. The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.71. The angle of taper is 2.4° . The dorsum, especially on the adapical end, is covered with faint, low, strongly convex ribs. The two most adapical ribs are approximately 3 mm apart. The inner flanks are smooth with only a slight trace of crescentic ribs on the dorsolateral margin on the right side near the adapical end. The ribs strengthen slightly and

slant steeply forward on the outer flanks. The venter is covered with swollen transverse ribs with a rib index of 6.

AMNH 47426 is a fragment of a body chamber 36.4 mm long with whorl heights of 12.0 mm and 13.2 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 31c–g). The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.71. The inner flanks are nearly smooth with very faint crescentic ribs with a rib index of approximately 4. The narrow tabulate venter is covered with transverse to slightly convex ribs with a rib index of 8.

AMNH 47408 is 69.3 mm long and consists of the adoral part of a phragmocone and the adapical part of the body chamber (fig. 32A–E). The whorl heights at the adapical and adoral ends are 10.9 mm and 14.8 mm, respectively. The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.70. The angle of taper is 4.0° . The venter is set off by a faint ventrolateral furrow. Ribs cross the dorsum with a slight adoral projection. They swing backward on the dorsolateral margin and are strongly concave on the inner one-half of the flanks. They are very weak and closely spaced on most of the specimen until a whorl height of 14.4 mm, where they become nodelike and more widely spaced. The distance between the two most adoral nodes is 11 mm, yielding a rib index of 2. Ribs slant steeply forward at an angle of approximately 20° on the outer one-half of the flanks. The venter is covered with faint transverse ribs spaced at distances of 1-2 mm so that the rib index is approximately 10.

MAPS A2053c5 is the adapical part of a body chamber 47.2 mm long with whorl heights of 11.2 mm and 13.8 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 32F–J). The whorl section at the adoral end is compressed ovoid with a ratio of whorl width

at adoral end. **F–I.** AMNH 47414. **F**, Right lateral; **G**, dorsal; **H**, ventral; **I**, whorl cross section at adoral end. **J–N.** AMNH 47411. **J**, Right lateral; **K**, dorsal; **L**, ventral; **M**, left lateral; **N**, whorl cross section at adoral end. **O–S.** AMNH 47417. **O**, Right lateral; **P**, dorsal; **Q**, ventral; **R**, left lateral; **S**, whorl cross section at adoral end. **T–W.** AMNH 47422. **T**, Right lateral; **U**, dorsal; **V**, ventral; **W**, whorl cross section at adoral end. **X–Z**, **a**, **b**. AMNH 47425. **X**, Right lateral; **Y**, dorsal; **Z**, ventral; **a**, left lateral; **b**, whorl cross section at adoral end. **c–g**. AMNH 47426. **c**, Right lateral; **d**, dorsal, **e**, ventral; **f**, left lateral; **g**, whorl cross section at adoral end. **h–k.** AMNH 47406. **h**, Right lateral; **i**, dorsal; **j**, ventral; **k**, left lateral. All figures are ×1.



Fig. 32. *Eubaculites latecarinatus* (Brunnschweiler, 1966). Uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. A–E. AMNH 47408. A, Right lateral; B, dorsal; C, ventral; D, left lateral; E, whorl cross section at adoral end. F–J. MAPS A2053c5. F, Right lateral; G, dorsal; H, ventral; I, left lateral; J, whorl cross section at adoral end. K–N. AMNH 47405. K, Right lateral; L, dorsal; M, ventral; N, left lateral. O–S. AMNH 47407. O, Right lateral; P, dorsal; Q, ventral; R, left lateral; S, whorl cross section at adoral end. T–X. AMNH 47404, partly in nodule. Z. AMNH 50544, partly in nodule. All figures are $\times 1$.

	L (mm)	WW/WH	Taper angle	Rib index	
Specimen			(degrees)	Flanks	Venter
AMNH 47273	56.4	0.66	2.8	7	6
AMNH 47407	38.0	0.79	3.2	3	7
AMNH 47408	69.3	0.70	4.0		10
AMNH 47411	43.4	0.76	3.4	4	7
AMNH 47414	38.0		3.6	S	S
AMNH 47417	45.7	0.74	1.4	2.5	5
AMNH 47419	43.2		3.4	6	S
AMNH 47422	39.6	0.74		3	
AMNH 47425	36.0	0.71	2.4	S	6
AMNH 47426	36.4	0.71	3.0	4	8
AMNH 47432	36.3	0.74	1.6	3	6
AMNH 47485	29.6	0.74		S	S
AMNH 47500	33.0	0.73	3.2	4	5
AMNH 47510	35.6	0.73	1.8	S	7
MAPS A2053c3	48.2	0.71	1.8	S	6
MAPS A2053c4	40.7	0.72	2.8	S	8
MAPS A2053c5	47.2	0.72	3.6	3	5

 TABLE 7

 Measurements of Eubaculites latecarinatus (Brunnschweiler, 1966)^a

^aSee table 6 for explanation of abbreviations.

to height of 0.72. The angle of taper is 3.6° . The inner flanks are ornamented with very faint, asymmetrically crescentic ribs with a rib index of 3. The venter bears faint transverse ribs with a rib index of 5.

AMNH 47407 is a fragment consisting of the adoral part of a phragmocone and adapical part of the body chamber (fig. 32O–S). It is 38.0 mm long with whorl heights of 11.6 mm and 12.2 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively. The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.79. The angle of taper is 3.2°. There are very faint crescentic swellings on the inner flanks spaced at distances of approximately 7.0 mm, yielding a rib index of 3. The narrow tabulate venter is covered with conspicuous swollen ribs that arch slightly forward. They are evenly spaced at distances of approximately 2 mm, yielding a rib index of 7.

AMNH 47419 is a fragment of a body chamber with some iridescent shell on the dorsum and last septum (fig. 32T–X). It is 43.2 mm long with whorl heights of 11.7 mm and 14.9 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively. The angle of taper is 3.4°. Ribs cross the dorsum with a moderately strong adoral projection. The inner one-half of the flanks are nearly smooth with very weak,

broad, crescentic ribs with a rib index of approximately 6. The venter is nearly smooth with very faint ribs.

MAPS A2053c4 (not illustrated) is a completely septate fragment 40.7 mm long with whorl heights of 16.0 mm and 18.0 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively. The whorl section at the adoral end is compressed ovoid with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.72. The inner flanks are smooth although the specimen is not well preserved. The venter is flat and relatively broad and is covered with faint, transverse ribs with a rib index of approximately 8.

MAPS A2053c3 (not illustrated) is a fragment of the adapical part of a body chamber 48.2 mm long with whorl heights of 11.4 mm and 16.1 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively. The whorl section at the adoral end is compressed ovoid with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.71. The dorsum is flat and the dorsolateral shoulder is fairly sharply rounded. The inner flanks are broadly rounded with maximum width at midwhorl height. The outer flanks converge steeply to the venter, which is bordered by a shallow longitudinal groove. The ventrolateral shoulder is fairly sharply rounded and the venter is flat. The dorsum bears faint convex folds, the flanks are smooth, and the venter is covered with broad, transverse ribs with a rib index of 6.

AMNH 47432 (not illustrated) is a fragment of a body chamber 36.3 mm long with whorl heights of 13.9 mm and 14.6 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively. The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.74. There are broad crescentic ribs on the dorsal one-half of the flanks with a rib index of 3. The tabulate venter is covered with swollen, transverse ribs with a rib index of 6.

AMNH 47500 (not illustrated) is a fragment of a body chamber 33.0 mm long with whorl heights of 10.2 mm and 12.1 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively. The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.73. The dorsum is covered with weak adorally projected folds. A low ridge occurs along the midline of the dorsum. Weak, asymmetrically crescentic ribs cover the dorsal one-half of the flanks. Smaller riblets appear between two of these ribs; the rib index is 4. The venter is narrow and broadly rounded and is covered with faint, transverse ribs with a rib index of approximately 5.

Parts of the sutures of two specimens (AMNH 47493 and 47501) are illustrated in Figure 30C, D and show a bifid E/L, a narrow, bifid L, a broad, bifid L/U, a bifid U, and a narrow I.

DISCUSSION: This species is characterized by weak to no ornament on the flanks, and a narrow, tabulate venter covered with ribs, producing a serrated appearance. Klinger and Kennedy (1993, 2001) described this species from Zululand and Natal, South Africa, where specimens attain a much larger size than those from New Jersey. These authors also noted the presence of smooth specimens of Eubaculites carinatus that are identical to *E. latecarinatus*, but argued that populations of these two species are sufficiently distinct to separate them. The two species are not equally abundant in Zululand, with E. latecarinatus more common than E. carinatus. This disparity is also reflected in our sample; E. latecarinatus is 20% more abundant than E. carinatus. However, all of our specimens are internal molds and the absence of ornamentation, interpreted as indicating E. latecarinatus, may be a reflection of poor preservation, implying that the abundance of *E. latecarinatus* may be overestimated. In addition, our specimens are fragmentary, making it difficult to distinguish between ontogenetic and intraspecific variation (see Tsujino et al., 2003).

OCCURRENCE: This species occurs in New Jersey in the upper part of the New Egypt Formation and as reworked material at the base of the Hornerstown Formation, near Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County: in the top of the New Egypt Formation in the Crosswicks Creek Basin, southwestern Monmouth County (Landman et al., in prep. b); and in the top of the Tinton Formation and as reworked material at the base of the Hornerstown Formation near Freehold, central Monmouth County (Landman et al., in prep. a). This species is also known from the Severn Formation, Prince Georges County, Maryland (Kennedy et al., 1997), and Kent County, Maryland (Landman et al., 2004). Klinger and Kennedy (2001) reported this species from the Maastrichtian of Zululand, South Africa, the offshore Alphard Group, south India, Madagascar, and Western Australia.

Eubaculites sp. Figure 33A–T

Compare: *Eubaculites latecarinatus* (Brunnschweiler, 1966). Kennedy et al., 1997: 20, figs. 15A–D, K, L, 16G, H, 19.

MATERIAL: There are four specimens (MAPS A2053c1, -2, AMNH 47160, and 47161) from AMNH loc. 3346 from the upper part of the New Egypt Formation 1.5–2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County. All of the specimens are internal molds of parts of body chambers.

DESCRIPTION: MAPS A2053c1 is a large piece of a body chamber 68.4 mm long (fig. 33A–E). The whorl heights at the adapical and adoral ends are 20.2 mm and 24.1 mm, respectively. The whorl section is better preserved at the adapical end and is compressed ovoid with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.68. The angle of taper is 1.6°. The dorsum is nearly flat and the dorsolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded. The inner

flanks are broadly rounded and nearly parallel and the outer flanks converge toward the venter. There is a shallow longitudinal depression that borders the venter. The ventrolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded and the venter is narrow and broadly rounded. The inner flanks are covered with weak, concave ribs with a rib index of 14. The venter is ornamented with broad, transverse ribs that show a moderately strong adoral projection; the rib index is approximately 11. The adoral end of this specimen shows two interesting features: (1) the left side shows a bulge, which may represent a healed injury; and (2) the dorsum is flared and projected forward and may represent a mature modification of the aperture.

2004

AMNH 47160 is a fragment of a body chamber 42.4 mm long with whorl heights of 14.9 mm and 16.0 mm at the adoral and adapical ends, respectively (fig. 33F-J). The whorl section at the adoral end is compressed ovoid with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.67. The venter is demarcated by a shallow, longitudinal depression and is narrow and broadly rounded. There are weak undulations on the dorsum. The flanks on the right side bear two asymmetrically crescentic ribs near the adoral end that are 6 mm apart, so that the rib index is approximately 5. Adapical of these ribs, there is a dent in the flanks, possibly due to an injury. The venter is covered with weak transverse ribs with a rib index of 13.

AMNH 47161 is a fragment of a body chamber 44.4 mm long with whorl heights of 11.6 mm and 14.4 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 33K–O). The ratio of whorl width to height at the adoral end is 0.74. The whorl section is ovoid with maximum width at midwhorl height. The dorsum is broadly rounded, the inner flanks are divergent and nearly flat, and the outer flanks gradually converge to the venter. The venter is narrow and broadly rounded and is covered with barely perceptible, closely spaced ribs. The flanks are smooth except for one thin crescentic rib.

MAPS A2053c2 is a body chamber fragment 56.3 mm long with whorl heights of 15.8 mm and 19.5 mm at the adapical and adoral ends, respectively (fig. 33P–T). The whorl section at the adoral end is compressed ovoid with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.70. Most of the flanks are smooth but weak ribs slant markedly forward on the outer flanks at an angle of 20°. The venter is narrow and broadly rounded and bears transverse ribs. They are irregularly spaced with a rib index of approximately 8.

DISCUSSION: These specimens resemble Eubaculites latecarinatus in their oval whorl section with narrow venter, and weak ornament, but differ in having a broadly rounded rather than tabulate venter. In this respect, these specimens are reminiscent of Eubacu*lites* sp. illustrated by Kennedy et al. (2000: fig. 8I-T) from the lower part of the Navesink Formation in a tributary on the west side of Crosswicks Creek, south of Allentown. southwestern Monmouth County, New Jersey. However, our specimens are not as coarsely ornamented. The specimen of Baculites sp. illustrated by Kennedy et al. (2000: fig. 7A–C) from the top of the New Egypt Formation at the Inversand Pit, Gloucester County, New Jersey, also bears some resemblance to our material.

OCCURRENCE: AMNH loc. 3346 from the upper part of the New Egypt Formation, 1.5– 2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey.

SUPERFAMILY SCAPHITACEAE GILL, 1871

FAMILY SCAPHITIDAE GILL, 1871

SUBFAMILY SCAPHITINAE GILL, 1871

Genus Discoscaphites Meek, 1871

TYPE SPECIES: *Ammonites conradi* Morton, 1834: 39, pl. 16, fig. 3, by original designation.

Discoscaphites iris (Conrad, 1858) Figures 34, 35, 36A–H, K–Q, S–Z, l–p, 37A–l, 38, 39A–P, 41A–D

Scaphites iris Conrad, 1858: 335, pl. 35, fig. 23.

Scaphites iris Conrad. Whitfield, 1892: 265, pl. 44, figs. 4–7.

Discoscaphites iris (Conrad). Stephenson, 1955: 134, pl. 23, figs. 23–30.

Discoscaphites iris (Conrad, 1858). Kennedy and Cobban, 2000: 183, fig. 5, pl. 3, figs. 3–35.

TYPE: The holotype is the original illustrated in Conrad, 1858: 335, pl. 35, fig. 23,



Fig. 33. **A–T.** *Eubaculites* sp. Upper New Egypt Formation, 1.5–2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3346, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. **A–E.** MAPS A2053c1. **A**, Right lateral; **B**, dorsal; **C**, ventral; **D**, left lateral; **E**, whorl cross section at adapical end. **F–J.** AMNH 47160. **F**, Right lateral; **G**, dorsal; **H**, ventral; **I**, left lateral; **J**, whorl cross
2004

labeled ANSP 50989, from the bluffs of Owl Creek, Tippah County, Mississippi. It is a partly crushed, fairly robust specimen, missing part of the phragmocone and hook and is attached to a piece of matrix. It is probably a microconch, but this is difficult to confirm because of the crushing. It retains part of its original, iridescent shell. The body chamber bears four rows of tubercles with the umbilicolateral tubercles being the most prominent. These tubercles show steep adapical sides and more gently sloping adoral sides.

MATERIAL: All of our specimens are from the top of the New Egypt Formation and base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey. They are all internal molds and most of them are pieces of body chambers. The majority of specimens are from two clusters (1 and 2). Cluster 1 consists of a hardened chunk of chocolate brown clay peppered with large, green glauconite grains and contains 68 specimens, 28 of which are definitely identified as Discoscaphites iris (AMNH 47332, 47336, 47337, 47339, 47341-47343, 47345-47349, 47351-47361, 51057–51059, 51061, and 51062). The rest of the specimens are fragments. Some of these are difficult to identify at all whereas others hint at different species. Most of the specimens of D. iris in cluster 1 are slender with weak tubercles. Only one specimen (AMNH 51059) is nearly whole but lacks the innermost whorls. AMNH 47360 is the next most complete specimen and consists of one-third whorl of an adult phragmocone and the complete body chamber. Of the 20 specimens that can be divided into macroconchs and microconchs, there are an almost equal number of each dimorph: 11 macroconchs and 9 microconchs. Cluster 2 consists of five specimens, all pieces of robust body chambers of microconchs (MAPS A2060a2, 3, AMNH 47308, 47363, and 51055).

DESCRIPTION: Like other scaphites, this species is strongly dimorphic. Dimorphs are distinguished by the shape of the adult body chamber. In side view, the umbilical shoulder of the body chamber is straight in macroconchs whereas it is curved in microconchs. Macroconchs are slightly larger than microconchs, but the size ranges of the dimorphs overlap. This species is characterized by four rows of tubercles: an umbilical or umbilicolateral row, depending on its position relative to the umbilical shoulder, a midflank row, and inner and outer ventrolateral rows. The umbilicolateral tubercles are the most prominent. The number of outer ventrolateral tubercles is equal to or slightly greater than the number of inner ventrolateral tubercles. As in other scaphite species, there is a range in variation from robust specimens with prominent tubercles (fig. 34A-D) to slender specimens with weak tubercles (fig. 35A-D). This variation is partly expressed in the ratio of whorl width to height at midshaft (table 8). We first describe the coarser specimens within each dimorph.

MACROCONCH DESCRIPTION

The most robust specimen is AMNH 51060, an internal mold, 38.6 mm in maximum diameter, consisting of a phragmocone and one-half of the adult body chamber (fig. 34A-D). The phragmocone is 30.9 mm in diameter. It is tightly coiled with a tiny umbilicus approximately 1.5 mm in diameter; the ratio of umbilical diameter to phragmocone diameter is 0.05. In side view, the venter of the phragmocone passes smoothly into the venter of the body chamber. Only the posterior one-half of the body chamber is preserved. The umbilical wall of the body chamber shows a slight bulge at approximately midshaft. There is only a small gap between the body chamber and the phragmocone.

 \leftarrow

section at adapical end. **K–O.** AMNH 47161. **K**, Right lateral; **L**, dorsal; **M**, ventral; **N**, left lateral; **O**, whorl cross section at adoral end. **P–T.** MAPS A2053c2. **P**, Right lateral; **Q**, dorsal; **R**, ventral; **S**, left lateral; **T**, whorl cross section at adapical end. **U–Y.** *Eubaculites carinatus* (Morton, 1834), AMNH 47159, same locality as A–T. **U**, Right lateral; **V**, dorsal; **W**, ventral; **X**, left lateral; **Y**, whorl cross section at adapical end. X, and the section at adapical end. All figures are $\times 1$.



Fig. 34. *Discoscaphites iris* (Conrad, 1858). Uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. A–D. AMNH 51060, robust macroconch. A, Right lateral; B, apertural; C, ventral; D, left lateral. E–H. MAPS A2060a1, robust macroconch. E, Right lateral; F, apertural; G, ventral; H, left lateral. I, J. MAPS A2060a4, robust microconch with matrix still attached. I, Right lateral; J, ventral. K–M. AMNH 47366, coarsely ornamented macroconch. K, Ventral; L, apertural; M, left lateral. N–P. AMNH 47365, macroconch. N, Right lateral; O, apertural; P, ventral. Q–U. AMNH 47367, macroconch with peel of inner whorls. Q, Right lateral; R, apertural; S, peel of inner whorls; T, ventral; U, left lateral. V, W. AMNH 47372, dimorph indeterminate. V, Right lateral; W, ventral. All figures are ×1.

The phragmocone is robust; the ratio of whorl width to height is 0.98 at the adapical end and decreases to 0.87 at the ultimate septum. The whorl section at the ultimate septum is compressed ovoid with maximum width at one-quarter whorl height. The umbilical wall is steep and inclined outward and the umbilical shoulder is gently rounded. In intercostal section, the flanks are broadly rounded and converge to the ventrolateral shoulder. The ventrolateral shoulder is sharply rounded and the venter is nearly flat.

2004

The whorl section at approximately midshaft is robust with a ratio of 0.97 in both costal and intercostal section. The umbilical wall is steep and convex and the umbilical shoulder is broadly rounded. In costal section, the inner flanks are flat and inclined outward, attaining maximum width at one-quarter whorl height, the midflanks are nearly flat, and the outer flanks, between the inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles, are flat and converge toward the venter. In intercostal section, the inner flanks are well rounded and inclined outward, the midflanks are very broadly rounded, and the outer flanks are flat and converge toward the venter. The ventrolateral shoulder is sharply rounded and the venter is nearly flat.

Details of the ornament are better preserved on the left side of the specimen. On the adapical end of the phragmocone, relatively strong primary ribs are rectiradiate to slightly rursiradiate on the umbilical shoulder and inner flanks. They are moderately widely spaced and slightly raised at one-quarter whorl height, which is the site of future umbilicolateral tubercles. Ribs are straight and rectiradiate on the midflanks. Branching and intercalation occur at one-third whorl height. One primary rib shows a faint bulla at the position where midflank tubercles eventually develop, but these are hardly discernable at this point. Intercalation and branching occur at the site of the inner ventrolateral tubercles, which occur on the primary ribs and possibly on the secondary ribs, but it is difficult to establish this because of poor preservation. The ribs on the outer flanks are broad and gently inclined toward the venter. Each rib bears a prominent outer ventrolateral tubercle, which is matched on the other side of the venter. These tubercles are evenly spaced at distances of approximately 2 mm. Ribs on the venter are faint, straight, and swollen, joining pairs of tubercles. There are approximately 5 ribs/cm on the venter.

Toward the adoral end of the phragmocone, the ribs become less distinct, possibly because of poor preservation. The primary ribs swell into umbilicolateral tubercles on the inner flanks; the two most adoral tubercles are approximately 4.5 mm apart on the left side. A midflank tubercle also appears at the ultimate septum. Two inner ventrolateral tubercles are spaced approximately 7 mm apart near the base of the body chamber. The tubercles of the outer ventrolateral row become more widely spaced adorally. The distance between tubercles on the adoral end of the phragmocone is approximately 7 mm whereas the distance between tubercles on the adapical end is 2 mm. Near the base of the body chamber, these tubercles alternate on either side of the ventral margin.

The ornament on the body chamber consists of four rows of tubercles on low, broad, convex ribs. Tubercles of progressively more outward rows are disposed more adapically. There are two umbilicolateral tubercles preserved on the left side spaced approximately 7 mm apart, of which the most adoral tubercle is the most prominent one on the specimen. Two concave ribs appear to branch from it. The midflank row is more subdued and consists of four tubercles (including the one at the ultimate septum), which are spaced 5 mm apart at midshaft. The inner ventrolateral tubercles, of which there are four preserved (including the one at the ultimate septum), are evenly spaced at distances of 6 mm, and are slightly clavate. These three rows are equally distant from each other. In contrast, the outer ventrolateral row is closer to the inner ventrolateral row and is more subdued than it. There are four preserved tubercles in this row (including one at the ultimate septum) evenly spaced at distances of approximately 6 mm. As on the adoral part of the phragmocone, the tubercles alternate on either side of the ventral margin. Only part of the last suture is well enough preserved for drawing and shows the typical scaphitid elements U_1 , U_2 , and U_2/L (fig. 41C).

There are several specimens that, although



Fig. 35. Discoscaphites iris (Conrad, 1858), macroconchs, cluster 1, uppermost New Egypt Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. A-D. AMNH

fragmentary, match AMNH 51060 in their robustness. We describe three specimens. AMNH 47367 is an internal mold of the adapical one-half of a robust body chamber and preserves the impression of part of the phragmocone (fig. 34Q-U). The whorl section at the base of the body chamber is well exposed and is compressed ovoid. The ratio of whorl width to height is 0.74 in intercostal section with maximum width at one-quarter whorl height. The umbilical wall is convex and the umbilical shoulder is fairly sharply rounded. The inner flanks are broadly rounded and inclined slightly outward, the midflanks are nearly flat and gently inclined toward the venter, and the outer flanks are flat and more sharply inclined toward the venter. The ventrolateral shoulder is fairly sharply rounded and the venter is flat. Width expands markedly at midshaft due to the development of a large umbilicolateral tubercle. The ratio of whorl width to height at midshaft is approximately 0.97 in costal section.

The ornament on a peel of a part of the phragmocone shows slightly flexuous prorsiradiate ribs. Ribs are straight on the inner flanks, swelling into weak umbilicolateral bullae, and swing forward on the midflanks; one rib develops into a midflank bulla. Ribs intercalate and bend forward toward the inner ventrolateral tubercles, which are small and bullate. Ribs intercalate again and bend forward toward the outer ventrolateral tubercles of which there are 16 on the peel. These tubercles are approximately evenly spaced at distances of 1.25 mm. They are paired across the venter and are connected by weak ribs, which show a very slight adoral projection. There are approximately 8 ribs/cm on the venter based on an average distance of 1.25 mm between ribs.

The ornament on the body chamber is better preserved on the left side. There are four rows of tubercles; the largest tubercle is the umbilicolateral tubercle at midshaft. The distances between tubercle rows at midshaft starting with the umbilicolateral row is 7 mm, 6 mm, and 4.75 mm. The distance between outer ventrolateral tubercles on either side of the venter is 5 mm.

AMNH 47365 is an internal mold consisting of a fragment of the adoral part of the phragmocone, and the flanks and part of the venter of the adapical one-quarter of the body chamber (fig. 34N-P). It retains part of the inner whorls showing the ontogenetic transformation from a depressed, kidneyshaped whorl section to a more compressed, rounded whorl section. The body chamber is robust and bears inner and outer ventrolateral and umbilical tubercles; the midflank tubercles are very weak. The last suture of the phragmocone (fig. 41A, B) shows a narrow, asymmetrically bifid first lateral lobe (L). The dorsal suture of the inner whorls shows a narrow, symmetrically trifid lobe.

MAPS A2060a1 is most of a body chamber minus the hook (fig. 34E-H). The umbilical shoulder shows a conspicuous bulge. The whorl section at the base of the body chamber is well preserved. It is compressed ovoid with maximum width at one-third whorl height; the ratio of whorl width to height is 0.81 in costal section. The umbilical wall is steep and convex and the umbilical shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded. The inner flanks are broadly rounded and inclined outward, the midflanks are flat and gently converge toward the venter, and the outer flanks are broadly rounded and converge more steeply toward the venter. The ventrolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded and the venter is flat. Width expands more rapidly than height and the ratio of whorl width to height at midshaft is 0.87 in intercostal section and 1.05 in costal section.

 $[\]leftarrow$

^{51059.} **A**, Right lateral; **B**, apertural; **C**, ventral; **D**, left lateral. **E**–**G**. AMNH 47348. **E**, Right lateral; **F**, ventral, **G**, left lateral. **H**–**L**. AMNH 47360. **H**, Right lateral; **I**, apertural; **J**, ventral; **K**, left lateral; **L**, peel, left lateral. **M**–**P**. AMNH 47357. **M**, Right lateral; **N**, apertural; **O**, ventral; **P**, left lateral. **Q**– **T**. AMNH 51061. **Q**, Right lateral; **R**, apertural; **S**, ventral; **T**, left lateral. **U**–**X**. AMNH 47361. **U**, Right lateral; **V**, apertural; **W**, ventral; **X**, left lateral. **Y**–**Z**, **a**, **b**. AMNH 51062. **Y**, Right lateral; **Z**, apertural; **a**, ventral; **b**, left lateral. **c**–**f**. AMNH 47358. **c**, Left lateral; **d**, apertural; **e**, ventral; **f**, left lateral. All specimens ×1.



Fig. 36. **A–H, K–Q, S–Z, l–p.** *Discoscaphites iris* (Conrad, 1858), cluster 1, uppermost New Egypt Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. **A–D.** AMNH 47355, macroconch with a repaired injury. **A**, Right lateral; **B**, apertural; **C**, ventral; **D**, left lateral. **E–H.** AMNH 47351, macroconch. **E**, Right lateral; **F**, apertural; **G**, ventral; **H**, left lateral. **K–M.** AMNH 47347, macroconch. **K**, Right lateral; **L**, apertural; **M**, ventral. **N–Q.** AMNH 47343, dimorph indeterminate. **N**, Right lateral; **O**, apertural; **P**, ventral; **Q**, left lateral. **S–V.** AMNH 47349, dimorph indeterminate. **S**, Right lateral; **T**, apertural; **U**, ventral; **Z**, left lateral. **W–Z.** AMNH 47336, dimorph indeterminate. **W**, Right lateral; **X**, apertural; **Y**, ventral; **Z**, left lateral. **I–n.** AMNH 47336, dimorph indeterminate. **I**, Apertural; **m**, ventral; **n**, left lateral. **o**, **p**. AMNH 47332, dimorph indeterminate. **I**, Apertural; **R**, A**–N**, **J**, *L*, *L*, *Discoscaphites* spp., same loc. as A–H. **I**, **J**. AMNH 47350. **I**, Right lateral; **J**, apertural; **R**. AMNH 51063, right lateral. **a–d**. AMNH 47328. **a**, Right lateral; **b**, apertural; **c**, ventral; **d**, left lateral. **e**, **f**. AMNH 47324. **e**, Right lateral; **f**, ventral. **g–j**. AMNH 47329. **q**, Right lateral; **r**, ventral; **j**, left lateral. **k**. AMNH 47340. **t**, Right lateral; **v**, left lateral. All figures are ×1.



Fig. 37. A–I. Discoscaphites iris (Conrad, 1858), cluster 1, uppermost New Egypt Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. A–D. AMNH 51057, compressed microconch. A, Right lateral; B, apertural; C, ventral; D, left lateral. E–H. AMNH 47354, microconch. E, Right lateral; F, apertural; G, ventral; H, left lateral. I–L. AMNH 51058, microconch. I, Right lateral; J, apertural; K, ventral; L, left lateral. M–P. AMNH 47342, microconch. M, Right lateral; N, apertural; O, ventral; P, left lateral. Q–T. AMNH 47356, microconch. Q, Right lateral; R, apertural; S, ventral; T, left lateral: U–X. AMNH 47352, dimorph indeterminate. U, Right lateral; V, apertural; W, ventral; X, left lateral. Y–b. AMNH 47346, microconch. Y, Right lateral; Z, apertural; a, ventral; b, left lateral. c–f. AMNH 47353, microconch. c, Right lateral; d, apertural; e, ventral; f, left lateral. g, h. AMNH 47345, microconch. g, Right lateral; h, ventral. i–I. AMNH 47337, microconch. i, Right lateral; j, apertural; k, ventral; l, left lateral. m, n. Discoscaphites sp., AMNH 47338, same locality as A–I. m, Right lateral; n, ventral. All figures are ×1.



Fig. 38. *Discoscaphites iris* (Conrad, 1858), microconchs, cluster 2, uppermost New Egypt Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. A–D. AMNH 47363. A, Right lateral; B, apertural; C, ventral; D, left lateral. E–H. MAPS A2060a2. E, Right lateral; F, apertural; G, ventral; H, left lateral. I–L. MAPS A2060a3. I, Right lateral; J, apertural; K, ventral; L, left lateral. M–P. AMNH 51055. M, Right lateral; N, apertural; O, ventral; P, left lateral. Q–T. AMNH 47308. Q, Right lateral; R, apertural; S, ventral; T, left lateral. All figures are ×1.

There are four rows of tubercles with the umbilicolateral tubercles being the largest and the outer ventrolateral tubercles being the smallest. The distance between umbilicolateral tubercles at midshaft is 6 mm. The midflank tubercles are approximately evenly spaced at distances of 5-6 mm. The inner ventrolateral tubercles are approximately evenly spaced at distance of 5.0-6.5 mm, although they show a slightly wider spacing at midshaft (7–7.5 mm). There are 11 outer ventrolateral tubercles evenly spaced at distances of 5-6 mm. They are matched on either side of the venter. A strong provisitation of the venter of the venter of the venter of the venter of the venter.

rib links an inner and outer ventrolateral tubercle and extends onto the venter on the right side near the adoral end of the specimen. The distance between tubercle rows at midshaft starting with the umbilicolateral row is 5 mm, 6 mm, and 5 mm.

AMNH 51059 is representive of the more slender and more weakly ornamented variants characteristic of cluster 1 (fig. 35A–D). It is a nearly complete macroconch approximately 33.9 mm in diameter. The phragmocone is slightly crushed in on the adoral end on the left side and is missing the innermost whorls. Part of the venter is missing



Fig. 39. **A–P.** *Discoscaphites iris* (Conrad, 1858), uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. **A–D.** AMNH 47105, microconch. **A**, Right lateral; **B**, apertural; **C**, ventral; **D**, left lateral. **E–H.** AMNH 51056, microconch. **E**, Right lateral; **F**, apertural; **G**, ventral; **H**, left lateral. **I**, **J**. AMNH 37359, dimorph indeterminate. **I**, Ventral; **J**, left lateral. **K–M.** AMNH 47368, dimorph indeterminate. **K**, Right lateral; **L**, ventral; **M**, left lateral. **N–P.** AMNH 47105, dimorph indeterminate. **N**, Right lateral; **O**, apertural; **P**, ventral. **Q–T.** *Discoscaphites minardi* Landman et al., 2004, AMNH 47369, microconch, same locality as A–P. **Q**, Right lateral; **R**, apertural; **S**, ventral; **T**, left lateral. **U–X**, **c–f**. *Discoscaphites* spp., same locality as A–P. **U–X.** AMNH 47371. **U**, Right lateral; **V**, apertural; **W**, ventral; **X**, left lateral. **c–f**. AMNH 47374. **c**, Right lateral; **d**, apertural; **e**, ventral; **f**, left lateral. **Y–Z**, **a**, **b**. *Discoscaphites gulosus* (Morton, 1834), AMNH 47106, same locality as A–P. **Y**, Right lateral; **Z**, apertural; **a**, ventral; **b**, left lateral. All figures are ×1.

and part of the flanks are obscured by matrix on the right side on the adapical end of the body chamber. This damage may be due to a lethal injury. The ventral and right side of the apertural margin are broken off.

The phragmocone is relatively involute.

The umbilicus is difficult to measure because it is covered with matrix on the left side and is missing altogether on the right side; it is approximately 3.5 mm in diameter. The phragmocone is 23.5 mm in diameter; the ratio of umbilical diameter to phragmocone di-

	;;-	WUS	HUS	WUS/ HUS	WMS	HMS	WMS/ HMS	WAPT	НАРТ	WAPT/ HAPT
MACROCONCH Robust form										
AMNH 51060	c ic	16.6 15.8	19.2 18.2	0.86 0.87	21.0 ^b 20.4 ^b	21.7 ^b 21.1 ^b	0.97 ^b 0.97 ^b	_	_	_
AMNH 47367	c ic	12.4	16.8	0.74	20.9 ^b	21.5 ^b	0.97 ^b	_		
MAPS A2060a1	c ic	13.1	16.1	0.81	18.2 17.0 ^b	17.3 19.5 ^ь	1.05 0.87 ^ь		_	_
Slender form										
AMNH 51059	c ic	7.7	12.3	0.63	14.0 12.8	15.2 15.2	0.92 0.84			
AMNH 47360	c ic	11.6	16.8	0.69	12.8	17.1	0.75	12.2	12.5	0.98
AMNH 47361	c ic			_	_	_	_	13.3	14.1	0.94
AMNH 47348	c ic		_	_	11.0	16.4	0.67		_	_
AMNH 47358	c ic		_	_			_	12.7	13.8	0.92
AMNH 47357	c ic				13.5	16.2	0.83			_
MICROCONCH Robust form										
MAPS A2060a4	c ic	10.5	12.0	0.88	15.0 14.3	13.3 13.3	1.13 1.08		_	_
AMNH 47363	c ic	11.0 9.4	14.0 13.4	0.78 0.70	17.0 14.2	15.0 15.0	1.13 0.95			
MAPS A2060a3	c ic	10.2	14.2	0.72	12.2 12.2	14.0 13.9	0.87 0.86	_		_
AMNH 47308	c ic		_	_	14.2 11.8	13.1 13.1	1.08 0.90	_	_	
MAPS A2060a2	c ic	10.4	12.8	0.81	14.9 14.1	13.4 13.4	1.11 1.05	_	_	
AMNH 51055	c ic	9.4 9.1	12.4 12.4	0.76 0.74	12.1 11.1	13.3 13.3	0.91 0.83	_		
61 d f										
AMNH 51057	0				0.5	10.0	0.05		_	
AMINI JIOJI	ic			_	8.0	10.7	0.75			_
AMNH 51058	c									
	ic		_		11.2	11.8	0.95			
AMNH 47105	с							— ,	_	
	ic	5.9	9.4	0.63						
AMNH 47356	c				—				_	_
	ic			—	11.3	12.2	0.93			—
AMNH 47342	c				_			_		
A NANILI 47245	10	_						9.4	11.1	0.85
Alvinn 4/343	c ic	_				_		11.1	11.3	0.08
AMNH 51056	c	_	_		10.8	12.8	0.84			
	ic	9.4	12.5	0.75				_		—

 TABLE 8

 Measurements of Discoscaphites iris (Conrad, 1858)^a

^aWUS = whorl width at ultimate septum; HUS = whorl height at ultimate septum; WMS = whorl width at midshaft; HMS = whorl height at midshaft; WAPT = whorl width at aperture; HAPT = whorl height at aperture; c = costal section; ic = intercostal section.

^b Estimate; see figure 16 for an explanation of measurements.

ameter is 0.15; the ratio of umbilical diameter to shell diameter is 0.10. In side view, the venter of the phragmocone passes smoothly into the venter of the body chamber, describing a broad arc. There is no visible gap between the phragmocone and the body chamber. The apertural margin is slightly flexuous and the apertural angle is very low (27°). The umbilical seam of the body chamber is straight with a slight bulge. The body chamber is approximately 0.5 whorls long.

The whorl section of the phragmocone is compressed ovoid. The ratio of whorl width to height in intercostal section at the point of exposure and at the ultimate septum is 0.66 and 0.63, respectively. At the ultimate septum, the umbilical wall is steep and convex and the umbilical shoulder is sharply rounded. The flanks are very broadly rounded to flat with maximum width at one-quarter whorl height. They gently slope toward the venter but become more steeply inclined between the inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles. The ventrolateral margin is sharply rounded and the venter is flat with a slightly raised midline.

The whorl section of the most adapical part of the body chamber is similar to that of the phragmocone, but the body chamber becomes more swollen at midshaft. The ratio of whorl width to height at midshaft is 0.84 and 0.92 in intercostal and costal sections, respectively. The umbilical wall is steep and convex and the umbilical shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded. The inner flanks are broadly rounded and inclined outward, the midflanks are nearly flat and gently converge toward the venter, and the outermost flanks between the inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles are broadly rounded and more steeply inclined toward the venter. The ventrolateral margin is fairly sharply rounded and the venter is very broadly rounded. The body chamber tapers adorally with a reduction in whorl width and height. The whorl width and height at the point of recurvature are 11.5 mm and 12.8 mm, respectively; the ratio of whorl width to height is 0.90.

The ornament on the phragmocone is poorly preserved and consists of prorsiradiate ribs and inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles. Branching and intercalation occur at two-thirds whorl height. Near the adoral end of the phragmocone, the ribs are bullate on the inner flanks at the site of the future umbilicolateral tubercles. Midflank tubercles are not present although this may be due to poor preservation. The inner ventrolateral tubercles, of which there are 16 on the exposed phragmocone, occur on every rib. They are evenly spaced at distances of 1.5 mm on the adapical end of the phragmocone, becoming more widely spaced toward the adoral end; the distance between the two most adoral tubercles is 3 mm. The outer ventrolateral tubercles are smaller than the inner ventrolateral tubercles but are more distinct, numerous, and more closely spaced. There are 27 of them on the exposed phragmocone. They are tiny and evenly spaced at distances of approximately 1 mm on the adapical end of the phragmocone, becoming abruptly larger and more widely spaced on the adoral onethird of the phragmocone. The distance between the two most adoral tubercles is approximately 2 mm. Some tubercles are matched and others are not on either side of the ventral margin. A few ribs are present on the venter on the adapical part of the phragmocone but most of the venter is smooth.

Ribs are not well defined on the posterior part of the body chamber but become more conspicuous on the adoral one-third. There are six strongly prorsiradiate, moderately widely spaced ribs on the hook, which become more closely spaced toward the aperture. The venter is smooth. There are four rows of tubercles. Three umbilicolateral tubercles are preserved on the left side at approximately one-quarter whorl height. They are evenly spaced at distances of 4.5 mm. The middle tubercle is the most prominent tubercle on the specimen. The midflank tubercles occur at midwhorl height and are smaller and more numerous than the umbilicolateral tubercles. The largest and most widely spaced midflank tubercles (5.5 mm apart) occur at midshaft; they diminish in size and spacing toward the aperture. The inner ventrolateral tubercles are slightly more prominent than the midflank tubercles. Eleven inner ventrolateral tubercles are preserved on the body chamber on the left side. They are fairly evenly spaced at distances of 5 mm on the shaft but become more closely spaced toward the aperture. The outer ventrolateral tubercles are smaller and less distinct than the inner ventrolateral tubercles. There are 11 outer ventrolateral tubercles preserved on the body chamber on the left side, equal to the number of inner ventrolateral tubercles. They are fairly evenly spaced at distances of approximately 4 mm. Tubercles are slightly off-set from one side of the venter to the other. The distance between tubercle rows at mid-shaft starting with the umbilicolateral row is 5.5 mm, 4 mm, and 2.5 mm. A composite suture is illustrated at a whorl height of 7.9 mm (fig. 41D). The first lateral saddle (E/L) and lobe (E) are both asymmetrically bifid.

AMNH 47360 consists of the adoral end of the phragmocone and body chamber, with the venter on the adoral part of the shaft missing and the right side of the specimen worn (fig. 35H–L). The impression of the left side of the specimen is preserved in matrix. The body chamber is slightly more than 0.5 whorls long. The umbilical shoulder is weakly swollen in side view. The whorl section at the base of the body chamber is compressed ovoid with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.69. The body chamber is swollen at midshaft with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.75 in intercostal section. The umbilical wall is steep and convex and the umbilical shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded. The inner flanks are broadly rounded and inclined outward, the midflanks are nearly flat and gently converge toward the venter, and the outer flanks are broadly rounded and converge more steeply toward the venter. The ventrolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded and the venter is very broadly rounded. The whorl section at the aperture is less compressed than that at midshaft with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.98.

The ornament on the body chamber is better preserved on the left side. There are four rows of tubercles that occur on poorly defined ribs. Ribs swing backward on the inner flanks, forward on the midflanks, and back again on the outer flanks. Very fine ribs are visible on a peel made from the impression of the left side of the specimen. Intercalation and branching occur at the umbilicolateral tubercles or at the equivalent whorl height. Pairs of ribs loop between umbilicolateral and midflank tubercles at midshaft. There are six umbilicolateral tubercles that extend to the aperture. They are unevenly spaced with the maximum distance between the two most adoral tubercles of approximately 6.5 mm. Nor are they of equal strength; the next to last tubercle is the most prominent tubercle on the specimen. A row of five tubercles occurs on the midflanks with a distance of approximately 9 mm between the two most adoral tubercles. There are eight slightly more prominent inner ventrolateral tubercles that are approximately evenly spaced at distances of 5-7 mm. The outer row of ventrolateral tubercles, which extends to the aperture, is incomplete due to postmortem breakage, but there would have originally been at least 10 tubercles, two more than the number of inner ventrolateral tubercles. The distance between the two most adoral tubercles is 5 mm. The distance between tubercle rows at midshaft starting with the umbilicolateral row is 5 mm, 4 mm, and 4 mm.

There are nine other macroconchs in cluster 1, of which we describe four, but all are more fragmentary than AMNH 47360 and AMNH 51059. AMNH 51061 is an internal mold of one-half of a compressed body chamber (fig. 35Q-T). Ribs are present in addition to the four rows of tubercles and are conspicuous on the right side. Ribs swing slightly backward on the umbilical shoulder and then forward on the inner one-half of the flanks. They become bullate at one-quarter whorl height, where they bifurcate and join the midflank tubercles. Straight to weakly convex ribs link the midflank to the inner ventrolateral tubercles on the adoral part of the shaft and hook. Ribs become increasingly prorsiradiate adorally and connect the inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles. There are two ribs on the venter near the apertural margin. They cross the venter with a slight adoral projection and join pairs of outer ventrolateral tubercles on the opposite side of the venter. The distance between tubercle rows at midshaft starting with the umbilicolateral row is 4.5 mm, 5 mm, and 3.5 mm.

AMNH 47361 is one-half of a body chamber with most of the right side worn away (fig. 35U–X). The apertural margin is slightly flexuous with a constriction. The whorl section at the aperture is subquadrate with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.94. All four rows of tubercles are present, with one of the umbilicolateral tubercles being the most prominent. The most complete row of tubercles is the inner ventrolateral row of which there are 11 tubercles on the body chamber including one on the apertural margin. The spacing between rows of tubercles at midshaft starting with the umbilicolateral row is 5.5 mm, 5.5 mm, and 4.5 mm.

AMNH 47357 is most of a robust body chamber minus the hook, although the adapical end is not well preserved (fig. 35M-P). The whorl section at midshaft is compressed ovoid with maximum width at one-quarter whorl height. The intercostal ratio of whorl width to whorl height is 0.83. The umbilical wall is steep and subvertical and the umbilical shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded. The inner flanks are broadly rounded, the midflanks are nearly flat and gently converge to the venter, and the outer flanks are broadly rounded and converge more steeply toward the venter. The ventrolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded and the venter is nearly flat. The body chamber is covered with swollen, poorly defined prorsiradiate ribs bearing four rows of tubercles. There are three umbilicolateral tubercles perched just outside the umbilical shoulder. The middle one of these tubercles points slightly backward and is the most prominent tubercle on the specimen. There are five midflank, six inner ventrolateral, and eight outer ventrolateral tubercles. The outer ventrolateral tubercles are paired on either side of the venter and are joined by weak swollen ribs.

AMNH 47355 is the middle portion of a flat sided body chamber minus part of the venter (fig. 36A–D). Ribs are rectiradiate and nearly straight on the adapical end of the specimen becoming prorsiradiate and weakly concave toward the adoral end. All four rows of tubercles are present on the left side. A groove occurs on the flanks on the right side at one-third whorl height and represents a repaired injury. As a result, the midflank row of tubercles is not present on this side but the ribs are better developed.

MICROCONCH DESCRIPTION

Most of the robust microconchs comprise cluster 2 (MAPS A2060a2, A2060a3,

AMNH 47308, 47363, and 51055). AMNH 47363 is an internal mold of a body chamber with most of the venter of the shaft worn away and part of the hook missing (fig. 38A–D). There is an impression of the phragmocone on the dorsum. The specimen retains some patches of iridescence, probably because a very thin layer of shell material is preserved. In side view, the umbilical shoulder forms a curve, which is the same as that of the venter. The apertural margin shows a constriction.

The body chamber grows rapidly in width in passing from the base to midshaft. Thereafter, the width remains nearly the same, but the height diminishes slightly to the point of recurvature. The ratio of whorl width to height in intercostal section is 0.70, 0.95, and 1.03 at the base of the body chamber, midshaft, and point of recurvature, respectively. The umbilical wall is nearly flat and subvertical at midshaft and the umbilical shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded. The flanks are broadly rounded and gently inclined toward the venter, becoming more steeply inclined at three-quarters whorl height.

The ornament on a peel of part of the phragmocone shows inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles linked by prorsiradiate ribs. The number of outer ventrolateral tubercles exceeds the number of inner ventrolateral tubercles. The outer ventrolateral tubercles are tiny and evenly spaced at distances of approximately 1.25 mm. The tubercles are paired on either side of the venter and linked by ribs showing a very slight adoral projection. There are approximately 8 ribs/cm on the venter based on an average distance of 1.25 mm between ribs.

The ornament on the body chamber consists of four rows of tubercles; some of these tubercles occur on swollen broad ribs. Two straight rectiratidiate ribs occur on the adapical end of the body chamber on the left side. There are four umbilicolateral tubercles perched on the umbilical shoulder. They are evenly spaced at distances of 6 mm and extend to the aperture. The two middle ones are the most prominent tubercles on the specimen. There are seven midflank tubercles that are evenly spaced at distances of approximately 6 mm and eight inner venterolateral tubercles, although some of these are worn away at midshaft. The row of outer ventrolateral tubercles is only preserved on the adapical portion of the specimen.

MAPS A2060a2 is most of a robust body chamber minus part of the hook with the impression of the inner whorls (fig. 38E-H). The whorl section at the base of the body chamber is compressed ovoid with maximum width at one-quarter whorl height in costal and intercostal section; the ratio of whorl width to whorl height is 0.81 in costal section. The umbilical wall is steep and convex and the umbilical shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded. The inner flanks are nearly flat and inclined slightly outward, the midflanks are nearly flat and gently converge toward the venter, and the outer flanks are broadly rounded and converge more steeply toward the venter. The ventrolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded and the venter is narrow and flat. The whorl width and height expand gradually into the body chamber. The whorl section at midshaft is subquadrate with maximum width at the umbilical shoulder in both costal and intercostal section. The ratio of whorl width to height in intercostal section is 1.05. The umbilical wall is broad, weakly convex to nearly flat, and inclined slightly outward; the umbilical shoulder is abruptly rounded. The flanks are broadly rounded and gently converge toward the venter, becoming more steeply convergent near the inner ventrolateral tubercles. The ventrolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded and the venter is flat.

The ornament on a peel of part of the phragmocone shows rows of inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles. Straight prorsiradiate ribs join the inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles. The outer ventrolateral tubercles are tiny and are evenly spaced at distances of approximately 1.25 mm. There are approximately 1.5 times as many outer as inner ventrolateral tubercles. The outer ventrolateral tubercles are matched on either side of the venter on the adoral one-half of the peel and alternate on the adapical one-half. Ribs cross the venter with a very slight adoral projection and link paired or offset outer ventrolateral tubercles. There are approximately 8 ribs/cm based on an average distance of 1.25 mm between ribs.

On the body chamber, four rows of tuber-

cles are prominent and occur on fairly strong, swollen prorsiradiate ribs. Ribs bifurcate and swing forward from the umbilical tubercles connecting the midflank and inner ventrolateral tubercles. Ribs weaken or disappear between the inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles. The most prominent tubercles are the umbilical tubercles, followed by the inner ventrolateral tubercles, the midflank tubercles, and the outer ventrolateral tubercles. As counted on the right side, there are four umbilical tubercles spaced at distances of 4.5-6 mm, seven midflank tubercles spaced at distances of 3.5-5 mm, seven inner ventrolateral tubercles spaced at distances of 5-7 mm, and eight outer ventrolateral tubercles spaced at distances of 5.5 mm. The distance between tubercle rows at midshaft starting with the umbilical row is 4 mm, 4.5 mm, and 3.5 mm. The spacing between paired ventrolateral tubercles on either side of the venter ranges from 3 mm at the adapical end to 4.5 mm at the adoral end of the specimen.

MAPS A2060a4 is most of a robust body chamber and adoral part of a phragmocone attached to a siderite nodule (fig. 34I, J). The ventral and left side of the hook are missing. The whorl section is compressed ovoid at midshaft with an intercostal ratio of whorl width to height of 1.08. The maximum width is at the umbilical shoulder. The midflanks are broadly rounded and gently converge toward the venter, and the outer flanks are nearly flat and converge more steeply toward the venter. The ventrolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded and the venter is nearly flat.

Four rows of tubercles occur on swollen. poorly defined prorsiradiate ribs. The right side preserves the ornamentation better. There are three umbilical tubercles on the body chamber extending to the aperture. The middle tubercle is the most prominent tubercle on the specimen and exhibits a steep adapical and more gently sloping adoral side. There are seven midflank tubercles that occur just dorsal of midwhorl height. They are evenly spaced at distances of 4.5-5.5 mm except near the aperture where there is an increase (8 mm) and then a decrease (4.5 mm) in spacing. A row of 11 inner ventrolateral tubercles (one is presumed to have been present but is missing due to breakage) occurs 2004

at two-thirds whorl height and extends to the aperture. The tubercles occur at approximately equal distances of 4.5–5.5 mm. Only part of the outer ventrolateral row of tubercles is preserved. There are eight outer ventrolateral tubercles versus five inner ventrolateral tubercles on the adapical one-half of the body chamber. The distance between tubercle rows at midshaft, starting with the umbilical row, is 4.25 mm, 4.5 mm, and 3.5 mm. The distance between outer ventrolateral tubercles on either side of the venter is 4.75 mm.

The microconchs in cluster 1 represent more compressed forms. The best preserved microconch in cluster 1 is AMNH 51057, an internal mold of a body chamber with the remnant of the inner whorls (fig. 37A-D). It is 30.2 mm in maximum diameter. Adhering matrix on the left side obscures the umbilical margin but on the right side, the umbilical margin is tightly curved in side view. The body chamber is compressed and gradually expands in height and width to the aperture, which shows a constriction. The ratio of whorl width to height at midshaft is 0.75 in intercostal section. The umbilical wall is flat and inclined outward and the umbilical shoulder is sharply rounded. The flanks are nearly flat and subparallel, becoming more steeply inclined toward the venter at threequarters whorl height. The ventrolateral shoulder is sharply rounded and the venter is flat.

The ornament on the body chamber consists of four rows of tubercles, some of which occur on weak, broad, straight to arcuate ribs. The only well-defined rib is just adapical of the apertural margin. Five umbilicolateral tubercles are perched on the umbilical shoulder and extend to the aperture. The four most adoral tubercles are evenly spaced at distances of approximately 4 mm. The midflank tubercles begin as bullate swellings, becoming more tuberculate at midshaft, and extend to the aperture. There are 12 inner ventrolateral tubercles that become more closely spaced adorally. The spacing between the two most widely spaced tubercles is 5 mm and the spacing between the two most closely spaced tubercles is 3 mm. There are 19 outer ventrolateral tubercles, that is, 1.6 times the number of inner ventrolateral tubercles. They are most widely spaced (4.5 mm) at midshaft and most closely spaced (2 mm) near the base of the body chamber. The ventrolateral tubercles are generally offset from one side of the venter to the other. The distance at midshaft between the four rows of tubercles, starting with the umbilicolateral row, is 3.5 mm, 3.5 mm, and 2.5 mm.

There are eight other microconchs in cluster 1, all of them relatively compressed. We describe three. AMNH 51058 is an internal mold of the adoral one-half of a body chamber (fig. 37I–L). The right side is partly covered with matrix, possibly obscuring a hole in the shell. The whorl section at midshaft is nearly subquadrate with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.95 in intercostal section. All four rows of tubercles are well developed with the umbilical tubercles being the largest, least numerous, and most widely spaced and the outer ventrolateral tubercles being the smallest, most numerous, and most closely spaced.

AMNH 47356 is the middle portion and part of the hook of a body chamber (fig. 37Q-T). The whorl section at midshaft is compressed ovoid with maximum width at the umbilical shoulder in costal section and at one-third whorl height in intercostal section. The intercostal ratio of whorl width to whorl height is 0.93. The tubercles occur on poorly defined, swollen prorsiradiate ribs. The strongest tubercles are the umbilical tubercles followed by the inner ventrolateral tubercles. The distance between tubercle rows at midshaft, starting with the umbilical row, are 4 mm, 5.5 mm, and 3 mm. The distance between outer ventrolateral tubercles on either side of the venter at midshaft is 4 mm.

AMNH 47353 is part of the body chamber of a fairly compressed specimen (fig. 37c–f). The ornament consists of fairly strong prorsiradiate ribs with four rows of tubercles. However, the spacing of the tubercle rows differs from that in most other specimens. The umbilical row is perched on the umbilical shoulder, but the midflank and "inner ventrolateral row" occur just above and below midwhorl height, respectively. The "inner" and outer ventrolateral rows are spaced widely apart. The distance between rows on the middle of the specimen starting with the

NO. 287

umbilical row is 3 mm, 3.5 mm, and 5 mm. The distance between ventrolateral tubercles on either side of the venter is 3 mm.

AMNH 47105 from AMNH loc. 3345 (but not from cluster 1) is most of a body chamber minus the hook and venter (fig. 39A–D). There is some iridescent shell on the umbilical wall on the right side. The base of the body chamber is well preserved. It is compressed ovoid with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.63 in intercostal section. The umbilical wall is steep and convex and the umbilical shoulder is sharply rounded. The flanks are flat and nearly subparallel. The ventrolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded and the venter is nearly flat.

There are six umbilical tubercles perched on the umbilical shoulder. They are arcuate and evenly spaced at distances of approximately 2.5 mm. Ribs arise in pairs from these tubercles and are prorsiradiate on the flanks. The more adoral rib of each pair is weaker and convex and the more adapical rib is stronger and concave to straight, and links to a midflank tubercle. Weaker, finer ribs intercalate between the umbilical tubercles. The midflank tubercles are bullate and less prominent than the umbilical tubercles and are spaced at distances of 3.5-4 mm. Due to the erosion of the venter, some of the inner ventrolateral tubercles and all of the outer ventrolateral tubercles are missing.

AMNH 51056 is the adapical one-half of a body chamber (fig. 39E-H). It is from AMNH loc. 3345 (but not cluster 1) and resembles AMNH 47337 (fig. 37i-l) in having nearly flat flanks. The whorl section at midshaft is compressed subquadrate with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.84. The umbilical tubercles are arcuate with steep adapical sides and more gently inclined adoral sides. Swollen, arcuate ribs link the midflank tubercles to the inner ventrolateral tubercles. which, after the umbilical tubercles, are the second most prominent tubercles on the specimen. These tubercles also exhibit steep adapical sides and more gently sloping adoral sides. The outer ventrolateral tubercles are less prominent than the inner ventrolateral tubercles. The distance between tubercle rows at midshaft, starting with the umbilical row, is 4.25 mm, 4 mm, and 2.5 mm. The outer ventrolateral tubercles are very closely

spaced on either side of the venter, approximately 3 mm apart. Based on the regular spacing of tubercles on most of the specimen, a single outer ventrolateral tubercle, one in each row on either side of the venter, seems to have been skipped during growth. A shallow groove appears on the midventer at this point suggesting a repaired injury.

DIMORPH INDETERMINATE

There are many specimens, most from cluster 1, that are too fragmentary to determine the dimorph. We describe two of the more complete specimens.

AMNH 47349 is the shaft of a fairly compressed, although slightly crushed body chamber, probably of a macroconch (Fig. 36S–V). The flanks are nearly flat and gently converge toward the venter, as in AMNH 47337 and 51056. The ribs are weak, prorsiradiate, and slightly flexuous. All four rows of tubercles are present with the outer and inner ventrolateral rows being very closely spaced to one another. The distances between rows at midshaft, starting with the umbilicolateral row, are 3.5 mm, 4 mm, and 2.25 mm. The distance between ventrolateral tubercles on either side of the venter is also small, approximately 3 mm.

AMNH 47368 is the adoral half of the body chamber of a fairly robust specimen, probably a macroconch (fig. 39K-M). It is from AMNH loc. 3345 but not from cluster 1. The right side is worn away. A small piece of the phragmocone is still attached. This piece and part of the body chamber retain some shelly iridescence. The ornament consists of four rows of tubercles but the spacing between them differs from that in most other specimens. Two umbilical tubercles occur on the umbilical shoulder, the adapical one of which is the most prominent tubercle on the specimen. Two tubercles occur on the innermost flanks near the aperture. A more prominent row of tubercles occurs slightly ventral of midwhorl height. These are linked by short arcuate ribs to a row of ventrolateral tubercles. The distance between tubercle rows near the aperture, starting with the umbilical row and excluding the row of only two tubercles, is 3 mm, 3 mm, and 4 mm.

DISCUSSION: Discoscaphites iris is charac-

terized by four rows of tubercles borne on weak to coarse ribs. In macroconchs, the distance between the umbilical and midflank tubercles is equal to or slightly greater than that between the midflank and inner ventrolateral tubercles, which is greater than the distance between the inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles. Because the whorl height in microconchs is smaller than that in macroconchs, the spacing of tubercles is slightly different. The distance between the umbilical and midflank tubercles is approximately equal to or *slightly less than* that between the midflank and inner ventrolateral tubercles, which is greater than the distance between the inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles. The number of outer ventrolateral tubercles on the body chambers of macroconchs is approximately 1-1.5 times the number of inner ventrolateral tubercles. The most prominent tubercles are the umbilicolateral tubercles, followed by the inner ventrolateral tubercles. The midflank and outer ventrolateral tubercles are equally small.

2004

Discoscaphites iris was originally described from the Owl Creek Formation, Tippah County, Mississippi, by Conrad (1858: 335, pl. 35, fig. 23). Kennedy and Cobban (2000) described and illustrated many additional specimens from this locality, reflecting a range of variation from slender to robust forms. The strength of the tubercles covaries with the degree of inflation. The holotype is a robust specimen, and several other specimens, presumably part of Conrad's original material, now housed in the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia, represent both slender and robust forms.

As in other scaphites, it is tempting to distinguish the end members of this kind of morphological series and assign them different species names. However, there are many intermediaries and choosing the dividing line is difficult and arbitrary. As a result, we prefer to regard all of our specimens as conspecific.

Kennedy and Cobban (2000: 185, fig. 6, pl. 1, figs. 1–11) described *Discoscaphites* sphaeroidalis Kennedy and Cobban, 2000, from the Owl Creek Formation in northeastern Mississippi. According to them, this species is close to *D. iris* but differs from it in having a more inflated shape and more strongly ribbed phragmocone. Many of the coarsely ornamented specimens in our collection resemble the holotype of *D. sphaeroidalis*, but none of them retains enough of the phragmocone to detect the presence of unusually strong ribbing diagnostic of this species. Therefore, we refer all the robust specimens in our collection to *D. iris*.

Discoscaphites iris differs from Discoscaphites conradi (Morton, 1834) and Discoscaphites gulosus (Morton, 1834) in having four rows of tubercles. In addition, the outer ventrolateral tubercles are more widely spaced in Discoscaphites iris than in Discoscaphites conradi. Discoscaphites iris differs from Discoscaphites minardi Landman et al., 2004, chiefly in that the midflank tubercles are sharp and well developed in D. iris whereas they are weak and bullate, if they exist at all, in D. minardi.

OCCURRENCE: Upper part of the New Egypt Formation and as reworked material at the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey. Elsewhere in New Jersey, this species occurs in the upper part of the New Egypt Formation in the Crosswicks Creek Drainage, southwestern Monmouth County (Landman et al., in prep. b), and at the top of the Tinton Formation and as reworked material at the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Manasquan River Drainage, central Monmouth County (Landman et al., in prep. a). Discoscaphites iris is also known from the upper part of the Severn Formation, Kent and Anne Arundel Counties, Maryland (Landman et al., 2004). On the Gulf Coastal Plain, it occurs in the Owl Creek Formation and as reworked material at the base of the Clayton Formation in Mississippi, Tennessee, and Missouri (Stephenson, 1955; Sohl, 1960, 1964; Kennedy and Cobban, 2000). It is the name bearer of the Discoscaphites iris Zone on the Gulf and Atlantic Coastal Plains, which represents the upper part of the upper Maastrichtian, corresponding to the upper part of calcareous nannofossil Subzone CC26b.

Discoscaphites minardi Landman et al., 2004

Figures 39Q-T, 40A-D, J-P

TYPE: The holotype is AMNH 47288, a macroconch, from AMNH loc. 3252 from



Fig. 40. **A–D, J–P.** *Discoscaphites minardi* Landman et al., 2004. **A–D.** MAPS A2059b2, macroconch, upper New Egypt Formation, 1.5–2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3347, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. **A**, Left lateral; **B**, apertural; **C**, ventral; **D**, left lateral. **J–M.** AMNH 47307, macroconch, upper New Egypt Formation, 1.5–2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3346, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. **J.** Right lateral; **K**, apertural; **L**, ventral; **M**, left lateral. **N–P.** AMNH 47305, microconch, same locality as J–M. **N**, Right lateral; **O**, ventral, **P**, left lateral. **E–I**, **Q–S.** *Discoscaphites* spp., same locality as J–P. **E–G.** AMNH 47301. **E**, Right lateral; **F**, ventral; **G**, left lateral. **H**, **I.** AMNH 47300. **H**, Right lateral; **I**, left lateral. **Q–S.** AMNH 47304. **Q**, Right lateral; **R**, ventral; **S**, left lateral. All specimens are ×1.

the top of the Severn Formation, Betterton quadrangle, Kent County, Maryland.

MATERIAL: There are four specimens: two macroconchs (MAPS A2059b2 and AMNH 47307) and one microconch (AMNH 47305) from AMNH locs. 3346 and 3347, from the upper part of the New Egypt Formation 1.5–2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, near Eatontown, Monmouth County,

New Jersey, and one microconch (AMNH 47369) from AMNH loc. 3345 from the New Egypt/Hornerstown formational contact, near Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

MACROCONCH DESCRIPTION

AMNH 47307 is the adoral one-half of a body chamber with part of the venter and

aperture missing (fig. 40J-M). The flanks are nearly flat and subparallel and the venter is broadly rounded. The whorl section at the aperture is subquadrate with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.87. The dorsal projection of the aperture is preserved. The ornament is subdued with faint, straight, widely spaced prorsiradiate ribs that become more closely spaced near the apertural margin. Rows of umbilicolateral and inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles are present as well as a row of weak midflank swellings. The umbilicolateral tubercles are spaced at distances of 5 mm at midshaft. Ten radial swellings are visible on the midflanks on the left side of the fragment and extend to the aperture. The distance between midflank swellings at midshaft is 3 mm. There are an equal number of inner and outer venterolateral tubercles on the hook—seven in each row, as counted on the left side; both rows extend to the aperture. The distance between tubercle rows at midshaft, starting with the umbilicolateral row and including the midflank row, is 4 mm, 5 mm, and 4.5 mm.

2004

MAPS A2059b2 from AMNH loc. 3347 is most of a body chamber minus the ventral one-half of the hook (fig. 40A-D). The umbilical shoulder shows a bulge in side view. There is the impression of the phragmocone. The base of the body chamber is well preserved and is compressed ovoid with a ratio of whorl width to height of 0.55. The umbilical wall is steep and convex and the umbilical shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded. The inner flanks are flat and slightly divergent, the midflanks are nearly flat and subparallel, and the outer flanks are very broadly rounded and gently converge to the venter. The ventrolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded and the venter is broadly rounded. The whorl width expands more rapidly than the whorl height and the ratio of whorl width to height at midshaft is 0.68.

Ribs are straight on the inner flanks at midshaft. They change from rursiradiate to prorsiradiate adorally and terminate in concave umbilicolateral bullae. Ribs swing forward in a straight line on the midflanks connecting umbilicolateral bullae to inner ventrolateral tubercles. On the left side, one rib bears two additional bullae, one bulla just dorsal and another just ventral of midflank, and another rib bears a single, weak bulla just dorsal of midflank. The inner ventrolateral tubercles are relatively prominent, given the compressed shape of the shell. On the adapical one-half of the specimen on the right side, these tubercles occur on swollen, concave ribs. The tubercles are evenly spaced at distances of 4.5-5.5 mm at midshaft. They are linked by prorsiradiate swellings to an equal number of outer ventrolateral tubercles, which are also spaced at distances of approximately 5 mm at midshaft; the outer ventrolateral tubercles alternate on either side of the venter. The distance between tubercle rows at midshaft, starting with the umbilicolateral row and including the midflank row, is 3.5 mm, 7.5 mm, and 3.5 mm. The distance between tubercles on either side of the venter is 5 mm.

MICROCONCH DESCRIPTION

AMNH 47305 is the adoral one-half of a body chamber (fig. 40N-P). It is 35.6 mm in maximum length. It is slightly crushed and there is a break through the hook. The whorl section just adoral of midshaft is compressed ovoid with maximum width at the umbilical shoulder in costal and intercostal section. The umbilical wall is flat and inclined outward and the umbilical shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded. The inner and midflanks are very broadly rounded and gently converge toward the venter and the outer flanks (between the inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles) are broadly rounded and converge more steeply toward the venter. The ventrolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded and the venter is broadly rounded.

This specimen is distinguished by the presence of strong ribs on the entire piece of body chamber and the absence of a midflank row of tubercles. Four umbilical tubercles are perched on the umbilical shoulder on the right side and are the most prominent tubercles on the specimen. The distance between umbilical tubercles slightly adoral of midshaft is 6.5 mm. Broad, low ribs arise at or between the tubercles and are prorsiradiate and slightly convex on the flanks. They become more closely spaced, straighter, and more prorsiradiate toward the aperture. The distance between ribs slightly adoral of mid-

shaft is approximately 1 mm. Pairs of ribs loop to the inner ventrolateral tubercles, and at least one rib intercalates at midwhorl height and extends to an outer ventrolateral tubercle. The inner ventrolateral tubercles are less prominent than the umbilical tubercles and are spaced at distances of approximately 4.5 mm slightly adoral of midshaft; because of poor preservation, it is unclear if these tubercles extend to the aperture. The outer ventrolateral tubercles are approximately the same size as the inner ventrolateral tubercles and are spaced at distances of approximately 6 mm slightly adoral of midshaft. The distance between the two rows of tubercles is 3.5 mm. The ventrolateral tubercles are matched on either side of the ventral margin with the distance between them being 8 mm slightly adoral of midshaft. Faint ribs cross the venter with a slight adoral projection.

AMNH 47369 is most of a body chamber of a compressed specimen (fig. 39Q-T). The ratio of whorl width to height at the aperture is 0.95. The flanks are nearly flat and covered with fairly straight prorsiradiate ribs, especially on the hook. The ribs become more closely spaced toward the aperture with intercalation at midwhorl height. Ribs cross the venter with a slight forward projection. The umbilical tubercles are well developed but the midflank tubercles are only represented by bullae. The inner ventrolateral tubercles are of equal size and spacing on the shaft, but abruptly diminish in size and spacing on the hook. The outer ventrolateral tubercles on the shaft are close to the inner ventrolateral tubercles, so that adjacent tubercles are connected by an elongate swelling. The outer ventrolateral tubercles disappear on the hook although this may be due to poor preservation.

DISCUSSION: Among these four specimens, AMNH 47307 (fig. 40J–M) perfectly matches the description of *Discoscaphites minardi*. In contrast, AMNH 47305 (fig. 40N–P) differs from *D. minardi* notably in the presence of fairly strong ribs. We provisionally include this specimen in *D. minardi*.

Discoscaphites minardi closely resembles *D. iris*, the main differences being that the flanks of the body chamber of *D. minardi* are flatter and less broadly rounded than those of *D. iris*, and that the midflank swellings are

weak and bullate in *D. minardi*, if they exist at all, whereas they are sharp and well developed in *D. iris*.

OCCURRENCE: Upper part of the New Egypt Formation 1.5–2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, and the uppermost 20 cm of the New Egypt Formation and base of the Hornerstown Formation, near Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey. This species was originally described from the top of the Severn Formation, Betterton quadrangle, Kent County, Maryland (Landman et al., 2004).

Discoscaphites gulosus (Morton, 1834) Figures 39Y–Z, a, b, 41E

- Ammonites conradi var. petechialis Morton, 1834: 39, 40, pl. 16, fig. 1.
- Ammonites conradi var. gulosus Morton, 1834: 39, pl. 16, fig. 2.
- Ammonites conradi var. navicularis Morton, 1834: 40, pl. 19, fig. 4.
- *Discoscaphites gulosus* (Morton, 1834). Landman and Waage, 1993: 212, figs. 156, 157, 159, 160, 167–180 (with full synonymy).
- *Discoscaphites gulosus* (Morton, 1834). Cobban and Kennedy, 1995: 29, figs. 10.4, 10.5, 19.20– 19.24, 20.8–20.12, 20.14–20.17, 21.18–21.21.
- Discoscaphites gulosus (Morton, 1834). Kennedy et al., 1997: 21, figs. 20k–o, 21d, e.

TYPE: The holotype is ANSP 51552 from the Prairie Bluff Chalk at Prairie Bluff, Alabama.

MATERIAL: AMNH 47106, an internal mold of part of a phragmocone from the Main Fossiliferous Layer at the New Egypt/ Hornerstown formational contact at AMNH loc. 3345 at Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey.

DESCRIPTION: AMNH 47106 is one-half of a phragmocone with part of the venter and flanks missing on the adapical end (fig. 39Y– Z, a, b). The specimen is 30.4 mm in diameter. The whorl section at the adoral end is compressed ovoid with maximum width at one-quarter whorl height. The ratio of whorl width to height is 0.72. The umbilical wall is convex and the umbilical shoulder is fairly sharply rounded. The inner flanks are well rounded and the outer flanks are broadly rounded and converge toward the venter. The ventrolateral shoulder is fairly abruptly rounded and the venter is nearly flat.



Fig. 41. **A–D.** *Discoscaphites iris* (Conrad, 1858), uppermost New Egypt Formation and basal Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, northwest of Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. **A, B.** AMNH 47365, a fragment of a macroconch, part of the last suture at a whorl height of approximately 18.2 mm and internal lobe of another suture on the inner whorls. **C.** AMNH 51060, a macroconch, part of the last suture at a whorl height of 19.7 mm. **D.** AMNH 51059, a macroconch, part of a composite of two sutures at a whorl height of 7.9 mm. **E.** *Discoscaphites gulosus* (Morton, 1834), AMNH 47106, same locality as A–D, part of a composite of two sutures at whorl heights of 17.3 mm and 17.6 mm. **F.** *Discoscaphites* sp., AMNH 47107, a fragment, same locality as A–D, part of a suture at a whorl height of approximately 10.3 mm.

The ornament consists of five rows of tubercles that occur on swollen prorsiradiate ribs. Intercalation and branching occur at one-third whorl height. The umbilical tubercles occur just outside the umbilical shoulder. The two most adoral tubercles are 5 mm apart. The two rows of inner and outer flank tubercles are not as prominent as the umbilical tubercles. They are evenly spaced and occur on every rib. These rows are more closely spaced to each other than the inner flank row is to the umbilical row (2.5 mm versus 4 mm as measured on a single rib on the right side 45° from the adoral end). The inner ventrolateral tubercles are as prominent as the umbilical tubercles and more prominent than the flank tubercles and are spaced at distances of 2.5 mm on the adapical part, becoming more widely spaced (5 mm) on the adoral part, as measured on the left side. The distance between the inner ventrolateral row and the outer flank row (3 mm as measured on the same rib as previously described) is slightly larger than that between the two flank rows. The outer ventrolateral tubercles are close to the inner ventrolateral tubercles. approximately 2.5 mm apart on the same rib as previously described. The outer ventrolateral tubercles are slightly smaller than the inner ventrolateral ones. The two most adoral outer ventrolateral tubercles are 3.5 mm apart. The outer ventrolateral tubercles are slightly offset from one side of the venter to the other. The suture shows part of a narrow first lateral lobe (L) and U_2 (fig. 41E). It is simplified but this is due perhaps to poor preservation.

DISCUSSION: This specimen, although fragmentary, matches in its shape and ornament other specimens of *Discoscaphites gulosus* illustrated by Jeletzky and Waage (1978) and Landman and Waage (1993). It is notable that there is no midventral row of tubercles on this specimen, which is characteristic of *D. gulosus* from the Prairie Bluff Chalk (e.g., Jeletzky and Waage, 1978, pl. 3, figs. 13, 14), although, in fact, this feature may be retricted to the body chamber.

OCCURRENCE: Top of the New Egypt Formation and base of the Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, Monmouth County, New Jersey. A single specimen has also been reported from the Navesink Formation (New Egypt Formation according to our usage) at the Inversand Pit, Gloucester County, New Jersey (Kennedy et al., 2000). On the basis of its preservation, it was probably derived from the lower part of the New Egypt Formation (W.B. Gallagher, personal commun., 2003). Discoscaphites gulosus occurs in several localities on the Gulf and Atlantic Coastal Plains including the Severn Formation, Prince Georges County, Maryland (Kennedy et al., 1997); the Peedee Formation, Brunswick County, North Carolina (Landman et al., 2004); and the Prairie Bluff Chalk, Alabama (Cobban and Kennedy, 1995). In the Western Interior, D. gulosus occurs in both the Hoploscaphites nicolletii and Jeletzkytes nebrascensis Zones of the Fox Hills Formation, South Dakota (Landman and Waage, 1993). However, it is more abundant in the lower of these two zones.

Discoscaphites spp.

Figures 36I, J, R, a–k, q–v, 37m, n, 39U– X, c–f, 40E–I, Q–S, 41F

MATERIAL: Approximately two dozen specimens, the majority of which are from the upper part of the New Egypt Formation and base of the Hornerstown Formation, AMNH loc. 3345, Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey. The other locality is AMNH loc. 3346, the upper part of the New Egypt Formation, 1.5–2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation, Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey. Of the specimens described, AMNH 47340, 47371, 47391, and 51063 are from AMNH loc. 3346.

DESCRIPTION: This material is all fragmentary. Some specimens show enough morphological features to differentiate them from known species of discoscaphites but there are not enough of these specimens to justify describing a new species. The vast majority of this material is, however, simply too worn or fragmentary for species identification. We describe five of the more complete specimens.

AMNH 47371 is the adoral part of the phragmocone and adapical part of the body

chamber of a compressed microconch (fig. 39U–X). A piece of the inner whorls of the phragmocone is also preserved. The flanks are covered by straight to slightly convex prorsiradiate ribs that bend forward to link the inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles. The umbilical tubercles are arcuate with steep adapical and more gently inclined adoral sides. The midflank tubercles are represented by weak bullae, which may have developed into tubercles on the adoral part of the body chamber.

AMNH 47340 is the adapical portion of a compressed body chamber with an extremely narrow venter (fig. 36t–v). There is a strong, arcuate prorsiradiate rib on the adoral end of the specimen. The umbilical and ventrolateral tubercles are present but the midflank tubercles are absent, although part of the shell in this area is covered by matrix. The two rows of ventrolateral tubercles are very closely spaced together, approximately 2.5 mm apart. The distance between ventrolateral tubercles on either side of the venter is also very small, approximately 2.5 mm.

AMNH 47391 is a piece of the middle of the shaft of a fairly compressed body chamber with nearly flat flanks (fig. 36k). Most of the right side is still attached to a phosphatic nodule, which bears the impressions of two other scaphites. The midflank and ventrolateral rows of tubercles are present but the umbilical row is absent, probably because too little of the specimen is preserved in this area. Several fine prorsiradiate ribs appear on the adoral end of the fragment. They swing backward on the umbilical shoulder and then forward on the inner flanks and cross the midflanks and outer flanks with a broad convexity.

AMNH 51063 is still attached to an indurated cluster of specimens that contains parts of three other specimens and impressions of three more (fig. 36R). It is an internal mold of the adapical one-half of a body chamber. The whorl section is compressed with nearly flat flanks and a flat, narrow venter. Two rows of ventrolateral tubercles are present, but the midflank and umbilical rows are not well developed, perhaps due to poor preservation. The distance between rows of inner and outer ventrolateral tubercles and between outer ventrolateral tubercles on either side of the venter on the adoral end of the specimen is 2.5 mm in both instances.

AMNH 47304 is the adapical two-thirds of a body chamber (fig. 40Q-S). It is slightly distorted with adhering matrix on the dorsal side. Although crushed, the whorl section at midshaft was originally compressed with flat, nearly subparallel flanks and a very narrow venter. The specimen is distinguished by its broad prorsirdiate ribs, each of which bears an umbilicolateral tubercle or bulla. Ribs bifurcate and join the inner ventrolateral tubercles. Midflank tubercles are absent. The inner and outer rows of ventrolateral tubercles are very closely spaced together (2.5 mm apart at midshaft), so that adjacent tubercles occupy the same base. The distance between outer ventrolateral tubercles on either side of the venter is also small, approximately 4 mm. Tubercles are offset on either side of the venter on the adapical part of the specimen and paired on the adoral part.

OCCURRENCE: Upper part of the New Egypt Formation 1.5–2 m below the base of the Hornerstown Formation at AMNH loc. 3346 and in the uppermost 20 cm of the New Egypt Formation and base of the Hornerstown Formation at AMNH loc. 3345, Parkers Creek, near Eatontown, northeastern Monmouth County, New Jersey.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank many people who contributed to this project: Peter J. Harries (University of South Florida) reviewed an earlier draft of the manuscript and provided ideas about transgressive lag deposits; William B. Gallagher (New Jersey State Museum) gave us a tour of the Inversand Pit, freely shared his ideas, and reviewed an earlier draft of the manuscript; William A. Cobban (USGS, Denver) lent specimens from the Owl Creek Formation and reviewed an earlier draft of the manuscript; J. Kirk Cochran (SUNY, Stony Brook) arranged for carbon analyses of the sediment samples; Jean Self-Trail (USGS, Reston) provided information about subsurface cores on the Atlantic Coastal Plain and examined our samples for nannofossils; Richard K. Olsson (Rutgers University) read through an early version of the manuscript and provided many helpful suggestions; Steve Goodbread (SUNY, Stony Brook) and his students Alex Kolker, Penny Youngs, and Michelle Arlotta took a core and helped us sample in the field; Dan Davis (SUNY, Stony Brook) did subsurface profiling; Gene Gaffney (AMNH) discussed New Jersey stratigraphy and lent us important maps; John Van Couvering (Micropaleontology Press) provided references for key biostratigraphic papers; Tom Yancey (Texas A & M University) arranged for us to borrow specimens from the Brazos River section, Texas, for comparison; Josephine Aller (SUNY, Stony Brook) examined the sediment peels and discussed the formation of burrows; Harry Mendryk (New York, New York) helped in the field work, generously contributed specimens, and freely shared his ideas; Susan Klofak (AMNH) helped in the field, took photos, prepared specimens, and drew sutures; Kathy Sarg (AMNH) helped in the field, did the sedimentological analysis, and helped prepare the figures; Steve Thurston (AMNH) photographed the specimens and helped prepare the figures; Matt Garb (Brooklyn College) helped in the field and took photos; Yumiko Iwasaki (AMNH) helped in the field; Colleen McCartan (USGS, Reston) prepared the dinoflagellate samples; Paul Callomon (Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia) kindly arranged loans of fossil types; Bill Beck (Bridgeton, New Jersey) helped collect specimens; Carl Mehling and Fiona Brady (AMNH) helped in the field; Jim Brown (Flemington, New Jersey) helped with photos and samples; John Hazel, Director of Public Safety, Fort Monmouth Military Base, helped us to access land adjacent to the base; the Shrewsbury Police Department facilitated access to localities; and Stephanie Crooms (AMNH) word processed the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Agassiz, L. 1847. An introduction to the study of natural history, in a series of lectures delivered in the hall of the College of Physicians and Surgeons. New York. 58 pp.
- Alberti, G. 1959. Zur Kenntnis der Gattung Deflandrea Eisenack (Dinoflag.). In der Kreide und im Alttertiär Nord- und-Mitteldeutschland. Mitteilungen des Geologischen Staatsinstitut Hamburg 28: 93–105.

- Aller, J.Y., and R.C. Aller. 1986. Evidence for localized enhancement of biological activity associated with tube and burrow structures in deep-sea sediments at the HEBBLE site, western North Atlantic. Deep-Sea Research 33: 755–790.
- Becker, M.A., W. Slattery, and J.A. Chamberlain, Jr. 1996. Reworked Campanian and Maastrichtian macrofossils in a sequence bounding, transgressive lag deposit, Monmouth County, New Jersey. Northeastern Geology and Environmental Sciences 18(3): 243–252.
- Becker, M.A., W. Slattery, and J.A. Chamberlain, Jr. 1998. Mixing of Santonian and Campanian chondrichthyan and ammonite macrofossils along a transgressive lag deposit, Greene County, western Alabama. Southeastern Geology 37(4): 205–216.
- Bensen, D.G. 1976. Dinoflagellate taxonomy and biostratigraphy at the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary, Round Bay, Maryland. Tulane Studies in Geology and Paleontology 12(4): 169– 233.
- Berggren, W.A., D.V. Kent, C.C. Swisher, III, and M.-P. Aubry. 1995. A revised Cenozoic geochronology and chronostratigraphy. *In* W.A. Berggren and J. Hardenbol (editors), Geochronology, time scales and global stratigraphic correlation. SEPM Special Publication 54: 130– 212. Tulsa, OK: Society for Sedimentary Geology.
- Blainville, H.-M.D. de. 1825. Manuel de malacologie et de conchyliologie.... Paris: F.G. Levrault, 1825–1927.
- Bohor, B.F., D.M. Triplehorn, D.J. Nichols, and H.T. Millard, Jr. 1987. Dinosaurs, spherules, and the "magic" layer: a new K-T boundary clay site in Wyoming. Geology 15: 896–899.
- Bralower, T.J., C.K. Paull, and R.M. Leckie. 1998. The Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary cocktail: Chicxulub impact triggers margin collapse and extensive sediment gravity flows. Geology 26: B331–334.
- Brinkhuis, H., J.P. Bujak, J. Smit, G.J.M. Versteegh, and H. Visscher. 1998. Dinoflagellatebased sea surface temperature reconstructions across the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 141: 67–83.
- Brinkhuis, H., S. Sengers, A. Sluijs, J. Warnaar, and G.L. Williams. 2003. Latest Cretaceousearliest Oligocene and Quaternary dinoflagellate cysts, ODP Site 1172, East Tasman Plateau, *In* N.F. Exon, J.P. Kennett, and M.J. Malone (editors), Proceedings of the Ocean Drilling Program, Scientific Results, 189 (Online) www-odp.tamu.edu/publications/189_SR/106/ 106.htm

Brown, R.W. 1943. Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary in the Denver Basin, Colorado. Bulletin of the Geological Society of America 54: 65–86.

2004

- Brunnschweiler, R.O. 1966. Upper Cretaceous ammonites from the Carnarvon Basin of Western Australia. 1. The heteromorph Lytoceratina. Bureau of Mineral Resources Geology and Geophysics Bulletin 58: 1–58.
- Bujak, J.P., and E.H. Davies. 1983. Modern and fossil Peridiniineae. American Association of Stratigraphic Palynologists Contribution Series 13: 1–203.
- Bybell, L.M., K.J. Conlon, L.E. Edwards, N.O. Frederiksen, G.S. Gohn, and J.M. Self-Trail. 1998. Biostratigraphy and physical stratigraphy of the USGS-Cannon Park Core (CHN-800), Charleston County, South Carolina. United States Geological Survey Open-File Report 98-246.
- Campbell, C., and T. Lee. 2000. A fresh look at the K-T boundary in the bootheel of southeast Missouri. Geological Society of America Abstracts with Programs 32(7): A-226.
- Claeys, P., W. Kiessling, and W. Alvarez. 2002. Distribution of Chicxulub ejection at the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary. *In* C. Koeberl and K.G. MacLeod (editors), Castastrophic events and mass extinctions: impacts and beyond. Geological Society of America Special Paper 356: 55–68.
- Cobban, W.A. 1974. Ammonites from the Navesink Formation at Atlantic Highlands, New Jersey. United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 845: 1–21.
- Cobban, W.A., and W.J. Kennedy. 1995. Maastrichtian ammonites chiefly from the Prairie Bluff Chalk in Alabama and Mississippi. Paleontological Society Memoir 44: 1–40.
- Cochran, J.K., N.H. Landman, K.K. Turekian, A. Michard, and D.P. Schrag. 2003. Paleoceanography of the Late Cretaceous (Maastrichtian) Western Interior Seaway of North America: evidence from Sr and O isotopes. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaoecology 191: 45– 64.
- Collignon, M. 1952. Ammonites néocrétacées du Menabe (Madagascar). II-Les Pachydiscidae. Travaux du Bureau Géologique de Madagascar 41: 1–114.
- Collignon, M. 1971. Atlas des fossils caractéristiques de Madagascar (Ammonites). XVII. (Maestrichtien). Tananarive: Service Géologique.
- Conrad, T.A. 1853. Article XXVI—Descriptions of new fossil shells of the United States. Journal of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia, 2nd ser., 2: 273–276.
- Conrad, T.A. 1857. Descriptions of Cretaceous

and Tertiary fossils. *In* W.H. Emory (editor), Report on the United States and Mexican boundary survey. United States 34th Congress, 1st Session, Senate Ex Document 108 and House Ex Document 1351(2): 141–174.

- Conrad, T.A. 1858. Observations on a group of Cretaceous fossil shells found in Tippah County, Mississippi, with descriptions of fifty-six new species. Journal of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia, 2nd ser., 3: 323–336.
- Conrad, T.A. 1870. Notes on recent and fossil shells, with descriptions of new species. American Journal of Conchology 6: 71–78.
- Conrad, T.A. 1875. Descriptions of new genera and species of fossil shells of North America, in the State cabinet at Raleigh. *In* W.C. Kerr, Report of the geological survey of North Carolina, Vol. 1, Vol. 1, App. A:1–28..
- Cookson, I.C. 1965. Microplankton from the Paleocene Pebble Point Formation, south-western Victoria. Proceedings of the Royal Society of Victoria 78: 137–141.
- Cookson, I.C., and A. Eisenack. 1960. Microplankton from Australian Cretaceous sediments. Micropaleontology 6(1): 1–18.
- Cookson, I.C., and A. Eisenack. 1962. Additional microplankton from Australian Cretaceous sediments. Micropaleontology 8(4): 485–507.
- Corradini, D. 1973. Non-calcareous microplankton from the Upper Cretaceous of the northern Apennines. Bollettino della Società Paleontologica Italiana 11: 119–197.
- Crick, G.C. 1924. On Upper Cretaceous Cephalopoda from Portuguese East Africe. *In* E.O. Teale, The geology of East Africa between the Zambesi and Sabie Rivers. Transactions of the Geological Society of South Africa 26: 130– 140.
- Dane, C.H. 1929. Upper Cretaceous formations of southwestern Arkansas. Arkansas Geological Survey Bulletin 1: 1–215.
- Davey, R.J., C. Downie, W.A.S. Sarjeant, and G.L. Williams. 1969. Generic realocation. *In* R.J. Davey, C. Downie, W.A.S. Sarjeant, and G.L. Williams, Appendix to "Studies on Mesozoic and Cainozoic dinoflagellate cysts." Bulletin of the British Museum (Natural History). Geology. Appendix to Suppl. 3: 15–17.
- Davey, R.J., and G.L. Williams. 1966. V. The genus *Hystrichosphaeridium* and its allies. *In* R.J. Davey, C. Downie, W.A.S. Sarjaent, and G.L. Williams, Studies on Mesozoic and Cainozoic dinoflagellate cysts. Bulletin of the British Museum (Natural History). Geology. Suppl. 3: 53– 106.
- Deflandre, G. 1937. Microfossiles des silex crétacés. Deuxième partie. Flagellés incertae sedis.

NO. 287

Hystrichosphaeridés. Sarcodinés. Organismes divers. Annales de Paléontologie 26: 51–103.

- Deflandre, G., and I.C. Cookson. 1955. Fossil microplankton from Australian Late Mesozoic and Tertiary sediments. Australian Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research 6(2): 242– 313.
- Drugg, W.S. 1967. Palynology of the upper Moreno Formation (Late Cretaceous-Paleocene) Escarpado Canyon, California. Palaeontographica Abteilung B 120: 1–71.
- Drugg, W.S. 1970. Some new genera, species, and combinations of phytoplankton from the Lower Tertiary of the Gulf Coast, U.S.A. Proceedings of the North American Paleontological Convention, Chicago, Sept. 1969, pt. G: 809–843.
- Edwards, L.E., G.S. Gohn, J.M. Self-Trail, D.C. Prowell, L.M. Bybell, L.P., Bardot, J.V. Firth, B.T. Huber, N.O. Frederiksen, and K.G. MacLeod. 1999. Physical stratigraphy, paleontology, and magnetostratigraphy of the USGS-Santee Coastal Reserve core (CHN-803), Charleston County, South Carolina. United States Geological Survey Open-File Report: 99–0308-A: 1–36.
- Edwards, L.E., D.K. Goodman, and R.J. Witmer. 1984. Lower Tertiary (Pamunkey Group) dinoflagellate biostratigraphy, Potomac River area, Virginia and Maryland. *In* N.O. Frederiksen and K. Krafft (editors), Cretaceous and Tertiary stratigraphy, paleontology, and structure, southwestern Maryland, and northeastern Virginia. American Association of Stratigraphic Palynologists Field Trip Volume and Guidebook October 17, 1984: 137–152.
- Edwards, L.E., and D.S. Powars. 2003. Impact damage to dinocysts from the Late Eocene Chesapeake Bay event. Palaios 18: 275–285.
- Ehrenberg, C.G. 1838. Über das Massenverhältniss der jetzt lebenden Kiesel-Infusorien und über neues Infusorien-Conglomerat als Polierschiefer von Jastraba in Ungarn. Königlich Akademie der Wissenshaften zu Berlin, Abhandlungen 1836 1: 109–135.
- Eisenack, A. 1954. Mikrofossilien aus Phosphoriten des samländischen Unteroligozäns und über Einheitlichkeit der Hystrichosphaerideen. Palaeontographica Abteilung A 105: 49–95.
- Eisenack, A. 1965. Über einige Mikrofossilien des samländischen undnorddeutschen Tertiärs. Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Abhandlungen 123(2): 149–159.
- Eisenack, A., and H. Gocht. 1960. Neue Namen für einige Hystrichosphären der Bernsteinformation Ostpreussens. Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Monatschefte 11: 511– 518.
- Erickson, J.M. 1992. Subsurface stratigraphy, lith-

ofacies, and paleoenvironments of the Fox Hills Formation (Maastrichtian: Late Cretaceous) adjacent to the type area, North Dakota and South Dakota: Toward a more holistic view. *In* J.M. Erickson and J.W. Hoganson (editors), Proceedings of the F.D. Holland, Jr. Geological Symposium. North Dakota Geological Survey Miscellaneous Series 76: 199–241.

- Erickson, J.M. 1999. The Dakota Isthmus: closing the Late Cretaceous Western Interior Seaway. Proceedings of the North Dakota Academy of Science 53: 124–129.
- Firth, J.V. 1987. Dinoflagellate biostratigraphy of the Maastrichtian to Danian interval in the U.S. Geological Survey Albany Core, Georgia, U.S.A. Palynology 11: 199–216.
- Firth, J.V. 1993. Dinoflagellate assemblages and sea-level fluctuations in the Maastrichtian of southwest Georgia. Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology 79: 179–404.
- Fox, Jr., S.K., and R.K. Olsson. 1955. Stratigraphy of late Cretaceous and early Tertiary formations in New Jersey (abstract). Journal of Paleontology 29(4): 736; Journal of Sedimentary Petrology 25(2): 142.
- Gabb, W.M. 1860. Article XIV-Descriptions of new species of American Tertiary and Cretaceous fossils. Journal of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia, 2nd ser., Pt. IV, 4: 375–406.
- Gabb, W.M. 1861. Description of new species of Cretaceous fossils from New Jersey, Alabama and Mississippi. Proceedings of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia 13: 318– 330.
- Gaffney, E.S. 1975. A revision of the side-necked Turtle *Taphrosphys sulcatus* (Leidy) from the Cretaceous of New Jersey. American Museum Novitates 2571: 1–24.
- Gale, A., J. Hardenbol, and J. Huggett. 1999. Eustatic events in the latest Maastrichtian and earliest Danian: a reinterpretation of the K/T boundary on the Brazos River (Texas). The Maastrichtian: a celebratory conference Maastricht, November 17–21, 1999. The 150th anniversary of the introduction of the Maastrichtian Stage, Abstract.
- Gallagher, W.B. 1986. Depositional environments, paleooceanography, and paleoecology of the Upper Cretaceous-Lower Tertiary sequence in the New Jersey Coastal Plain. *In* R. Talkington (editor), Geological investigations of the Coastal Plain of southern New Jersey. Part 2. B. Paleontologic investigations. 2nd Annual Meeting of the Geological Association of New Jersey, Stockton State College, Pomona, New Jersey: 1–17.
- Gallagher, W.B. 1992. Geochemical investigations

of the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary in the Inversand Pit, Gloucester County, New Jersey. Bulletin of the New Jersey Academy of Science 37: 19–24.

- Gallagher, W.B. 1993. The Cretaceous/Tertiary mass extinction event in the northern Atlantic Coastal Plain. Mosasaur 5: 75–155.
- Gallagher, W.B. 1995. Paleontology and stratigraphy of the Inversand Pit, Gloucester County, N.J. *In* E.B. Baker (editor), Contributions to the paleontology of New Jersey; the Geological Association of New Jersey Vol. 12: 323–335.
- Gallagher, W.B. 2002. Faunal change across the Cretaceous-Tertiary (K-T) boundary in the Atlantic coastal plain of New Jersey: restructuring the marine community after the K-T mass-extinction event. *In* C. Koeberl and K.G. Mac-Leod (editors), Castastrophic events and mass extinctions: impacts and beyond. Geological Society of America Special Paper 356: 291– 301.
- Gallagher, W.B., and D.C. Parris. 1985. Biostratigraphic succession across the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary at the Inversand Company Pit, Sewell, N.J. *In* R. Talkington (editor), Geological investigations of the Coastal Plain of southern New Jersey. Part 1:Field Guide: C1–C14. 2nd Annual Meeting of the Geological Association of New Jersey, Stockton State College, Pomona.
- Gallagher, W.B., and D.C. Parris. 1996. Age determinations for Late Cretaceous dinosaur sites in the New Jersey Coastal Plain. *In J.E. Repet*ski (editor), Sixth North American Paleontological Convention Abstracts of Papers. Paleontological Society Special Publication 8: 133.
- Gallagher, W.B., D.C. Parris, and E.E. Spamer. 1986. Paleontology, biostratigraphy, and depositional environments of the Cretaceous-Tertiary transition in the New Jersey Coastal Plain. Mosasaur 3: 1–35.
- Ganapathy, R., S. Gartner, and M.-J. Jiang. 1981. Iridium anomaly at the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary in Texas. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 54: 393–396.
- Gardner, J. 1916. Upper Cretaceous systematic paleontology: Mollusca. *In* W.B. Clark et al., Upper Cretaceous. Maryland Geological Survey Systematic Report 6(1–2): 371–733.
- Gill, T. 1871. Arrangement of the families of mollusks. Smithsonian Miscellaneous Collections 227: 1–49.
- Gocht, H. 1970. Dinoflagellaten-Zysten aus einem Geschiebefeuerstein und ihr Erhaltungszustand. Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Monatshefte 3: 129–140.
- Grigorovich, A.S. 1969. Novyi rod *Carpatella* (Dinoflagellyata) iz datpaleotsenovykh otlozh-

enni Karpat. Paleontologicheskii Sbornik 6 pt. 2: 74–76.

- Grossouvre, A. de. 1894. Recherches sur la craie supérieure 2: Paléontologie. Les ammonites de la Craie supérieure. Mémoires pour Servir à l'Explication de la Carte Géologique Détaillée de la France: 1–264. [misdated 1893]
- Habib, D., and W.S. Drugg. 1987. Palynology of sites 603 and 605, Leg 93, Deep Sea Drilling Project. *In* J.E. van Hinte et al., Initial reports, Deep Sea Drilling Project 92(2): 751–775. Washington, DC: U.S. Government Printing office.
- Habib, D., R.K. Olsson, C. Liu, and S. Moshkovitz. 1996. High-resolution biostratigraphy of sea-level low, biotic extinction, and chaotic sedimentation at the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary in Alabama, north of the Chicxulub crater. Geological Society of America Special Paper 307: 243–252.
- Hansen, J.M. 1977. Dinoflagellate stratigraphy and echinoid distribution in Upper Maastrichtian and Danian deposits from Denmark. Bulletin of the Geological Society of Denmark 26: 1–26.
- Hansen, J.M. 1979. A new dinoflagellate zone at the Maastrichtian/Danian boundary in Denmark. Danmarks Geologiske Undersøgelse, Årbog 1978: 131–140.
- Hansen, T., R.B. Farrand, H.A. Montgomery, H.B. Billman, and G. Blechschmidt. 1987. Sedimentology and extinction patterns across the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary interval in east Texas. Cretaceous Research 8: 229–252.
- Hargrove, D.C., and D.W. Engelhardt. 1997. Palynology of the Maastrichtian/Danian boundary at Savannah River Site, South Carolina. Sedimentary Geology 108: 121–140.
- Harland, R. 1973. Dinoflagellate cysts and acritarchs from the Bearpaw Formation (Upper Campanian) of southern Alberta, Canada. Palaeontology 16: 665–706.
- Harries, P., K. Johnson, W.A. Cobban, and D.J. Nichols. 2002. Marine Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary section in southwestern South Dakota: comment and reply. Geology 30(10): 954–955.
- Harris, W.B., P.A. Thayer, and H.A. Curran. 1986. The Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary on the Cape Fear Arch, North Carolina, U.S.A. Cretaceous Research 7: 1–17.
- Hartman, J.H., and J.I. Kirkland. 2002. Brackish and marine mollusks of the Hell Creek Formation of North Dakota: evidence for a persisting Cretaceous seaway. *In* J.H. Hartman, K.R. Johnson, and D.J. Nichols (editors), The Hell Creek Formation and the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary in the northern Great Plains: an

integrated continental record of the end of the Cretaceous. Geological Society of America Special Paper 361: 271–296.

- Helenes, J. 1984. Morphological analysis of Mesozoic-Cenozoic Cribroperidinium (Dinophyceae), and taxonomic implications. Palynology 8: 107–137.
- Henderson, R.A., W.J. Kennedy, and K.J. Mc-Namara. 1992. Maastrichtian heteromorph ammonites from the Carnarvon Basin, Western Australia. Alcheringa 16: 133–170.
- Hess, J., M.L. Bender, and J.-G Schilling. 1986. Evolution of the ratio of strontium-86 in seawater from Cretaceous to present. Science 231: 979–984.
- Hoganson, J.W., and E.C. Murphy. 2002. Marine Breien Member (Maastrichtian) of the Hell Creek Formation in North Dakota: stratigraphy, vertebrate fossil record, and age. *In* J.H. Hartman, K.R. Johnson, and D.J. Nichols (editors), The Hell Creek Formation and the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary in the northern Great Plains: an integrated continental record of the end of the Cretaceous. Geological Society of America Special Paper 361: 247–270.
- Hultberg, S.U. 1986. Danian dinoflagellate zonation, the C-T boundary and the stratigraphical position of the fish clay in southern Scandinavia. Journal of Micropalaeontology 5: 37–47.
- Hultberg, S.U., and B.A. Malmgren. 1985. Dinoflagellate and planktonic foraminiferal paleobathymetrical indices in the boreal uppermost Cretaceous. Micropaleontology 32: 316–323.
- Hwang, I.-G., and P.L. Heller. 2002. Anatomy of a transgressive lag: Panther Tongue Sandstone, Star Point Formation, central Utah. Sedimentology 49: 977–999.
- Hyatt, A. 1889. Genesis of the Arietidae. Smithsonian Contributions to Knowledge 26(637): 1– 239.
- Hyatt, A. 1894. Phylogeny of an acquired characteristic. Proceedings of the American Philosophical Society 32: 349–647.
- Hyatt, A. 1900. Cephalopoda. *In* K.A. von Zittel (editor), Textbook of palaeontology, translated by C.R. Eastman pp. 502–604. London: Macmillan, 1896–1900.
- Izett, G.A. 1990. The Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary interval, Raton Basin, Colorado and New Mexico, and its content of shock-metamorphosed minerals; evidence relevant to the K/T boundary impact-extinction theory. Geological Society of America Special Paper 249: 1–100.
- Jansonius, J. 1986. Re-examination of Mesozoic Canadian dinoflagellate cysts published by S.A.J. Pocock (1962, 1972). Palynology 10: 201–223.
- Jeletzky, J.A., and W.A. Clemens. 1965. Com-

ments on Cretaceous *Eutheria*, Lance *Scaphites* and *Inoceramus*? Ex gr. *Tegulatus*. Journal of Paleontology 39: 952–959.

- Jeletzky, J.A., and K.M. Waage. 1978. Revision of *Ammonites conradi* Morton 1834, and the concept of *Discoscaphites* Meek 1870. Journal of Paleontology 52(5): 1119–1132.
- Johnson, K.R., D.J. Nichols, and J.H. Hartman. 2002. Hell Creek Formation: A 2001 synthesis. *In* J.H. Hartman, K.R. Johnson, and D.J. Nichols (editors), The Hell Creek Formation and the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary in the northern Great Plains: an integrated continental record of the end of the Cretaceous. Geological Society of America Special Paper 361: 503–510.
- Kellum, L.B. 1962. Upper Cretaceous Mollusca from Niobrara County, Wyoming. Papers of the Michigan Academy of Science, Arts and Letters 47: 37–81.
- Kennedy, W.J. 1987. The ammonite fauna of the type Maastrichtian with a revision of *Ammonites colligatus* Binkhorst, 1861. Bulletin de l'Institute Royal des Sciences Naturelles de Belgique 56: 151–267 (1986 imprint).
- Kennedy, W.J., and W.A. Cobban. 1993. Maastrichtian ammonites from the Corsicana Formation in northeast Texas. Geological Magazine 130(1): 57–67.
- Kennedy, W.J., and W.A. Cobban. 1996. Maastrichtian ammonites from the Hornerstown Formation in New Jersey. Journal of Paleontology 70(5): 798–804.
- Kennedy, W.J., and W.A. Cobban. 2000. Maastrichtian (Late Cretaceous) ammonites from the Owl Creek Formation in northeastern Mississippi, U.S.A. Acta Geologica Polonica 50(1): 175–190.
- Kennedy, W.J., W.A. Cobban, and N.H. Landman. 1997. Maastrichtian ammonites from the Severn Formation of Maryland. American Museum Novitates 3210: 1–30.
- Kennedy, W.J., A.S. Gale, and T.A. Hansen. 2001. The last Maastrichtian ammonites from the Brazos River sections in Falls County, Texas. Cretaceous Research 22: 163–171.
- Kennedy, W.J., R.O. Johnson, and W.A. Cobban. 1995. Upper Cretaceous ammonite faunas of New Jersey. *In* J.E.B. Baker (editor), Contributions to the Paleontology of New Jersey 12: 24–55.
- Kennedy, W.J., N.H. Landman, W.K. Christensen, W.A. Cobban, and J.M. Hancock. 1998. Marine connections in North America during the late Maastrichtian: palaeogeographic and palaeobiogeographic significance of *Jeletzkytes nebrascensis* Zone cephalopod fauna from the Elk Butte Member of the Pierre Shale, SE South

Dakota and NE Nebraska. Cretaceous Research 19: 745–775.

- Kennedy, W.J., N.H. Landman, and W.A. Cobban. 1996. The Maastrichtian ammonites *Coahuilites sheltoni* Böse, 1928 and *Sphenodiscus pleurisepta* (Conrad, 1857), from the uppermost Pierre Shale and basal Fox Hills Formation of Colorado and Wyoming. American Museum Novitates 3186: 1–14.
- Kennedy, W.J., N.H. Landman, W.A. Cobban, and R.O. Johnson. 2000. Additions to the ammonite fauna of the Upper Cretaceous Navesink Formation of New Jersey. American Museum Novitates 3306: 1–30.
- Kiessling, W., and P. Claeys. 2002. A geographic database approach to the KT boundary. *In* E. Buffetaut and C. Koeberl (editors), Geological and biological effects of impact events: 83– 140. New York: Springer.
- Klinger, H.C. 1976. Cretaceous heteromorph ammonites from Zululand. Memoirs of the Geological Survey of South Africa 69: 1–142.
- Klinger, H.C., E.G. Kauffman, and W.J. Kennedy. 1980. Upper Cretaceous ammonites and inoceramids from the off shore Alphard Group of South Africa. Annals of the South African Museum 82: 293–320.
- Klinger, H.C., and W.J. Kennedy. 1993. Cretaceous faunas from Zululand and Natal, South Africa. The heteromorph ammonite genus *Eubaculites* Spath, 1926. Annals of the South African Museum 102: 185–264.
- Klinger, H.C., and W.J. Kennedy. 2001. Stratigraphic and geographic distribution, phylogenetic trends and general comments on the ammonite family Baculitidae Gill, 1871 (with an annotated list of species referred to the family). Annals of the South African Museum 107: 1– 290.
- Klinger, H.C., W.J. Kennedy, J.A. Lees, and S. Kitto. 2001. Upper Maastrichtian ammonites and nannofossils and a Palaeocene nautiloid from Richards Bay, Kwa Zulu, South Africa. Acta Geologica Polonica 51(3): 273–291.
- Koch, R.C., and R.K. Olsson. 1977. Dinoflagellate and planktonic foraminiferal biostratigraphy of the uppermost Cretaceous of New Jersey. Journal of Paleontology 51(3): 480–491.
- Kullmann, J., and J. Wiedmann. 1970. Significance of sutures in phylogeny of Ammonoidea. University of Kansas, Paleontological Contributions 44: 1–32.
- Landman, N.H., and W.A. Cobban. 2003. Ammonites from the upper part of the Pierre Shale and Fox Hills Formation of Colorado. American Museum Novitates 3388: 1–45.
- Landman, N.H., R.O. Johnson, and L.E. Edwards. 2004. Cephalopods from the Cretaceous/Tertia-

ry boundary interval on the Atlantic Coastal Plain, with a description of the highest ammonite zones in North America. Part 1. Maryland and North Carolina. American Museum Novitates: 1–64.

- Landman, N.H., R.O. Johnson, M. Garb, and L.E. Edwards. In prep. a. Cephalopods from the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary interval on the Atlantic Coastal Plain, with a description of the highest ammonite zones in North America. Part 3. Manasquan River Basin, Monmouth County, New Jersey.
- Landman, N.H., R.O. Johnson, M. Garb, and L.E. Edwards. In prep. b. Cephalopods from the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary in New Jersey and Maryland, with a description of the highest ammonite zones in North America. Part 4. Crosswicks Creek Basin, Monmouth County, New Jersey.
- Landman, N.H., and K.M. Waage. 1993. Scaphitid ammonites of the Upper Cretacous (Maastrichtian) Fox Hills Formation in South Dakota and Wyoming. Bulletin of the American Museum of Natural History 215: 1–257.
- Lange, D. 1969. Mikroplankton aus dem Fischton von Stevns-Klint auf Seeland. Beiträge zur Meereskunde 24–25: 110–121.
- Larson, N.L., S.D. Jorgensen, R.A. Farrar, and P.L. Larson. 1997. Ammonites and the other cephalopods of the Pierre Seaway. Tucson, AZ: Geoscience Press.
- Lehman, T.M. 1987. Late Maastrichtian paleoenvironments and dinosaur biogeography in the western interior of North America. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Paleoecology 60: 189–217.
- Lejeune-Carpentier, M. 1938. L'étude microscopique des silex. *Areoligera*: nouveau genre d'Hystrichosphaeridée (Sixième Note). Annales de la Société Géologique de Belgique 62: B163–B174.
- Lejeune-Carpentier, M. 1942. L'étude microscopique des silex. Péridiniens nouveaux ou peu connnus (Dixième note). Annales de la Société Géologique de Belgique 65: B181–B192.
- Lentin, J.K., and T.F. Vozzhennikova. 1990. Fossil dinoflagellates from the Jurassic, Cretaceous and Paleogene deposits of the USSR—a restudy. American Association of Stratigraphic Palynologists Contribution Series 23: 1–221.
- Lentin, J.K., and G.L. Williams. 1973. Fossil dinoflagellates; index to genera and species. Geological Survey of Canada Paper 73-42: 1–176.
- Lentin, J.K., and G.L. Williams. 1976. A monograph of fossil peridinoid dinoflagellate cysts. Bedford Institute of Oceanography Report Series BI-R-75-16: 1–237.
- Lentin, J.K., and G.L. Williams. 1977. Fossil di-

noflagellate genus *Isabelidinium* nom. nov. Palynology 1: 167–168.

- Lentin, J.K., and G.L. Williams. 1981. Fossil dinoflagellates: index to genera and species, 1981 ed. Bedford Institute of Oceanography Report Series BI-R-81-12: 1–345.
- Lund, S.P., J.H. Hartman, and S.K. Banerjee. 2002. Magnetostratigraphy of interfingering upper Cretaceous-Paleocene marine and continental strata of the Williston Basin, North Dakota and Montana. *In* J.H. Hartman, K.R. Johnson, and D.J. Nichols (editors), The Hell Creek Formation and the Cretaceous-Tertiary Boundary in the northern Great Plains: an integrated continental record of the end of the Cretaceous. Geological Society of America Special Paper 361: 57–74.
- MacLeod, K.G., B.T. Huber, and P.D. Fullagar. 2001. Evidence for a small (~0.000030) but resolvable increase in seawater ⁸⁷Sr/⁸⁶Sr ratios across the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary. Geology 29: 303–306.
- Martin, E.E., and J.D. Macdougall. 1991. Seawater Sr isotopes at the Cretaceous/Tertiary boundary. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 104: 166–180.
- May, F.E. 1977. Functional morphology, paleoecology, and systematics of *Dinogymnium* tests. Palynology 1: 103–121.
- May, F.E. 1980. Dinoflagellate cysts of the Gymnodiniaceae, Peridiniaceae, and Gonyaulacacaeae from the Upper Monmouth Group, Atlantic Highlands, New Jersey. Palaeontographica Abteilung B 172: 10–116.
- McArthur, J.M., M.F. Thirlwall, M. Engkilde, W.J. Zinsmeister, and R.J. Howarth. 1998. Strontium isotope profiles across K/T boundary sequences in Denmark and Antarctica. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 160: 179–192.
- Meek, F.B. 1871. Preliminary paleontological report, consisting of lists of fossils, with descriptions of some new types, etc. Preliminary Report of the United States Geological Survey of Wyoming (Hayden) 4: 287–318.
- Meek, F.B. 1876. A report on the invertebrate Cretaceous and Tertiary fossils of the upper Missouri country. United States Geological Survey of the Territories (Hayden) Report 9: 1–629.
- Miller, A.K. 1947. Tertiary Nautiloids of the Americas. The Geological Society of America Memoir 23. Baltimore: Waverly Press.
- Miller, A.K. 1951. Tertiary nautiloids of westcoastal Africa. Annales du Musée Royal du Congo Belge Série.8, Sciences de Géologiques 8: 1–88.
- Miller, A.K., and H.F. Garner. 1962. Cretaceous nautiloids of New Jersey. *In* H.G. Richards *et al.*, The Cretaceous fossils of New Jersey. New

Jersey Department of Conservation and Economic Development Bulletin 61. Part 2: 101–111.

- Miller, K.G., P.J. Sugarman, J.V. Browning, M.A. Kominz, R.K. Olsson, M.D. Feigenson, and J.C. Hernández. 2004. Upper Cretaceous sequences and sea-level history, New Jersey Coastal Plain. Geological Society of American Bulletin 116(3/4): 368–393.
- Minard, J.P. 1969. Geology of the Sandy Hook quadrangle in Monmouth County, New Jersey. United States Geology Survey Bulletin 1276: 1–43.
- Minard, J.P. 1980. Geology of the Round Bay quadrangle, Anne Arundel County, Maryland. United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 1109: 1–30.
- Minard, J.P., P. Owens, N.F. Sohl, H.E. Gill, and J.F. Mello. 1969. Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary in New Jersey, Delaware, and eastern Maryland. United States Geology Survey Bulletin 1274-H: 1–33.
- Morgenroth, P. 1966. Mikrofossilien und Konkretionen des nordwesteuropäischen Untereozäns. Palaeontographica Abteilung B 119: 1–53.
- Morgenroth, P. 1968. Zur Kenntnis der Dinoflagellaten und Hystrichosphaeridien des Danien. Geologisches Jarhbuch Hannover 86: 533–578.
- Morton, S.G. 1830. Synopsis of the organic remains of the Ferruginous Sand Formation of the United States, with geographical remarks. American Journal of Science and Arts 17: 274– 295.
- Morton, S.G. 1833. Article X-Supplement to the "Synopsis of the organic remains of the Ferruginous Sand Formation of the United States," contained in Vols. XVII and XVIII of this journal. American Journal of Science and Arts 23: 288–294.
- Morton, S.G. 1834. Synopsis of the organic remains of the Cretaceous group of the United States. Illustrated by nineteen plates, to which is added an appendix containing a tabular view of the Tertiary fossils hitherto discovered in North America. Philadephia: Key and Biddle.
- Moshkovitz, S., and D. Habib. 1993. Calcareous nannofossil and dinoflagellate stratigraphy of the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary, Alabama and Georgia. Micropaleontology 39: 167–191.
- Murphy, E.C., J.W. Hoganson, and K.R. Johnson. 2002. Lithostratigraphy of the Hell Creek Formation in North Dakota. *In* J.H. Hartman, K.R. Johnson, and D.J. Nichols (editors), The Hell Creek Formation and the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary in the northern Great Plains: an integrated continental record of the end of the Cretaceous. Geological Society of America Special Paper 361: 9–34.

- Nichols, D.J., J.L. Brown, M. Attrep, Jr., and C.J. Orth. 1992. A new Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary locality in the western Powder River basin, Wyoming: biological and geological implications. Cretaceous Research 13: 3–30.
- Nichols, D.J., and R.F. Fleming. 2002. Palynology and palynostratigraphy of Maastrichtian, Paleocene, and Eocene strata in the Denver Basin, Colorado. Rocky Mountain Geology 37(2): 135–163.
- Nichols, D.J., and K.R. Johnson. 2002. Palynology and microstratigraphy of Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary sections in southwestern North Dakota. *In* J.H. Hartman, K.R. Johnson, and D.J. Nichols (editors), The Hell Creek Formation and the Cretaceous-Tertiary Boundary in the northern Great Plains: an integrated continental record of the end of the Cretaceous. Geological Society of America Special Paper 361: 57–74.
- Norris, R.D., and J.V. Firth. 2002. Mass wasting of Atlantic Continental margins following the Chicxulub impact event. *In* C. Koeberl and K.G. MacLeod (editors), Castastrophic events and mass extinctions: impacts and beyond. Geological Society of America Special Paper 356: 79–95.
- Norris, R.D., J. Firth, J.S. Blusztain, and G. Ravizza. 2000. Mass failure of the North Atlantic margin triggered by the Cretaceous-Paleogene bolide impact. Geology 28: 1119–1122.
- Olsson, R.K. 1960. Foraminifera of latest Cretaceous and earliest Tertiary age in the New Jersey Coastal Plain. Journal of Paleontology 34: 1–58.
- Olsson, R.K. 1963. Latest Cretaceous and earliest Tertiary stratigraphy of New Jersey Coastal Plain. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin 47(4): 643–665.
- Olsson, R.K. 1975. Upper Cretaceous and Lower Tertiary stratigraphy, New Jersey coastal plain. New York, New York: Petroleum Exploration Society.
- Olsson, R.K. 1987. Cretaceous stratigraphy of the Atlantic Coastal Plain, Atlantic Highlands of New Jersey. Geological Society of America Centennial Field Guide-Northeastern Section: 87–90.
- Olsson, R.K., and C. Liu. 1993. Controversies on the placement of Cretaceous-Paleogene boundary and the K/P mass extinction of planktonic foraminifera. Palaios 8: 127–139.
- Olsson, R.K., C. Liu, and M. von Fossen. 1996. The Cretaceous-Tertiary catastrophic event at Millers Ferry, Alabama. *In* G. Ryder, D. Fastovsky, and S. Gartner (editors), The Cretaceous-Tertiary event and other catastrophes in

earth history. Geological Society of America Special Paper 307: 263–277.

- Olsson, R.K., K.G. Miller, J.V. Browning, D. Habib, and P.J. Sugarman. 1997. Ejecta layer at the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary, Bass River, New Jersey (Ocean Drilling Program Leg 174AX). Geology 25: 759–762.
- Olsson, R.K., K.G. Miller, J.V. Browning, J.D. Wright, and B.S. Cramer. 2002. Sequence stratigraphy and sea-level change across the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary on the New Jersey passive margin. *In* C. Koeberl and K.G. MacLeod (editors), Catastrophic events and mass extinctions: impacts and beyond. Geological Society of America Special Paper 356: 97–100.
- Olsson, R.K., J.D. Wright, and K.G. Miller. 2001. Paleobiogeography of *Pseudotextularia elegans* during the latest Maastrichtian global warming event. Journal of Foraminiferal Research 31(3): 275–282.
- Orbigny, A. d'. 1847. Paléontologie. In D. d'Urville, Voyage au pole sud et dans l'Océanie sur les corvettes l'Astrolabe et la Zélée, exécuté par ordre du roi pendant les années 1837– 1838–1839–1840, sous le commandement de M. J. Dumont d'Urville, capitaine de vaisseau Paris: Gide, 1842–1854.
- Owen, D.D. 1852. Report of a geological survey of Wisconsin, Iowa, and Minnesota and incidentally of a portion of Nebraska Territory. Philadelphia: Lippincott, Grambo and Company.
- Owens, J.P., and N.F. Sohl. 1969. Shelf and deltaic paleoenvironments in the Cretaceous-Tertiary formations of the New Jersey Coastal Plain. *In* S. Subitzky (editor), Geology of selected areas in New Jersey and eastern Pennsylvania. 235– 278. New Brunswick: Rutgers University Press.
- Palamarczuk, S., J.A. Chamberlain, Jr., and D.O. Terry, Jr. 2003. Dinoflagellates of the Fox Hills Formation (Maastrichtian), Badlands area of South Dakota: biostratigraphic and paleoenvironmental implications. Programs with Abstracts, Joint Meeting of the American Association of Stratigraphic Palynology, Canadian Association of Palynologists, and the North American Micropaleontology Section of the SEPM, St. Catharines, Canada, Oct. 5–8, 2003. [not paginated]
- Pearson, D.A., T. Schaefer, K.R. Johnson, D.J. Nichols, and J.P. Hunter. 2002. Vertebrate biostratigraphy of the Hell Creek Formation in southwestern North Dakota and northwestern South Dakota. *In* J.H. Hartman, K.R. Johnson, and D.J. Nichols (editors), The Hell Creek Formation and the Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary in the northern Great Plains: an integrated con-

tinental record of the end of the Cretaceous. Geological Society of America Special Paper 361: 145–168.

- Pilsbry, H.A. 1901. Crustacea of the Cretaceous Formation of New Jersey. Proceedings of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia 53: 111–118.
- Pitakpaivan, K., and J.W. Hazel. 1994. Ostracodes and chronostratigraphic position of the Upper Cretaceous Arkadelphia Formation of Arkansas. Journal of Paleontology 68(1): 111–122.
- Reeside, J.B., Jr. 1927. The cephalopods of the Eagle Sandstone and related formations in the western interior of the United States. United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 151: 1–87.
- Reeside, J.B., Jr. 1962. Cretaceous ammonites of New Jersey. *In* H.G. Richards *et al.*, The Cretaceous fossils of New Jersey. New Jersey Department of Conservation and Economic Development Bulletin 61. Part 2: 113–137.
- Reinhardt, J. 1981. Upper Cretaceous stratigraphy and depositional environments. *In* J. Reinhardt and T. G. Gibson (editors), Upper Cretaceous and Lower Tertiary geology of the Chattahoochee River Valley, western Georgia and eastern Alabama, 2–8. 16th annual field trip, Georgia Geological Society.
- Roncaglia, L., and D. Corradini. 1997. Correlation of key dinoflagellate events with calcareous nannoplankton and planktonic foraminiferal zones in the Solignano Formation (Maastrichtian, Late Cretaceous) northern Apennines, Italy. Review of Paleobotany and Palynology 97: 177–196.
- Russell, E.E. 1975. Stratigraphy of the outcropping Upper Cretaceous in western Tennessee. *In* E.E. Russell and W.S. Parks (editors), Stratigraphy of the outcropping Upper Cretaceous, Paleocene and Lower Eocene in western Tennessee (including descriptions of younger fluvial deposits). State of Tennessee Department of Conservation/Division of Geology Bulletin 75: A1–A65.
- Samoilovich, S.R., and N.D. Mtchedlishvili (editors). 1961. Pyltsa I spory zapadnoi Sibiri, yura-paleotsen. Vsesoyuznyi Neftyanoi Nauchno-Issledovatelskii Geologorazvedochnyi Institut, Leningrad (VNIGRI), Trudy 177: 1–352.
- Saunders, W.B., and C. Spinosa. 1978. Sexual dimorphism in *Nautilus* from Palau. Paleobiology 4: 349–358.
- Say, T. 1820. Observations on some species of zoophytes, shells, &c. principally fossil. The American Journal of Science and Arts 2(2): 34–45.
- Schiøler, P., H. Brinkhuis, L. Roncaglia, and G.J. Wilson. 1997. Dinoflagellate biostratigraphy

and sequence stratigraphy of the type Maastrichtian (Upper Cretaceous), ENCI Quarry, The Netherlands. Marine Micropaleontology 31: 65–95.

- Schiøler, P., and G.J. Wilson. 1993. Maastrichtian dinoflagellate zonation in the Dan Field, Danish North Sea. Review of Palaeobotany and Palynology 78(3–4): 321–351.
- Slimani, H. 1994. Les dinokystes des craies du Campanien au Danien à Halembaye, Turnhout (Belgique) et à Beutenaken (Pays-Bas). Mémoires pour Servir à l'Explication des Cartes Géologiques et Minières de la Belgique 37: 1– 173.
- Sohl, N.F. 1960. Archeogastropoda, Mesogastropoda and stratigraphy of the Ripley, Owl Creek, and Prairie Bluff Formations. United States Geolgoical Survey Professional Paper 331A: 1– 151.
- Sohl, N.F. 1964. Neogastropoda, Opisthobranchia, and Basommatophora from the Ripley, Owl Creek, and Prairie Bluff Formations. United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 331-B: 153–344.
- Sohl, N.F., and C. Koch. 1986. Molluscan biostratigraphy and biofacies of the *Huastator bilira* Assemblage Zone (Maastrichtian) of the east Gulf Coastal Plain. *In* J. Reinhardt (editor), Stratigraphy and sedimentology of continental, nearshore, and marine Cretaceous sediments of the eastern Gulf Coastal Plain, Fieldtrip No. 3: 45–56. Atlanta, GA: Georgia Geological Society.
- Spath, L.F. 1926. New ammonites from the English Chalk. Geological Magazine 63: 77–83.
- Spath, L.F. 1940. On Upper Cretaceous (Maastrichtian) Ammonoidea from Western Australia. Journal of the Royal Society of Western Australia 26: 41–57.
- Stanley, E.A. 1965. Upper Cretaceous and Paleocene plant microfossils and Paleocene dinoflagellates and hystrichosphaerids from northwestern South Dakota. Bulletins of American Paleontology 49(222): 179–384.
- Staron, R.M., B.S. Grandstaff, W.B. Gallagher, and D.E. Grandstaff. 2001. REE signatures in vertebrate fossils from Sewell, NJ: implications for location of the K-T boundary. Palaios 16: 255–265.
- Stephenson, L.W. 1941. The larger invertebrates of the Navarro Group of Texas (exclusive of corals and crustaceans and exclusive of the fauna of the Escondido Formation). University of Texas Bulletin 4101: 1–641.
- Stephenson, L.W. 1955. Owl Creek (Upper Cretaceous) fossils from Crowley's Ridge, southeastern Missouri. United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 274: 97–140.

- Stoliczka, F. 1863–1866. The fossil Cephalopoda of the Cretaceous rocks of southern India. Ammonitidae with revision of the Nautilidae etc. Memoirs of the Geological Survey of India. Palaeontologica. Indica 3 1(1863): 41–56; 2–5(1864): 57–106; 6–9(1865): 107–154; 10–13(1866): 155–216.
- Stover, L.E., H. Brinkhuis, S.P. Damassa, L. de Verteuil, R.J. Helby, E. Monteil, A.D. Partridge, A.J. Powell, J.B. Riding, M. Smelror, and G.L. Williams. 1996. Mesozoic-Tertiary dinoflagellates, acritarchs and prasinophytes. *In J.* Jansonius, and D.C. McGregor (editors), Palynology principles and applications. American Association of Stratigraphic Palynologists Foundation 2: 641–750.
- Stover, L.E., and W.R. Evitt. 1978. Analyses of pre-Pleistocene organic–walled dinoflagellates. Stanford University Publications 15: 1–300.
- Stumbur, H. 1975. Biometrical characteristics of the shell of a living *Nautilus*, (English title), Eesti NSV Teaduste Akadeemia Toimetised, Keemia-Geoloogia 24: 78–89.
- Sugarman, P.J., K.G. Miller, D. Bukry, and M.D. Feigenson. 1995. Uppermost Campanian-Maestrichtian strontium isotopic, biostratigraphic, and sequence stratigraphic framework of the New Jersey Coastal Plain. Geological Society of America Bulletin 107(1): 19–37.
- Terry, D.O., J.A. Chamberlain, Jr., P.W. Stoffer, P. Messina, and P.A. Jannett. 2001. Marine Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary in southwestern South Dakota. Geology 29: 1055–1058.
- Tsujino, Y., H. Naruse, and H. Maeda. 2003. Estimation of allometric shell growth by fragmentary specimens of *Baculites tanakae* Matsumoto and Obata (a Late Cretaceous heteromorph ammonoid). Paleontological Research 7(3): 245–255.
- Tuomey, M. 1856. Description of some new fossils from the Cretaceous rocks of the southern States. Proceedings of the Academy of Natural Sciences of Philadelphia 7: 167–172.
- Vonhof, H.B., and J. Smit. 1997. High-resolution late Maastrichtian-early Danian oceanic ⁸⁷Sr/ ⁸⁶Sr record: implications for Cretaceous-Tertiary boundary events. Geology 25: 347–350.
- Wade, B. 1926. The fauna of the Ripley Forma-

tion on Coon Creek, Tennessee. United States Geological Survey Professional Paper 137: 1– 272.

- Wedekind, R. 1916. Über Lobus, Suturallobus und Inzision. Zentralblatt f
 ür Mineralogie, Geologie und Paläontologie B 1916: 185–195.
- Weller, S. 1907. A report on the Cretaceous paleontology of New Jersey. Paleontology Series Vol. 4, Part 1: Text. Geological Survey of New Jersey: 1–870.
- Wetzel, O. 1933. Die in organischer Substanz erhaltenen Mikrofossilien des baltischen Kreide-Feuersteins mit einem sediment-petrographischen und stratigraphischen Anhang. Palaeontographica Abteilung A 78: 1–110.
- Whitfield, R.P. 1892. Gasteropoda and Cephalopoda of the Raritan Clays and Greensand Marls of New Jersey. United States Geological Survey, Monograph 18: 1–402.
- Wiedmann, J. 1966. Stammesgeschichte und System der postriadischen Ammonoideen: Ein Überblick. Neues Jahrbuch für Geologie und Paläontologie, Abhandlungen 125: 49–79; 127: 13–81.
- Williams, G.L., H. Brinkhuis, M.A. Pearce, R.A. Fensome, and J.W. Weegink. 2004. Southern ocean and global dinoflagellate cyst events compared: index events for the Late Cretaceous-Neogene. *In* N.F. Exon, J.P. Kennett, and M.J. Malone (editors), Proceedings of the Ocean Drilling Program, Scientific Results 189: 1–98.
- Wroblewski, A.F.-J. 2004. New selachian paleofaunas from "fluvial" deposits of the Ferris and lowert Hanna formations (Maastrichtian-Selandian: 66–58 Ma), southern Wyoming. Palaios 19(3): 249–258.
- Young, G., and J. Bird. 1828. A geological survey of the Yorkshire coast: describing the strata and fossils occurring between the Humber and the Tees, from the German ocean to the plain of York. 2nd ed.: 1–368. Whitby: R. Kirby.
- Yun, H. 1981. Dinoflagellaten aus der Oberkreide (Santon) von Westfalen. Palaeontographica Abteilung B 177: 1–89.
- Zittel, K.A. von. 1884. Handbuch der Paläontologie. Abt. 1. Band 2: 329–522. Munich: R. Oldenbourg.

NO. 287

		-		
No.ª	Location	Lithostratigraphy	Biostratigraphy	Source
1	Parkers Creek, Monmouth Co., NJ	Hornerstown Fm./ New Egypt Fm.	Danian (Zone PO)/upper Maastrichtian (D. iris Zone)	this report
2	Crosswicks Creek, Monmouth Co., NJ	Hornerstown Fm./ New Egypt Fm.	Danian/upper Maastrichtian (D. iris Zone)	Landman et al., in prep. b
3	Manasquan River Drain- age, Monmouth Co., NJ	Hornerstown Fm./ Tinton Fm.	Danian/upper Maastrichtian (D. iris Zone)	Landman et al., in prep. a
4	Inversand Pit, Gloucester Co., NJ	Hornerstown Fm./ New Egypt Fm.	Danian/upper Maastrichtian (D. iris Zone)	Gallagher, 1993
5	Bass River Core, Burlington Co., NJ	Hornerstown Fm./ New Egypt Fm.	Danian (Zone PO)/upper Maastrichtian (<i>A. mayaroensis</i> Zone)	Olsson et al., 1997, 2002
6	Round Bay, Anne Arundel Co., MD	Brightseat Fm./ Severn Fm.	lower Paleocene/upper Maastrichtian (D. iris Zone)	Benson, 1976; Minard, 1980; Landman et al., 2004
7	Valhalla Core, Chowan Co., NC ^b	Beaufort Fm./ Cane Acre Fm.	lower Paleocene/ lower Campanian	J. Self-Trail, personal commun., 2004
8	Cape Hatteras Lighthouse Core 1, Dare Co., NC ^b	unnamed unit/ Shepherd Grove Fm.	lower Eocene/ upper Santonian– lower Campanian	J. Self-Trail, personal commun., 2004
9	Kure Beach Core, New Hanover Co., NC	Beaufort Fm./ Peedee Fm.	lower Paleocene/upper Maastrichtian (Zone CC26a)	J. Self-Trail, personal commun., 2004
10	Brunswick Co., NC	Castle Hayne Ls./ Peedee Fm.	middle–upper (?) Eocene/ upper middle Maastrichtian	Harris et al., 1986
11	Santee Coastal Reserve Core, Charleston Co., SC	Rhems Fm./ Peedee Fm.	Danian (Zone NP1)/upper Maastrichtian (Zone CC26b)	Edwards et al., 1999
12	Cannon Park Core, Charleston Co., SC	Rhems Fm./ Peedee Fm.	Danian (Zone NP1)/upper Maastrichtian (Zone CC26b)	Bybell et al., 1998
13	Orangeburg Core, ORG 393, Orange- burg Co., SC	Browns Ferry Fm./ Sawdust Landing Fm.	?/upper Maastrichtian	J. Self-Trail, personal commun., 2004
14	Savannah River Site, southwestern SC ^c	Ellentown Fm./ Peedee Fm.	Danian/Maastrichtian	Hargrove and Engelhardt, 1997
15	Albany Core, Dougherty Co., GA	Clayton Fm./ Providence Fm.	Danian/upper Maastrichtian	Firth, 1987, 1993
16	Ft. Gaines Core, Clay Co., GA	Clayton Fm./ Providence Fm.	Danian/upper Maastrichtian	Firth, 1993
17	eastern Alabama	Clayton Fm./ Providence Sand	Danian/upper Maastrichtian	Reinhardt, 1981
18	Millers Ferry, Wilcox Co., AL	Clayton Fm./ Prairie Bluff Chalk	Danian (Zone PO)/upper Maastrichtian (<i>P. grallator</i> Zone)	Olsson and Liu, 1993; Habib et al., 1996; Olsson et al., 1996
19	Braggs roadcut, Lowndes Co., AL	Clayton Fm./ Prairie Bluff Chalk	Danian (Zone NP1)/upper Maastrichtian (<i>M. prinsii</i> Zone)	Moshkovitz and Habib, 1993
20	Mussel Creek, Butler Co., AL	Clayton Fm./ Prairie Bluff Chalk	Danian (Zone PO)/upper Maastrichtian (<i>M. prinsii</i> Zone)	Moshkovitz and Habib, 1993; Olsson and Liu, 1993

APPENDIX 1 Marine Sections Spanning the K/T Boundary

107

No.ª	Location	Lithostratigraphy	Biostratigraphy	Source
21	Moscow Landing, Sumter Co., AL	Clayton Fm./ Prairie Bluff Chalk	Danian (Zone PO)/upper Maastrichtian (<i>D. galatea</i>)	Habib et al., 1996
22	Union Co., MS	Clayton Fm./ Prairie Bluff Chalk	Paleocene/upper Maastrichtian (D. iris Zone)	Kennedy and Cobban, 2000
23	Tippah Co., MS	Clayton Fm./ Owl Creek Fm.	lower Paleocene/upper Maastrichtian (<i>D. iris</i> Zone)	Sohl, 1960; Kennedy and Cobban, 2000
24	Hardeman and McNairy Co., TN	Clayton Fm./ Owl Creek Fm.	Paleocene/upper Maastrichtian (D. iris Zone)	Sohl, 1960; Russell, 1975
25	Crowley's Ridge, Stod- dard and Scott Co., MO	Clayton Fm./ Owl Creek Fm.	lower Paleocene/upper Maastrichtian (<i>D. iris</i> Zone)	Stephenson, 1955; Campbell and Lee, 2000
26	southwestern AR	Midway Gp./ Arkadelphia Fm.	Paleocene/upper Maastrichtian	Dane, 1929; Pitakpaivan and Hazel, 1994
27	Brazos River, Falls Co., TX	Kincaid Fm./ Corsicana Fm.	Danian (Zone PO)/upper Maastrichtian (<i>D. iris</i> Zone)	Hansen et al., 1987; Gale et al., 1999; Kennedy et al., 2001

APPENDIX 1

(Continued)

^aNumbers correspond to those in figure 11. Litho- and biostratigraphy as reported in the source. The upper unit is listed first. ^bIncluded despite a large hiatus, probably due to the position of the core on the Cape Hatteras Arch. ^cMarine sediments overlying delta plain freshwater deposits.